

Risk-Based Framework for Developing Microbial Treatment Targets for Water Reuse



EPA/600/R-25/009 I January 2025 I www.epa.gov/research

Risk-Based Framework for Developing Microbial Treatment Targets for Water Reuse

January 2025

Michael Jahne (Office of Research and Development, U.S. EPA) Sharon Nappier (Office of Water, U.S. EPA) Jay Garland (Office of Research and Development, U.S. EPA) Mary Schoen (Soller Environmental, LLC) Jeffrey Soller (Soller Environmental, LLC)

Suggested Citation

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2025. *Risk-Based Framework for Developing Microbial Treatment Targets for Water Reuse*. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Research and Development, EPA/600/R-25/009.

Disclaimer

The views expressed in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views or policies of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Mention of trade names, products, or services does not convey, and should not be interpreted as conveying, official EPA approval, endorsement, or recommendation.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	iii
Description of Terms	iv
Acronyms and Abbreviations	v
Acknowledgements	vii
Executive Summary	1
Chapter 1. Introduction—QMRA Framework for Water Reuse	
Chapter 2. Key Reference Pathogens	6
Bacteria	7
Campylobacter spp	7
Salmonella enterica	8
Human Enteric Viruses	9
Norovirus	10
Adenovirus	11
Protozoan Parasites	13
Cryptosporidium spp	13
Giardia spp	14
Chapter 3. Reference Pathogen Densities in Water Reuse Sources	15
Untreated Municipal Wastewater	16
Onsite Waters: Graywater, Stormwater, Untreated Onsite Wastewater and Roof Runoff	17
Graywater and Untreated Onsite Wastewater	18
Stormwater	19
Roof Runoff/Collected Rainwater	19
Chapter 4. Ingestion Estimates for Potable and Non-Potable Water Exposures	21
Drinking Water	22
Unrestricted Irrigation	22
Indoor Use	23
Other Non-Potable Uses	24
Chapter 5. Dose-Response Models for Reference Pathogens	25
Bacterial Reference Pathogens	26
Campylobacter spp	26
Salmonella spp	27
Viral Reference Pathogens	28
Norovirus	
Adenovirus	29
Parasitic Protozoan Reference Pathogens	20
Cryptosporidium spp	
Cryptosporidium spp Giardia spp	

Risk Characterization Approaches	32
Risk Characterization Duration	34
Source Water Input for Potable Water Reuse QMRA	35
Health Metrics and Benchmarks for Water Reuse	35
Infection Health Metric	35
Disability-Adjusted Life Year Health Metric	36
Chapter 7. Water Reuse LRTs	38
State of the Science Peer-Reviewed LRT Estimates for Water Reuse Applications	
Peer-Reviewed Water Reuse LRTs Published Previously	40
Peer-Reviewed Potable Water Reuse LRTs	40
Peer-Reviewed Onsite Non-Potable Water Reuse LRTs	42
Chapter 8. Risk Framework Policy Considerations	43
Key Policy Considerations	43
Health Metrics	43
Health Benchmark Levels	44
Site-Specific Data for a Local Utility or State	44
Additional LRTs for Redundancy or Equivalent Safeguards Against Off-Spec Conditions	45
Inclusion of Enteric Bacteria LRTs	45
Chapter 9. Water Reuse QMRA Research Needs	45
Dose-Dependent P(ill inf) for Other Reference Pathogens	46
Additional Data Collection on Pathogen Densities in Sources of Water	46
Viral Characterization and Dose-Response	46
Allocating Log Reduction Credits (LRCs) and Monitoring to Meet Log ₁₀ Reduction Targets	47
Citations	48

List of Tables

Table 1. State-of-the-science densities of waterborne QMRA reference pathogens in untreated	
municipal wastewater	16
Table 2. State-of-the-science densities of waterborne QMRA reference pathogens in onsite collected	
waters	18
Table 3. State-of-the-science ingestion estimates	21
Table 4. Dose-response models and parameter values for infection and illness for waterborne	
pathogens; adapted from Schoen et al. (2023)	26
Table 5. DALY per illness for water reuse reference pathogens	37
Table 6. Summary of state-of-the-science peer-reviewed LRTs for onsite non-potable reuse and potab	ole
reuse (adapted from Jahne et al. (2024)).	39

Description of Terms

Disability-adjusted life years	The composite measure of years lost to disability with non- fatal conditions, injuries and diseases, plus the age-specific mortality [years of potential life lost to fatal conditions]. Water guidelines from Australia, Canada and the World Health Organization specify a water exposure annual benchmark of one DALY per million people, which is similar to an annual infection risk of 10 ⁻³ per person for <i>Rotavirus</i> or <i>Cryptosporidium</i> spp. and 10 ⁻⁴ per person for <i>Campylobacter</i> spp.
Fit-for-purpose	Water treated to a quality matching the requirements for the intended use for that water. Appropriate water quality for the intended use is determined based on the agreed level of risk to human health and environmental quality for that use.
Log-reduction credit	The number of credits, expressed as log_{10} units, assigned to a specific treatment process (<i>e.g.</i> , chlorine disinfection, UV oxidation, etc.) for the inactivation of a specific pathogen or group of pathogens.
Log-reduction target	Pathogen control requirement in terms of the log_{10} (<i>i.e.</i> , tenfold) inactivation or removal of pathogens (<i>e.g.</i> , 4 log corresponds to 99.99% inactivation/removal).
Log-reduction value	The observed log ¹⁰ pathogen reduction performance for a unit process operated under controlled and defined conditions. The LRV of a particular unit treatment process is equal to the difference in concentration of an added or endogenous pathogen or surrogate (reported in log ¹⁰ units) between the influent and effluent of the unit treatment process. This difference may be expressed as a distribution or point estimate (<i>e.g.</i> , average value or a selected percentile). A log reduction value crediting framework is required to assign a log reduction value to each unit process in a treatment train.
Quantitative microbial risk assessment	Systematic assessment of the likelihood of negative health consequences, such as infections or illnesses, when a population is exposed to pathogens, which can be used to determine the corresponding treatment level needed to reduce risk to an acceptable level. Follows the process of hazard identification, exposure assessment, dose response, and risk characterization.

Acronyms and Abbreviations

CDC	U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CFU	colony forming unit
CSFII	Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals
DALYs	disability-adjusted life years
DALY ill	Disability-adjusted life years per case of illness
dPCR	digital polymerase chain reaction
DPR	direct potable reuse
EPA	U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
FIB	fecal indicator bacteria
FoodNet	Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network
FUT2	fucosyltransferase-2
GC	genome copies
GC/L	genome copies per liter
GI	norovirus genogroup l
GII	norovirus genogroup II
GWR	groundwater recharge
HBGAs	histo-blood group antigens
IPR	indirect potable reuse
IU	infectious units
L/d	liters per day
LT2 ESWTR	Long Term 2 Enhanced Surface Water Treatment Rule
LRTs	log ₁₀ reduction targets
LRV	log ₁₀ reduction value
MPN	most probable number
MRA	microbial risk assessment
NHANES	National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey
NRC	National Research Council
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PFAS	per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances
P(ill inf)	probability of illness given infection
ppd	per person per day
рру	per person per year

QMRA	quantitative microbial risk assessment
RNA	ribonucleic acid
qPCR	quantitative polymerase chain reaction
SWTR	Surface Water Treatment Rule
TCID ₅₀	50% tissue culture infective dose
U.S.	United States
UV	ultraviolet
WHO	World Health Organization
YLD	years of life lived with disability
YLL	years of life lost

Acknowledgements

This document was produced by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Office of Research and Development in collaboration with the U.S. EPA Office of Water, Office of Science and Technology which facilitates the implementation of the National Water Reuse Action Plan.

The authors thank the following internal and external peer reviewers for their contributions to this report. We wish to express gratitude for their participation and acknowledge that this report would not exist in its current form without them.

- Charles Haas Drexel University
- Charles Gerba The University of Arizona
- Justin Mattingly Office of Water, U.S. EPA
- Ashley Harper Office of Water, U.S. EPA

The authors thank the following contributors for their valuable assistance with report revisions, crosschecking data, and reference management.

- Kate Helmick ICF
- Kaedra Jones ICF
- Alicia Myers ICF

Contract support was provided by Soller Environmental, LLC, ICF International, Inc. (Contract 68HE0C18D0001), Pegasus Technical Services, Inc. (Contract 68HERC20D0029), and Eastern Research Group, Inc. (Contract 68HERH19D0033).

Executive Summary

There are increasing pressures on traditional sources of water throughout the United States, with state and local governments increasingly turning to water reuse to help meet demands. State regulators are tasked with ensuring that recycled water is treated adequately to protect public health in its intended use; this is known as "fit-for-purpose" treatment. EPA's 2012 Water Reuse Guidelines and 2017 Potable Reuse Compendium highlighted the importance of managing acute microbial risks, particularly for applications in which human contact is likely to occur, and discussed quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA) approaches to define treatment targets for removing pathogenic viruses, bacteria and protozoa. However, these documents did not provide the detailed scientific information that states, Tribes and other relevant entities need to develop their own risk assessments and microbial treatment targets (log₁₀ reduction targets (LRTs)).

This document reviews the state of the science regarding the development of risk-based microbial treatment targets for a range of fit-for-purpose water reuse applications. It articulates the components of the QMRA framework and provides a rationale for input model parameters based on peer-reviewed literature to support states, Tribes and other regulatory entities interested in developing LRTs. The document is designed to provide these entities with sufficient detail to make their own informed decisions regarding the development of microbial treatment targets and provides considerations for decision-makers translating risk-based management into practical implementation.

In addition, the document presents peer-reviewed LRTs for a range of alternative sources of water for both potable and non-potable applications, which were computed using the aforementioned input parameters. The QMRA framework and corresponding LRTs should be viewed as an opportunity to fill important gaps in public health protection to move water reuse forward using scientifically-defensible information. Using the QMRA framework herein, the input parameters and associated LRTs may be updated with new data as they become available to ensure that water reuse treatment decisions are made with the most current science.

This state of the science review covers the following topics:

- A background and introduction to the QMRA framework for water reuse (Chapter 1);
- Information on bacterial, viral and protozoan enteric reference pathogens to consider when evaluating microbial risks related to water reuse (Chapter 2);
- A summary of updated reference pathogen densities in different sources of water and approaches for characterizing those densities to inform water reuse QMRAs (Chapter 3);
- A summary of ingestion estimates for potable reuse, unrestricted irrigation and non-potable indoor uses (Chapter 4);
- An overview of the most current reference pathogen dose-response models and parameter values for determining the probability of infection and illness along with a quantitative characterization of illness severity (Chapter 5);
- A description of risk characterization approaches using both infection and disease burden health metrics (Chapter 6);

- A synopsis of peer-reviewed publications for water reuse treatment requirements (*i.e.*, LRTs) that establish the current state of the science for a wide range of applications (Chapter 7);
- A discussion of key policy considerations for decision-makers implementing risk-based water reuse treatment targets (Chapter 8); and
- Information on research needs specific to the QMRA framework (Chapter 9).

Chapter 1. Introduction—QMRA Framework for Water Reuse

Evaluating potential microbial risks associated with water reuse has been a research topic of interest for several decades (Cooper, 1991; National Research Council, 1998; WateReuse Research Foundation, 2004). Initially, these efforts were focused on evaluating planned potable reuse in locations like the Montebello Forebay (California), the Upper Occoquan Service Authority (Virginia), Denver (Colorado), San Diego (California), Tampa (Florida), Singapore and South Africa (Khan & Roser, 2007). Some of these early risk evaluations were conducted through epidemiological studies (Frerichs, 1984; Nellor et al., 1985; Sinclair et al., 2010; Sloss et al., 1996), as QMRA methodologies were still under development.

QMRA studies follow the general risk assessment approach that the EPA and National Research Council have developed and refined over the last 30 years (National Research Council, 1983, 1994, 2009; U.S. EPA, 1984, 2012b). The QMRA framework comprises four fundamental steps: hazard identification, exposure assessment, dose response and risk characterization (Haas et al., 1999). The EPA's 2012 Water Reuse Guidelines (U.S. EPA, 2012a) and 2017 Potable Reuse Compendium (U.S. EPA, 2017) highlighted the importance of managing acute microbial risks, particularly for reuse applications in which human contact is likely to occur, and discussed using QMRA to define treatment targets for removing pathogenic viruses, bacteria and protozoa. However, previous EPA documents did not provide the detailed scientific information that states, Tribes and other relevant entities need to develop their own risk assessments and microbial treatment targets (log₁₀ reduction targets (LRTs)). This document discusses the necessary QMRA components for developing microbial treatment targets for water reuse (it does not address chemical risks).

One of the first applications of QMRA for potable water reuse was to evaluate the safety of aquifer recharge practices in California (Asano et al., 1992; Tanaka et al., 1998). As interest in potable reuse grew, QMRA (Haas et al., 1999, 2014) was applied to characterize the potential human health risks from exposure to pathogens in a broader range of potable reuse scenarios (Amoueyan et al., 2019; Barker et al., 2013; Chaudhry et al., 2017; Gerrity et al., 2023; Khan & Roser, 2007; Lim et al., 2017; National Research Council, 1998; Pecson et al., 2017; Rose & Gerba, 1991a; Salveson & Soller, 2019; Soller et al., 2018b; Soller et al., 2019; Soller et al., 2017a; U.S. EPA, 2017). These studies used modeling inputs to estimate the probability of infection (a metric of risk) associated with an exposure dose of pathogens from potable reuse (QMRA used in this way is commonly referred as a forward QMRA approach).

Using the same general risk assessment framework, QMRA has also been used to develop microbial treatment targets (LRTs) for both potable and non-potable water reuse systems (Gerrity et al., 2023; Jahne et al., 2024; Pecson et al., 2022a; Reynaert et al., 2024; Schoen et al., 2017; Schoen et al., 2023). In this application, QMRA is used to determine the level of water treatment (*i.e.*, pathogen reduction) that is needed to achieve a specified level of public health protection. This process has previously been referred to as a "reverse QMRA approach" (U.S. EPA, 2014). In an early application of this technique, Regli et al. (1991) computed the mean microbial dosage required to achieve a specified level of risk related to drinking water. For potable reuse, this QMRA approach to develop LRTs is now well accepted (World Health Organization, 2017b), and several states have developed or are in the process of

developing risk-based indirect potable reuse (IPR) and direct potable reuse (DPR) regulations (U.S. EPA, 2023).

Similarly, for non-potable reuse applications, the World Health Organization and the Australian government first estimated non-potable LRTs using QMRA for a limited set of applications and water sources (National Resource Management Ministerial Council et al., 2009; World Health Organization, 2006). States have also begun developing regulatory LRTs for onsite applications using the QMRA approach (U.S. EPA, 2023). Prior to these developments, microbial treatment requirements for onsite non-potable applications were typically based on fecal indicator bacteria (FIB) densities in finished water (e.g., the National Sanitation Foundation/American National Standards Institute, Standard 350-2015 for non-potable onsite reuse of graywater) (NSF International, 2015). However, the FIB-based standards did not correspond to a specific level of human health protection for consumers (National Academy of Sciences, 2016), and it was identified that a quantitative risk approach was needed (National Resource Management Ministerial Council et al., 2009; Schoen & Garland, 2017). This gap was filled with proposed methods for managing onsite reuse systems that explicitly consider pathogen exposure risk through the use of fit-for-purpose LRTs (Schoen et al., 2017; Sharvelle et al., 2017). Subsequently, several publications have derived additional risk-based LRTs for onsite water reuse applications (Jahne et al., 2024; Jahne et al., 2023; Pecson et al., 2022a; Reynaert et al., 2024; Schoen et al., 2023; Schoen et al., 2020a, 2020b).

A systematic literature review on potable reuse risk assessments reported that the assumptions used to conduct QMRAs are critical determinants of the estimated risks (Nappier et al., 2018). Those findings are also relevant to calculating LRTs and generalizable for all water reuse applications, including non-potable water reuse scenarios. The results suggest that the most important aspects of the QMRA framework relate to:

- Reference pathogens included and methods used to enumerate those pathogens (*i.e.*, cell culture methods vs. molecular methods);
- Reference pathogen densities in sources of water and whether statistical distributions or point estimates are used to characterize those densities;
- Reference pathogen dose-response models;
- The source of water used as a starting point for the analysis (*i.e.*, raw sewage vs. secondary effluent);
- Risk characterization approaches and selected health benchmarks (*e.g.*, disability-adjusted life years [DALYs] or infections per person per year [ppy]).

These key QMRA components are examined in this review. Chapter 2 provides information on bacterial, viral and protozoan enteric reference pathogens to consider when evaluating microbial risks related to water reuse. Chapter 3 summaries updated reference pathogen densities in different sources of water and approaches for characterizing those densities to inform water reuse QMRAs. Chapter 4 summaries ingestion estimates for potable reuse, unrestricted irrigation, and non-potable indoor uses. Chapter 5 gives an overview of the most current reference pathogen dose-response models and parameter values for determining the probability of infection and illness, along with a quantitative characterization of illness severity. Chapter 6 describes risk characterization approaches using both infection and disease

burden health metrics. Chapter 7 synopsizes peer-reviewed publications for water reuse treatment requirements (*i.e.*, LRTs) that establish the current state of the science for a wide range of applications. Chapter 8 discusses key policy considerations for decision-makers implementing risk-based water reuse treatment targets and Chapter 9 provides information on research needs specific to the QMRA framework.

Chapter 2. Key Reference Pathogens

The various sources of water that are used for water reuse contain a variable and incompletely known suite of potential human or zoonotic pathogens. This necessitates the use of reference pathogens since it is not practical to account for the presence and density of all possible pathogens in these various sources of water.

The use of reference pathogens in the field of QMRA is an accepted and standard practice (Amoueyan et al., 2017; Chaudhry et al., 2017; Lim et al., 2017; Regli et al., 1991; Roser & Ashbolt, 2007; Schoen et al., 2011; Soller et al., 2017a; Soller et al., 2003; Soller et al., 2010b; U.S. EPA, 2012a). In this context, reference pathogens represent the presence and infectivity of known and unknown members of each relevant microbial group and indicate the type of adverse health effect caused by individual pathogens in those groups (World Health Organization, 2004). For water reuse, treatment emphasis is on the classes of microbes that are transmitted via a fecal-oral route and may cause gastrointestinal illness. These include pathogenic enteric bacteria, enteric viruses and parasitic protozoa. Fungi and helminths remain active areas of QMRA research but are not explicitly considered herein (Hamilton et al., 2024). Opportunistic bacterial pathogens (*e.g., Legionella* spp.) are also not included because they are not primarily transmitted via a fecal-oral route (Armstrong & Haas, 2008; Sharaby et al., 2019) and may proliferate after treatment and disinfection steps. These are controlled by distribution system best practices and assumed to be reduced by prescribed water treatment processes for other microbial contaminants (U.S. EPA, 1989, 2006c).

Individuals and animals who are infected shed enteric pathogens via their feces and other bodily secretions. Therefore, QMRAs that consider water reuse exposures must account for all pathogens that could be present in the source of water used for water reuse (untreated municipal wastewater or other alternative sources of water), not just those known to cause waterborne outbreaks. In this context, reference pathogens should 1) be representative of other waterborne pathogens that are of potential concern (Soller et al., 2010a; Soller et al., 2010b; U.S. EPA, 2014, 2017); 2) be commonly and consistently found in the various sources of water used for water reuse (Gerba & Betancourt, 2019; Gerba et al., 2008; Rose et al., 2004); and 3) have salient peer-reviewed dose-response relationships for ingestion exposure (Fazil, 1996; Haas et al., 1999; Messner & Berger, 2016a; Rose et al., 1991a; Teunis et al., 2020).

The group of reference pathogens for enteric waterborne QMRA presented in this state-of-the-science framework includes two virus types (norovirus and adenovirus), two groups of protozoa species (*Cryptosporidium* spp. and *Giardia* spp.) and two groups of bacterial species (*Campylobacter* spp. and *Salmonella enterica*). Adenovirus is included in this chapter as a reference pathogen because of its ubiquitous presence in wastewater and its resistance to specific types of treatment. However, as described later, the available dose response information on strains that cause gastrointestinal illness is currently too limited to derive widely applicable LRTs for ingestion exposure during water reuse.

Together, these reference pathogens cause the majority of known gastrointestinal illnesses in the United States (Collier et al., 2021; Gerdes et al., 2023; Hlavsa et al., 2015; Hlavsa et al., 2014; Mead et al., 1999; Scallan et al., 2011). Collier et al. (2021) present an estimate of the burden of all waterborne

diseases in the United States that accounts for underdiagnosis and includes all sources of water and exposure routes. They estimated approximately 33.6 million illnesses in the United States in 2014, with norovirus illness (21.8 million), giardiasis (1.1 million), cryptosporidiosis (0.8 million), campylobacteriosis (1.5 million), and non-typhoid salmonellosis (1.35 million) estimated to be most common illnesses caused by waterborne pathogens via the ingestion route. Collier et al. (2021) used data from active and passive surveillance and other sources from 2000 to 2008 to estimate that 31 major pathogens caused 37.2 million episodes of illness each year in the United States, of which 25.4 million are accounted for by the group of reference pathogens herein. Hlavsa et al. (2015) reported that *Cryptosporidium* spp. was the dominant etiological agent for recreational water–associated outbreaks in the United States and accounted for half of all of the treated recreational water–associated outbreaks reported from 2011 through 2012. Gerdes et al. (2023) reported that norovirus infection was the leading illness associated with drinking water in the United States in 2014.

Using the data and information compiled by the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention reported by Collier et al. (2021) with the supporting information described above, it may be inferred that the group of reference pathogens outlined above collectively accounts for more than 75% of illnesses from known waterborne pathogens in the United States. Furthermore, based on their physical characteristics and ability to resist water treatment, these reference pathogens have been considered representative of other pathogens of potential concern from the waterborne exposure route (such as other enteric viruses) in QMRA studies (Nappier et al., 2018; Owens et al., 2020; Soller et al., 2010a; Soller et al., 2010b; U.S. EPA, 2014; Zhang et al., 2019). It is noteworthy, however, that depending on the source of water, expected wastewater treatment and end use of the recycled water, not all reference pathogens need to be evaluated in all QMRA studies. For example, Jahne et al. (2023) discussed when and whether bacteria reduction targets should be included in non-potable water reuse scenarios. Soller et al. (2010a; 2010b) suggest that norovirus is the etiologic agent of primary concern in recreational waters impacted by untreated municipal wastewater and treated wastewater effluent when QMRA is coupled with epidemiological data. The following subsections summarize salient aspects of each key reference pathogen for enteric waterborne QMRA.

Bacteria

Pathogenic bacteria are single-celled microorganisms that cause disease. These bacteria can be transmitted through direct contact with an infected host, by ingestion of contaminated food or water or through an intermediate host. Pathogenic bacteria commonly associated with fecal waste—and thus potentially relevant to water reuse—include *Salmonella* spp., *Campylobacter* spp. and pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Exposures to these pathogenic enteric bacteria generally result in self-limiting, acute gastroenteritis in healthy adults. However, more severe illness outcomes may also occur, such as hemolytic uremic syndrome caused by *E. coli* O157:H7 and long-term sequelae such as Guillain-Barré syndrome associated with *Campylobacter* spp. Because of their relatively large size and cell wall composition, enteric bacteria are generally more susceptible to water and wastewater treatment and disinfection than viruses and protozoa (Nappier et al., 2018).

Campylobacter spp. *Campylobacter* spp. are included in the enteric waterborne QMRA reference pathogen list because they are the most common bacterial cause of gastrointestinal illness in the United

States, have a peer-reviewed dose-response relationship that is relevant for water reuse–related exposures, may be transmitted through a waterborne route of exposure and are consistently found in water sources commonly used for reuse (Collier et al., 2021; Soller et al., 2017a; Teunis et al., 2018). The CDC estimates that although most cases are not reported, campylobacteriosis may affect approximately 1.5 million U.S. residents every year (Collier et al., 2021). The Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network (FoodNet) reports that approximately 18 cases are diagnosed annually for every 100,000 people (Collins et al., 2022).

Salmonella enterica. Salmonella enterica are included in the QMRA reference pathogen list because they are the second most common bacterial cause of gastrointestinal illness in the United States, have a peer-reviewed dose-response relationship that is relevant for water reuse—related exposures, may be transmitted through a waterborne route of exposure and are consistently found in water sources commonly used for reuse (Fazil, 1996; Haas et al., 1999; Scallan et al., 2011; Soller et al., 2017a). Like *Campylobacter* spp., many cases go undiagnosed or unreported and the CDC estimates that *Salmonella* illness affects approximately 1.35 million U.S. residents every year (Collier et al., 2021). The CDC FoodNet program estimates that approximately 14 cases are diagnosed each year for every 100,000 people (Collins et al., 2022).

Together, *Campylobacter* spp. and *Salmonella enterica* account for over 50% of all estimated annual waterborne bacterial illnesses in the United States (Collier et al., 2021). The next largest contributors to estimated annual illness from pathogens causing waterborne illness are *Shigella* spp., accounting for approximately 450,000 illnesses annually (Collier et al., 2021). However, *Shigella* spp. are not included as reference pathogens in the enteric waterborne QMRA reference pathogen list because illnesses are almost exclusively transmitted via food, person-to-person contact or other non-waterborne routes of exposure (Collier et al., 2021). Additionally, *E. coli* O157:H7, a bacterial pathogen particularly significant in foodborne outbreaks, is not included in the reference pathogen group because their reductions across treatment are similar to *Salmonella enterica* and their density is relatively low in waters commonly used for water reuse, including untreated municipal wastewater (García-Aljaro et al., 2005; Lemarchand & Lebaron, 2003).

Despite their epidemiological importance, bacterial pathogens have been omitted from several state water reuse LRT recommendations because treatment and disinfection of viruses and protozoa are anticipated to be at least equally effective for bacteria (California Water Boards, 2023; Pecson et al., 2022a). Bacteria, because of their larger size and cell-wall composition, are generally more readily removed during filtration and inactivated during disinfection (Jahne et al., 2023; National Research Council, 2012). Nonetheless, enteric bacteria present an exposure risk during water reuse and are relevant to consider during a comprehensive microbial risk assessment, particularly for treatment scenarios in which significant viral and/or protozoan removal may not be required (*i.e.*, rainwater harvesting). The information herein supports the use of *Campylobacter* spp. and *Salmonella enterica* as the key representative bacterial reference pathogens for enteric waterborne QMRA evaluations, which include this pathogen class.

Human Enteric Viruses

A virus is an infectious microbe consisting of nucleic acids surrounded by a protein coat, and in some cases by a phospholipid bilayer membrane known as an envelope. Viruses lacking a membrane (*i.e.*, non-enveloped) are often more persistent in the environment and resistant to treatment disinfectants. A virus cannot replicate alone; instead, it infects cells of a host and uses its components for replication (National Institutes of Health National Human Genome Research Institute, 2023). Viruses that infect and multiply in the gastrointestinal tracts of humans or animals are known as enteric viruses. Most enteric viruses are non-enveloped, as they are resistant to the low pH found in stomach acids. After multiplying, they are excreted in the feces of infected individuals and may enter the environment through contaminated wastewater. Enteric viruses are shed in extremely high numbers in the feces of infected individuals; patients suffering from viral gastroenteritis may excrete up to 10¹¹ virus particles per gram of stool (Bosch, 1998).

Human enteric viruses are used in enteric waterborne QMRAs because of their high prevalence and abundance in sources of water commonly used for water reuse, high infectivity potential and documented importance in waterborne disease outbreaks (Jiang et al., 2022). Most waterborne gastrointestinal illnesses are thought to be associated with human enteric viruses (Collier et al., 2021; Scallan et al., 2011). Human enteric viruses of concern in human waste include enteroviruses, hepatoviruses, reoviruses, rotaviruses, adenoviruses, noroviruses and astroviruses (Bosch, 1998; Nappier et al., 2018; U.S. EPA, 2015). Viruses, particularly non-enveloped viruses, are important to water reuse treatment applications because of their small size (0.02 to 0.03 μ m), and relative resistance to commonly used disinfectants (Haas et al., 1999; Nappier et al., 2018). Human enteric viruses are present in human fecal matter, wastewater and chlorinated secondary effluent (Eftim et al., 2017; Pouillot et al., 2015), in tertiary effluents (Rose et al., 2004) and in effluents from advanced water treatment facilities (Blatchley et al., 2007; Gerba & Betancourt, 2023; Schmitz et al., 2024; Simmons & Xagoraraki, 2011). The human enteric viruses of interest for water reuse have a limited host range; e.g., to date no animal noroviruses have been detected in human stool (Villabruna et al., 2019). Furthermore, evidence to date suggests that if animal-to-human transmission occurs, such events are likely to be rare and sporadic (Villabruna et al., 2019). Therefore, human enteric viruses are not always included in water reuse QMRAs when human sources of contamination are not of principal concern (*e.g.*, rainwater exposures).

Human enteric viruses are typically detected and quantified using either cell culture or molecular methods. Historically, cell culture has been used to detect and quantify infectious viruses using the total culturable virus quantal assay and the 50% tissue culture infective dose (TCID₅₀) assay. However, such methods may underestimate the quantity of infectious viruses by two-fold to 100-fold due to virus diversity and the inefficiencies of sample processing and cell assay replication (Gerba & Betancourt, 2019). Over the past several decades, molecular methods such as quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) and digital PCR (dPCR) have been developed to more rapidly determine the presence and quantity of specific viral nucleic acids characteristic of chosen targets. Because these methods detect nucleic acids, quantifications capture both infectious and noninfectious genome copies (GCs) (Gerba & Betancourt, 2019; Teunis et al., 2020).

Norovirus. Noroviruses are non-enveloped ribonucleic acid (RNA) viruses. They are included in the enteric waterborne QMRA reference pathogen list because they are the most common viral cause of gastrointestinal illness in the United States, transmitted through a waterborne route of exposure, consistently found in untreated municipal wastewater and water sources used for water reuse in high densities and have a relevant peer-reviewed dose-response relationship. Human noroviruses are now known to be the leading cause of gastroenteritis in the United States and worldwide among persons of all ages (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2008; Collier et al., 2021; Mead et al., 1999; Patel et al., 2009; Scallan et al., 2011; World Health Organization, 2003). They are responsible for more than 50% of acute gastroenteritis outbreaks occurring worldwide each year (Jiang et al., 2022). In the United States, Collier et al. (2021) estimated that there are 33.6 million illnesses annually from pathogens that cause waterborne illness, and that norovirus is responsible for approximately 22 million of those illnesses—more than any other known pathogen and more than all other known pathogens combined. Similarly, Hall et al. (2013) estimated that noroviruses are responsible for 19 to 21 million total illnesses each year in the United States, as well as 570 to 800 deaths.

Norovirus has become a key component in the majority of the water reuse risk analyses published since 2010 (Barker et al., 2013; Chaudhry et al., 2017; Lim et al., 2017; National Research Council, 2012; Schoen et al., 2017; Schoen & Garland, 2017; Soller et al., 2018b; Soller et al., 2017a). Researchers have been concerned about norovirus densities in untreated municipal wastewater (measured in genome copies or GCs) corresponding to infectious virus particles because the ratio of GCs to infectious virus particles varies widely for other types of viruses in wastewater for which conventional cultivation methods are available (National Water Research Institute, 2021; WateReuse Research Foundation, 2021). However, a meta-analysis of clinical trial and oyster outbreak data demonstrates that norovirus genomes from harvested oysters impacted by untreated/poorly treated sewage remain highly infectious (Le Guyader et al., 2006; Le Guyader et al., 2008; Teunis et al., 2020), specifically norovirus genogroup I (GI) and norovirus genogroup II (GII), which are most commonly associated with human infections (Koo et al., 2010; Patel et al., 2009). The analysis estimates that in individuals who are susceptible to infection the mean risk of infection of norovirus is 28% when exposed to 1 GC of norovirus GI and 7.6% for 1 GC of norovirus GII. Individuals with a functional fucosyltransferase-2 (FUT2) gene have histo-blood group antigens (HBGAs) present in the mucosa of the gut and are known as "secretors." Susceptibility to norovirus infection is strongly associated with secretor status, with non-secretors being resistant to some norovirus genotypes (Johnson et al., 2022).

Although noroviruses continue to be difficult to culture (Ettayebi et al., 2021; Papafragkou et al., 2014), and challenges remain in understanding their rate of inactivation through treatment and disinfection processes (Ryu et al., 2021), it has been suggested that the best approach at present is to use molecular methods (*i.e.*, PCR) to assess the density of enteric viruses in untreated wastewater, where most viruses may be expected to be infectious (Gerba & Betancourt, 2019). Additionally, molecular measurements were used to characterize received doses in the challenge and outbreak studies that inform existing does-response models. McBride et al. (2013) suggest that this kind of "dose harmonization" may reduce uncertainty and increase confidence in the applicability of the published dose-response relationship for risk assessments.

Prior to the publication of the first dose-response relationship for norovirus in 2008 (Teunis et al., 2008), viral risk assessment typically involved the use of culturable virus data, such as for enteroviruses or total culturable viruses, and an available viral dose-response relationship for a representative type of enteric virus. For example, Asano et al. (1992) evaluated the early California wastewater reclamation criteria using enteric virus monitoring data (culturable virus data from unchlorinated secondary effluents) coupled with dose-response data for echovirus and poliovirus reported by Haas et al. (1983). Regli et al. (1991) generalized this approach by suggesting the use of a combination of characteristics of different viruses to compute appropriate levels of treatment for protecting the public from the exposure to viruses in drinking water. For example, they suggested enteroviruses (measured by cell culture) could serve as an indicator of potential occurrence of any relevant virus and be coupled with the dose-response model for the most infectious virus known at the time (*i.e.*, rotavirus). There are numerous examples of this general approach in the literature (Rose & Gerba, 1991b; Tanaka et al., 1998; U.S. EPA, 1989), and it continues to be used and reported today (National Water Research Institute, 2021; Pecson et al., 2022a). The benefit of pairing culturable virus data with the rotavirus dose-response curve was confidence that the measured viruses were infectious (Pecson et al., 2023).

However, scientific advances over the last several decades, particularly related to the importance of noroviruses (Collier et al., 2021) and their presence and infectivity in untreated municipal wastewater/sewage (Le Guyader et al., 2006; Le Guyader et al., 2008; Teunis et al., 2020), provides renewed impetus to reevaluate the limitations of the use of culturable viruses as viral reference pathogens. Examples of limitations include: 1) total culturable viruses and/or culturable enteroviruses account for an unknown and likely small portion of viral enteric illnesses (Gerba & Betancourt, 2019; Gerba et al., 2017; Gerba et al., 2018; Papafragkou et al., 2014); 2) not all viruses will form plaques or may require mixed cell types or pretreatment of cells before inoculation to form plagues (Benton & Hurst, 1986; Gerba & Betancourt, 2019); and 3) advances in molecular biology that allow for the detection of the viral genome known to infect humans and animals in environmental samples have revealed that the number of viruses may be 100 to 1,000 times greater than that detected by cell culture (Gerba & Betancourt, 2019). These limitations also apply to the use of culturable enterovirus as a reference pathogen for enteric waterborne QMRA. For example, the most common viruses in wastewater detected by cell culture are enteroviruses or reoviruses (Gerba et al., 2017). However, it is unclear how many illnesses are caused by the viruses captured through culture assays relative to the estimated viral illnesses reported in epidemiological observations (Gerba & Betancourt, 2019; Gerba et al., 2017; Gerba et al., 2018; Papafragkou et al., 2014). Together, this information suggests that the use of culturable virus data likely underestimates the occurrence and density of enteric viruses in environmental samples (Gerba & Betancourt, 2019).

Adenovirus. Adenoviruses are discussed here because they are a common viral cause of illness in the United States, may be transmitted through a waterborne route of exposure, are consistently found in sources of water used for water reuse in high densities and are resistant to treatment disinfectants (Jiang, 2006).

Adenoviruses typically cause mild infections involving the upper or lower respiratory tract, gastrointestinal tract or conjunctiva. Adenovirus types 3, 4, 7 and 14 are most commonly associated with

acute respiratory illness and types 4 and 7 have been associated with more severe outcomes than other adenovirus types, particularly in people with weakened immune systems. Adenovirus types 8, 19, 37, 53 and 54 may cause epidemic keratoconjunctivitis and adenovirus types 40 and 41 typically cause gastroenteritis, particularly in children (James, 2023).

Like noroviruses, adenoviruses are non-enveloped viruses and are stable in water (Ogorzaly et al., 2010; Rigotto et al., 2011). Human-derived contamination is the only known source of human adenovirus, and adenoviruses have commonly been used as a viral indicator of water treatment efficacy (Formiga-Cruz et al., 2005; Irving & Smith, 1981; Jiang, 2006; Pina et al., 1998; Puig et al., 1994; Rames et al., 2016). The occurrence and concentration of human adenoviruses in sewage have little seasonal variability (Jiang, 2006; Pina et al., 1998), and they are known to remain infectious in recreational and drinking water for a prolonged period of time (Ogorzaly et al., 2010; Teunis et al., 2016). These prevalence and density attributes contrast those of some other human viruses, such as enteroviruses, which demonstrate substantial seasonal variability (Rames et al., 2016). Adenoviruses can be measured by culture or molecular methods, such as PCR (Jiang et al., 2022). With a double-stranded deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) genome, adenoviruses are more resistant to ultraviolet (UV) disinfection than other viral pathogens during wastewater treatment, as research indicates that replication of the virus after UV light exposure may be based on the cell's ability to repair damage to the DNA (Eischeid et al., 2009; Gerba & Betancourt, 2019).

The diversity of adenoviruses presents complexity in terms of exposure interpretation for their use as an enteric waterborne QMRA viral reference pathogen. In the five adenovirus challenge studies available in the scientific literature, the viral types measured (adenovirus 4/7/16) are not those that are of most concern for waterborne exposures (adenovirus 40/41), and only one included an oral exposure route. These challenge studies used culturable virus units. The currently available infection and illness dose-response models are therefore influenced primarily by inhalation exposure to adenovirus types commonly associated with respiratory infections, yielding substantial uncertainty in interpretation for water reuse applications where enteric (fecal-oral) pathogens are the primary concern (Teunis et al., 2016). Moreover, data on the health effects of ingestion exposure are inconclusive, with all subjects challenged by adenovirus 4/7 becoming infected but not producing clinical symptoms (Teunis et al., 2016). Although the inhalation dose-response may be adequate for considering a potential risk from aspiration of ingested water or exposure to aerosols (Carducci et al., 2018), Jahne et al. (2024) inferred that the underlying data are currently inadequate for deriving widely applicable and health protective LRTs for water reuse exposures to enteric adenoviruses.

In summary, norovirus and adenovirus encompass a diverse set of physical characteristics that are relevant for other known and unknown human enteric viruses. However, a better understanding of the dose-response relationship for ingested enteric adenoviruses is a critical data gap that limits its applicability for deriving health protective LRTs for water reuse applications. Culturable, treatment-resistant viruses such as enterovirus or adenovirus can nonetheless be used to ensure the log reduction values (LRVs) are achieved for broad classes of viruses of concern (Jahne et al., 2024).

Protozoan Parasites

Protozoa are microscopic, single-celled organisms that can be free-living or parasitic in nature. They may replicate in humans and other warm-blooded animals, which contributes to their survival. Transmission of parasitic protozoa that live in human or animal intestines typically occurs through a fecal-oral route, such as exposure to contaminated food or water (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2024a). Currently, the pathogenic protozoa most commonly associated with wastewater in the U.S. are *Cryptosporidium* spp. and *Giardia lamblia/duodenalis/intestinalis* (referred to as *Giardia* spp.) (Collier et al., 2021). Other protozoan pathogens such as *Entamoeba* spp. are generally associated with poor sanitation conditions in developing regions yet may be of concern for marginalized communities or those with high rates of international travel (Kantor et al., 2018).

Parasitic protozoa are of concern in water reuse applications because they are often detected in sources of water used for water reuse, including untreated municipal wastewater and secondary wastewater effluent (Bitton, 2005; Rose et al., 1996). *Giardia* spp. and *Cryptosporidium* spp. are also present in the feces of farm animals and ruminants, among other animals, and thus may be present in sources of water that are not subject to human contamination (Robertson, 2013). They have a relatively high resistance to treatment and disinfection (particularly the cysts [*Giardia*] and oocysts [*Cryptosporidium*] of the protozoan life cycle) and the ability to cause infection at low doses typical of environmental exposures (Messner & Berger, 2016a; Nappier et al., 2018). Exposure to these protozoan parasites generally results in self-limiting, acute gastroenteritis in healthy adults. However, more serious and/or life-threatening outcomes, such as severe debilitating diarrhea with weight loss and malabsorption, as well as long-term sequelae, are known to occur in immunocompromised individuals (Abubakar et al., 2007).

Cryptosporidium spp. *Cryptosporidium* spp. is included in the enteric waterborne QMRA reference pathogen list because it is one of the most common parasitic causes of illness in the United States, has relevant peer-reviewed dose-response relationships, may be transmitted through a waterborne route of exposure, is known to be resistant to water and wastewater treatment, and is consistently found in sources of water used for water reuse (Bitton, 2005; Collier et al., 2021; Rose et al., 1996; Rose et al., 1991a; Scallan et al., 2011; Soller et al., 2017a).

Cryptosporidium spp. is shed in feces by humans and other animals as an oocyst, which has a hard, environmentally resistant shell (Messner & Berger, 2016a). Bovine species (such as cattle, water buffalo and yaks), small ruminants (such as sheep and goats), and several other animals (such as pigs, deer, rabbits and poultry) can shed *Cryptosporidium* spp. including *C. parvum, C. bovis, C. andersoni, C. ryanae, C. meleagridis* and *C. baileyi* (Robertson, 2013). The infectivity of those *Cryptosporidium* species can vary substantially (Teunis et al., 2002b). Of the nearly 20 *Cryptosporidium* species and genotypes that have been reported in humans, *C. hominis* and *C. parvum* are responsible for the majority of documented infections (Leoni et al., 2006; Ryan et al., 2014).

Cryptosporidium spp. has been responsible for numerous waterborne outbreaks, including the 1993 outbreak in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, which is estimated to have resulted in approximately 403,000 illnesses, and a 2010 outbreak in Osterland, Switzerland, which resulted in approximately 27,000 illnesses. The CDC estimates *Cryptosporidium* illness affects approximately 825,000 U.S. residents

annually (Collier et al., 2021). *Cryptosporidium* was also a key component in the EPA Long Term 2 Enhanced Surface Water Treatment Rule (U.S. EPA, 2006c).

Giardia spp. *Giardia* spp. is included in the enteric waterborne QMRA reference pathogen list because it is the most common cause of parasitic illness in the United States, has relevant peer-reviewed dose-response relationships, may be transmitted through a waterborne route of exposure, is known to be resistant to water and wastewater treatment and is consistently found in sources of water used for water reuse (Bitton, 2005; Collier et al., 2021; Rose et al., 1996; Rose et al., 1991a; Scallan et al., 2011; Soller et al., 2017a). The CDC estimates illness from *Giardia* affects approximately 1,100,000 U.S. residents annually (Collier et al., 2021).

Giardia spp. may be present in a variety of sources that could be relevant to water reuse, including wastewater (Enriquez et al., 1995; Grimason et al., 1996; Roach et al., 1993; Sykora et al., 1991), surface waters (Chauret et al., 1995; LeChevallier et al., 1991; States et al., 1997) and numerous animal sources (Appelbee et al., 2005). *Giardia* spp. from some animals exhibit an apparent high degree of host specificity; other isolates may infect more than one host. Studies indicate that cross-species transmission of *Giardia* spp. can occur (U.S. EPA, 1999). However, most species of *Giardia* are host adapted, except for *G. duodenalis*, which seems to have a much broader host range and infects many mammalian species (Appelbee et al., 2005).

Together, *Cryptosporidium* spp. and *Giardia* spp. account for over 90% of all estimated annual gastrointestinal illnesses in the United States caused by parasitic protozoa, and thus enteric waterborne QMRA studies focused on these two protozoa are considered comprehensive and representative of the pathogen group. Some water reuse QMRAs used to develop LRTs have considered both *Cryptosporidium* spp. and *Giardia* spp. and selected the one with the more conservative LRT value (Schoen et al., 2023). Others recognize the distinction in treatment performance between the two pathogens (*e.g.,* chlorine resistance of *Cryptosporidium*) and specify LRTs for each separately. For example, the State of California specifies different LRTs for *Cryptosporidium* and *Giardia* for direct potable reuse with the understanding that they react differently to various types of water treatment (California Water Boards, 2024; Gerrity et al., 2023; Pecson et al., 2023).

Chapter 3. Reference Pathogen Densities in Water Reuse Sources

Sources of water for reuse considered in this report include untreated municipal wastewater, untreated onsite wastewater, graywater, stormwater and roof runoff (rainwater). These represent common fecal-contaminated sources in urban settings that have been included in previous risk-based state regulations (U.S. EPA, 2023). This chapter summarizes densities (*i.e.*, concentrations) of the six reference pathogens discussed in the previous chapter—enteric viruses (represented by norovirus and adenovirus), two protozoa species (*Cryptosporidium* spp. and *Giardia* spp.) and two bacterial species (*Campylobacter* spp. and *Salmonella enterica*)—in the various sources of water for water reuse QMRA. The following characterization of reference pathogen densities is intended to represent their temporal and spatial distributions in the United States. These densities derive from peer-reviewed literature, government reports and gray literature.

The available environmental data for each source of water is used to estimate pathogen density distributions and ranges. To the extent that peer-reviewed, formal meta-analyses that comprise multiple locations and time points are available, this report considers those characterizations to be the state of the science for generating broadly representative risk estimates. When geographically and temporally-based meta-analysis characterizations are not available, peer-reviewed literature data can be used to establish feasible and credible ranges of pathogen densities. These ranges are then characterized as uniform distributions or log-uniform distributions, if the parameter range spans more than two orders of magnitude. The uniform distribution approach of using peer-reviewed data to establish feasible ranges minimizes spatial and temporal biases by treating all available data equally without implicit or explicit preference or over/under weighting any specific dataset based on sample size (Eisenberg et al., 2002). The uniform distribution approach has a strong statistical basis and has been used widely within waterborne QMRA and epidemiological research (Boehm et al., 2018; Brown et al., 2017; Eisenberg et al., 2002; Schoen & Ashbolt, 2010; Soller et al., 2010a; Soller et al., 2015; Soller et al., 2017a; Viau et al., 2011).

An alternative data consolidation framework was recently reported for identifying and incorporating high-quality datasets into single, aggregated distributions that could be used for water reuse applications in cases for which sufficient representative data are available (Darby et al., 2023). Their inclusion criteria comprise characteristics about the sample matrix, geographic location, method sensitivity, correction for recovery efficiency, compatibility with dose-response models, sample size and temporal distribution. In that report, the authors combined six studies to characterize *Cryptosporidium* spp. densities, two of which were peer reviewed, and five studies to characterize *Giardia* spp. densities, two of which were peer reviewed. This framework is useful yet limited by the available primary data for generating broadly representative estimates and informing general policies applicable across different states and sites.

In some cases, sufficient site-specific data have been or may be collected to generate distributions that are representative of specific facilities or locations (*e.g.*, a large dataset characterizing California municipal wastewater (Pecson et al., 2022b). For assessments of specific facilities or locations, this approach may be preferred because of its specificity, provided that sufficient data are collected to be considered broadly representative of the facility or facilities (Lim et al., 2017). However, distributions

generated using data from a specific facility or a limited number of facilities over a specific period of time may not be geographically and temporally representative of other facilities, even if they have similar characteristics. Research is needed to better understand the distinction between data that are site or regionally specific compared to those that could be considered broadly representative.

For some onsite waters, monitoring data are limited, unavailable or have poorly understood variability (Jahne et al., 2017; Jahne et al., 2023; Kusumawardhana et al., 2021; Schoen & Garland, 2017). Schoen et al. (2017) specified minimum criteria for using direct pathogen observation data and found that onsite-generated sources of water generally lack characterization studies meeting these criteria. In such cases, pathogen density characterizations must rely on various modeling approaches that are applicable to the water of interest, according to its primary type and level of fecal contamination (*e.g.*, human feces, sewage or animal sources).

The values described in the following sections are intended as default values for generalized risk assessment.

Untreated Municipal Wastewater

For untreated municipal wastewater, the densities of enteric waterborne reference pathogens (Table 1) are based on literature reviews in peer-reviewed publications related to potable reuse QMRA studies (Nappier et al., 2018; Soller et al., 2018b; Soller et al., 2017a), supplemented with additional, more recent data from peer-reviewed publications, as available.

Reference Pathogen	Units	Distribution ^a (log ₁₀ /L)	References				
Norovirus GI + GII	genome copies	N(4.7,1.5)	Eftim et al. (2017)				
Adenovirus	IU	U(1.75, 5.1)	Hewitt et al. (2011); Hurst et al. (1988); Pecson et al. (2022b)				
Cryptosporidium spp.	oocysts	U(-0.5,4.38)	Crockett (2007); Harwood et al. (2005); Kitajima et al. (2014); Madore et al. (1987); Nasser (2016); Pecson et al. (2022b); Robertson et al. (2006); Yang et al. (2015)				
Giardia spp.	cysts	U(0.5,5.0)	Harwood et al. (2005); Kitajima et al. (2014); Pecson et al. (2022b); Sykora et al. (1991); Wallis et al. (1996)				
Campylobacter spp.	CFU	U(2.95,4.6)	Stampi et al. (1993)				
Salmonella enterica	CFU	U(0.5,7.4)	Bonadonna et al. (2002); Jimenez-Cisneros et al. (2001); Lemarchand and Lebaron (2003)				

Table 1. State-of-the-science densities of waterborne QMRA reference pathogens in untreated municipal wastewater.

Note: Values shown in the table are \log_{10} values.

^a N is Normal (mean, standard deviation), U is Uniform (min, max).

Given the epidemiological importance of the topic, an increasing amount of literature has been published over the last two decades that is useful for characterizing norovirus densities in wastewater (Aw & Gin, 2010; Katayama et al., 2008; Katayama et al., 2004; Lodder & de Roda Husman, 2005; Rose et al., 2004; van den Berg et al., 2005). The concentration of norovirus in untreated municipal wastewater is now well characterized by meta-analyses that are broadly representative of the United States and the world (Eftim et al., 2017; Pouillot et al., 2015). Eftim et al. (2017) conducted a systematic literature review of published peer-reviewed publications to identify norovirus density data in wastewater influent globally and developed a meta-analysis approach for developing viral pathogen density distributions. Their analysis includes approximately 850 data points—accounting for heterogeneity in study-specific distribution curves, sampling locations and sampling season—to provide a comprehensive and updated representation of the data. Results indicate a high density of norovirus in wastewater influent (overall mean approximately 10^{4.8} GC/L with values as high at 10^{9.2} GC/L), with a higher density of norovirus genogroup GII (mean 10^{4.9} GC/L) than GI (mean approximately 10^{4.6} GC/L). The analysis also accounts for differences in seasonal and geographical occurrences of norovirus GI and GII. The norovirus parameter values (normal distribution with mean 10^{4.7} GC/L and standard deviation of 10^{1.5} GC/L) represent the analysis results for all data by pooling the norovirus genogroups and accounting for seasonality (Table 1).

More recently, Pecson et al. (2022b) reported the results from approximately 120 observations of norovirus in untreated municipal wastewater from five wastewater treatment plants in California during a 14-month monitoring campaign designed to support statewide regulations for DPR. Their mean norovirus results were slightly lower (approximately 10^{3.8} GC/L) than those reported by Eftim et al. (2017). However, those data were largely collected during COVID-19 pandemic disruptions and were "significantly lower than literature values of norovirus densities in non-pandemic years" (Wigginton et al., 2021). In addition, public health data from the CDC confirm that norovirus outbreaks were significantly lower in 2020 than in other years, with only two outbreaks reported from March 2020 to December 2020 in the entire United States. By comparison, there were 86 norovirus outbreaks reported in January 2020 alone (Wigginton et al., 2021).

Several caveats exist for other reference pathogens in untreated municipal wastewater. For adenovirus, the lower bound of the uniform distribution is based on detectable values and thus may overestimate adenovirus densities at the lower end of the distribution, as not all reported adenovirus densities are above detectable limits. Additionally, while Table 1 summarizes adenovirus densities measured using infectious units (IU), gene copy concentrations greater than 10⁸ gc/L have been observed using PCR methods (Rames et al., 2016). For *Giardia* spp. (Sedmak et al., 2005), using a uniform distribution results in a generally lower set of percentile values compared with the normal distribution (mean 4.0 log₁₀ units) and standard deviation 0.4 log₁₀ units) derived for California facilities (WateReuse Research Foundation, 2021). For *Salmonella enterica*, densities were reported using various units including MPN and CFUs; for pathogen characterization purposes, these units were assumed to be equivalent.

Onsite Waters: Graywater, Stormwater, Untreated Onsite Wastewater and Roof Runoff

Pathogen densities for graywater, stormwater, untreated onsite wastewater and roof runoff were recently compiled and updated by Schoen et al. (2023) for the purpose of deriving pathogen treatment targets for onsite non-potable water systems. Graywater is defined as wastewater from bathtubs, showers, bathroom sinks and clothes washing machines, excluding toilet and (in most cases)dishwasher and kitchen sink wastewaters; roof runoff is defined as precipitation collected from roof surfaces or other above-ground collection surfaces not affected by human activity; and stormwater is defined as precipitation and runoff collected at ground level (Schoen et al., 2017). In that work, data were included

when the following criteria were met: 1) the analytical methods used to enumerate the pathogens were comparable with those used in the dose-response studies (*i.e.*, "conventional" methods for all reference pathogens except norovirus); and 2) if a large fraction of the samples were non-detects, the limit of detection was specified (Schoen & Garland, 2017). Sufficient direct pathogen observations are unavailable for robust characterization of density distributions in any of the onsite sources of water, necessitating modeling approaches. A summary of these pathogen densities is included below (Table 2). Of note, pathogen densities are reported for fresh collections of water only; storage may alter these concentrations through pathogen decay, growth, or subsequent contamination of stored waters (Crabtree et al., 1996; Rose et al., 1991b).

Source of Water	Reference Pathogen	Units	Occurrence ^c (%)	Distribution ^d (log ₁₀ /L)	References
Untreated onsite	Norovirus GI + GII	genome copies	99.7	E(6.52,8.21)	Jahne et al. (2017)
wastewater	Cryptosporidium spp.	oocysts	11.3	E(3.28,5.11)	Jahne et al. (2017)
	Giardia spp.	cysts	69.8	E(2.92,4.65)	Jahne et al. (2017)
	Campylobacter spp.	CFU	27.3	E(2.75,5.35)	Jahne et al. (2017)
	Salmonella enterica	CFU	23.2	E(3.52,5.28)	Jahne et al. (2017)
Graywater	Norovirus GI + GII	genome copies	99.7	E(3.86,5.73)	Jahne et al. (2017)
	Cryptosporidium spp.	oocysts	11.3	E(0.99,2.77)	Jahne et al. (2017)
	Giardia spp.	cysts	69.8	E(0.84,2.48)	Jahne et al. (2017)
	Campylobacter spp.	CFU	27.3	E(1.13,3.19)	Jahne et al. (2017)
	Salmonella enterica	CFU	23.2	E(1.11,2.89)	Jahne et al. (2017)
Stormwater ^a	Norovirus GI + GII	genome copies	100	N(3.7,1.5)	Jahne et al. (2023)
	Cryptosporidium spp.	oocysts	100	U(-1.5, 3.38)	Schoen et al. (2023)
	Giardia spp.	cysts	100	U(-0.5, 4.0)	Schoen et al. (2023)
	Campylobacter spp.	CFU	100	U(1.95,3.6)	Schoen et al. (2023)
	Salmonella enterica	CFU	100	U(-0.5, 6.4)	Schoen et al. (2023)
Roof runoff ^b	Campylobacter spp.	CFU	100	E(-0.85,1.67)	Schoen et al. (2017)
	Salmonella enterica	CFU	100	E(0.15,3.94)	Schoen et al. (2017)
	Giardia spp.	cysts	100	U(-0.7,1.2)	Alja'fari et al. (2022)

|--|

^a Based on municipal wastewater at 10% by volume.

^b Roof runoff densities are subject to greater uncertainty than others; refer to Schoen et al. (2017; 2023) for discussion.

^c Occurrence is modeled and is therefore not sensitive to measurement detection limits.

^d N is Normal (mean, standard deviation), U is Uniform (min, max), E is Empirical (median, 95th percentile when occurring).

Graywater and Untreated Onsite Wastewater Densities. Pathogen monitoring data for untreated onsite wastewater and graywater from onsite reuse systems have been extremely limited (Jahne et al., 2017; Jahne et al., 2023; Kusumawardhana et al., 2021; Schoen & Garland, 2017). Therefore, the pathogen density characterizations reported by Schoen et al. (2023) use the epidemiology-based models of Jahne et al. (2017). The epidemiology-based models simulate pathogen densities in small-scale collections where their occurrence is anticipated to be sporadic relative to larger populations with more equalized input (*e.g.*, municipal wastewater) (Schoen et al., 2023). This approach uses fecal contamination levels of source-diverted graywater and mixed onsite wastewater coupled with modeled infections in relevant population sizes and the pathogen shedding dynamics of those infected individuals to simulate pathogen occurrence and density estimates in resulting water collections (Jahne et al., 2017). Of modeled population sizes (5-, 100-, and 1,000-persons), the 1,000-person simulations are used in reported estimates given the common implementation of onsite reuse in large buildings; the resulting LRTs are also protective of smaller systems (Jahne et al., 2023; Schoen et al., 2017).

Other onsite pathogen densities have been adopted as inputs for estimating onsite LRTs. Sylvestre et al. (2024) used raw shower and graywater monitoring data to characterize onsite E. coli concentrations rather than those reported by Jahne et al. (2017) based on summary statistics across multiple studies. When used to simulate pathogen densities in onsite waters as input to the epidemiology-based Monte Carlo approach, the resulting LRTs for combined graywater were similar using either method (Reynaert et al., 2024). In contrast to the epidemiology-based, simulated onsite pathogen concentrations, Pecson et al. (2022a) relied on the California-specific municipal wastewater dataset reported by Pecson et al. (2022b) to estimate pathogen densities in onsite wastewater (assumed equivalent to municipal) and graywater (assumed two log₁₀ dilution of municipal wastewater). A comparison of the pathogen characterization approaches and their results is provided in Jahne et al. (2023). The greatest difference in pathogen densities between the approaches was for norovirus densities in graywater, where densities estimated using diluted municipal wastewater are roughly 3-log₁₀ less than those simulated using the epidemiology approach of Jahne et al. (2017). The pathogen occurrence also differed between approaches. Simulated Cryptosporidium spp. and Giardia spp. pathogen densities occurred sporadically depending on infection incidence in the modeled population, while the densities estimated using municipal wastewater were assumed to occur 100% of the time.

Stormwater. Urban stormwater is inherently variable both spatially and temporally due to the diversity of sources and complexity of influencing factors in these settings (Geldreich, 1978)). To estimate generalized densities of reference pathogens in stormwater, researchers use municipal wastewater pathogen densities and assume various levels of dilution into stormwater (e.g., 1:10, 1:1,000 or 1:10,000 volumetric contributions of wastewater to stormwater) based on their relative loadings of humanspecific fecal markers and the predicted range of risk estimates from limited available stormwater data (Jahne et al., 2023; Pecson et al., 2022a; Schoen et al., 2017; Schoen et al., 2023). Stormwater estimates (Table 2) are derived from a recent Water Research Foundation publication (Sharvelle et al., 2023). This analysis confirmed the high variability of stormwater microbial quality, with no quantitative variables adequately predicting the levels of human fecal contamination in stormwater. The authors therefore recommended that to achieve conservative treatment a 1:10 ratio (10% sewage content) be used as the default assumption when deriving LRTs for urban stormwater collections (Sharvelle et al., 2023). This approach was also recommended for the development of onsite non-potable LRTs in California (National Water Research Institute, 2021). The values shown in Table 2 characterize densities of the relevant reference pathogens in municipal wastewater that have been reduced accordingly. However, Sharvelle et al. (2023) note that site-specific characterization of wastewater contamination in stormwater collections (e.q., using host-specific human fecal markers) may be used to select an alternative dilution (i.e., 1:1,000 or 1:10,000) when a site-specific monitoring program demonstrates that the system influent remains within the selected dilution.

Roof Runoff/Collected Rainwater. U.S. rainwater data suitable for waterborne QMRA are extremely limited and international studies are confounded by their different animal sources and environmental characteristics. The distribution of pathogen densities in roof runoff (rainwater) are therefore based on a modeling approach using the amount of fecal contamination in roof runoff coupled with estimated levels of pathogens in animal fecal sources (Schoen et al., 2017). However, the data for applying this model are limited to bacterial pathogens and specific fecal sources (*i.e.*, gulls) (Schoen et al., 2017).

Empirical molecular data on zoonotic pathogens are also available from U.S. roof runoff measurement studies (Alja'fari et al., 2022; Hamilton et al., 2018). Although these did not meet the required criteria of Schoen et al. (2017), the Alja'fari et al. (2022) measurements are notable for their inclusion of protozoan targets (*Cryptosporidium* spp. and *Giardia* spp. genes), which were rarely detected yet unable to be modeled using the previous approach. The values shown in Table 2 reflect those protozoan detections, despite their use of DNA targets, to allow for inclusion of protozoan LRTs which were identified as a limitation of prior analyses (Sharvelle et al., 2017). It should be noted, however, that both empirical measurements and modeling approaches remain data-limited and therefore uncertain. Data to develop roof runoff LRTs for *Cryptosporidium* spp. using either method remain unavailable.

Chapter 4. Ingestion Estimates for Potable and Non-Potable Water Exposures

The purpose of exposure assessment is to characterize the number or distribution of organisms that correspond to a single exposure (dose) or the set of exposures for a particular activity of interest (*e.g.*, daily drinking, toilet flushing) (Haas et al., 1999). Exposure is a function of magnitude (*i.e.*, number of pathogens), duration (*i.e.*, the time period over which risks are compounded) and frequency (*i.e.*, how often the exposure occurs).

For water reuse risk assessments that focus on enteric pathogens, exposures that occur on one day are considered independent of exposures that occur on other days. For daily exposures, dose magnitude is computed as the product of reference pathogen densities and the volume of water ingested during the exposure scenario for that day. It is possible that multiple exposures that occur within a single day could also be independent; however, experimental data are lacking in this regard (Pujol et al., 2009). Thus, multiple exposures that occur within a single day are considered a single combined exposure.

This chapter summarizes the best available estimates on the volume of water ingested through a range of potable and non-potable water uses, along with assumptions about exposure frequency (*i.e.*, how often exposure occurs). A duration of one year is considered for comparison to annual benchmark metrics, and thus daily risks are aggregated into annual risks based on the frequency of exposure (as described in Chapter 6).

Table 3 summarizes ingestion estimates for potable reuse (drinking water), unrestricted irrigation and common indoor non-potable uses, and also explains key assumptions underlying the estimates. Note that non-potable exposures may still result in inadvertent ingestion due to the generation of ingestible droplets and hand-to-mouth contact with the treated water. While other exposures (*e.g.*, inhalation, dermal) may also occur, risk assessments to define water reuse treatment focus on the enteric pathogens and hence on the corresponding ingestion pathway through which those pathogens initiate infection.

End Use	Daily Exposure Volume (L)	Exposure Frequency (days/year)	Fraction of Population Exposed	Key Assumptions and Citations
Potable use	2.4	365	1	90th percentile per capita U.S. ingestion (U.S. EPA, 2011, 2019, 2024) ^a
Indoor non-potable water use	0.00004	365	1	Comprises toilet flushing and clothes washing. Adopted from Australian guidelines (National Resource Management Ministerial Council et al., 2006)
Unrestricted irrigation and dust suppression	0.001	50	1	Adopted from Australian guidelines (National Resource Management Ministerial Council et al., 2006)
Cross-connection of treated water with potable water or accidental ingestion	2	1	0.1	Added to indoor use calculation (Schoen et al., 2017; Schoen et al., 2018)

Table 3. State-of-the-science ingestion estimates.

^a U.S. EPA (2024) utilizes the same source data and percentile but selects subpopulations corresponding to the critical effect.

Drinking Water

For drinking water, the ingestion estimates derive from the EPA *Exposure Factors Handbook* (February 2019 update, Chapter 3) (U.S. EPA, 2019), which presents exposure values for individuals who consumed water during the evaluation studies (National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey [NHANES] 2005–2010). These values are the basis for the EPA's drinking water risk assessments, including the recent Proposed Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) National Primary Drinking Water Regulation (U.S. EPA, 2024).

"Consumer-only" ingestion rates represent the quantity of water consumed only by individuals who reported water intake during the survey period (excludes individuals who did not ingest water from the source of interest) (U.S. EPA, 2019). "Per capita" ingestion rates represent intake that has been averaged over the entire population and are generated by averaging consumer-only intakes over the entire population (including those individuals that reported no intake). Therefore, rates of consumer-only ingestion of community water (*i.e.*, not including bottled water) represent drinking water ingestion estimates for the population who may consume potable reuse water. Although the *Exposure Factors Handbook* provides multiple percentile values describing this distribution, use of the 90th percentile point estimate value (2.413 liters per day, or L/d) is consistent with the risk assessment methodology for recent drinking water regulations (U.S. EPA, 2024) (Table 3). Use of an upper percentile point estimate value in risk assessment calculations is a common approach to ensure that sensitive, vulnerable and/or highly exposed sub-populations (*e.g.*, pregnant or lactating women) are protected.

Prior to publication of the 2019 update to the *Exposure Factors Handbook*, the most commonly used estimates of water ingestion were determined using the Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals (CSFII) 1994–1996 and 1998 data as reported in previous versions of the *Exposure Factors Handbook* (U.S. EPA, 2004b, 2011). The estimated 90th percentile from the distribution of daily average per capita community water ingestion was 2.014 L/d, and the 95th percentile was 2.544 L/d. The reported 90th percentile value, the 95th percentile value and the corresponding water ingestion distribution have been commonly used in previous chemical risk assessments and QMRAs related to drinking water and potable reuse (Amoueyan et al., 2017; Asano et al., 1992; Chaudhry et al., 2017; Soller et al., 2018b; Soller et al., 2017a; U.S. EPA, 2006c, 2018).

Unrestricted Irrigation

For ingestion during unrestricted irrigation (*i.e.*, ornamental plant or non-food irrigation and dust suppression with unrestricted public access), exposure estimates derive from the *Australian Guidelines for Water Recycling: Managing Health and Environmental Risks* (Australian Guidelines) (National Resource Management Ministerial Council et al., 2006). The Australian Guidelines suggest that the values presented there could be used as default values where specific or local data are not available and that the values are thought to be conservative (health protective) based on the underlying assumptions used to develop those values.

For unrestricted irrigation, both Schoen et al. (2023) and Pecson et al. (2022a) used the Australian Guidelines values for municipal irrigation and assumed that 1×10^{-3} L was ingested 50 times per year. The frequency was selected for a dry climate (*e.g.*, San Francisco, California) and may not be applicable to a climate with fewer irrigation needs. The ingestion volume is assumed to reflect indirect ingestion via

contact with lawns (National Resource Management Ministerial Council et al., 2006). Schoen et al. (2017) estimate that the ingested volume of 1×10^{-3} L is equivalent to 10–100 seconds of hand-to-mouth exposure (de Man et al., 2014c) or one drop of water (de Man et al., 2014a). Schoen et al. (2017) also explored the impact of alternative ingestion values through numerical sensitivity analyses and determined that an order of magnitude increase in ingestion volume or the number of annual exposures results in an LRT increase of approximately one.

Indoor Use

The primary indoor uses of recycled water for which LRTs have been developed include toilet flushing and clothes washing (Jahne et al., 2023; Sharvelle et al., 2017). During and following these uses, ingestion exposure may occur via generated droplets or hand contact with bathroom and laundry surfaces, both routine and during cleaning or repair activities. For these types of exposures, the ingestion volume estimates are adopted from the Australian Guidelines (similar to unrestricted irrigation). Additional ingestion exposure may result from accidental ingestion of the non-potable water (*e.g.*, by children) or from potential cross-connections of dual reticulation systems with drinking water mains. Schoen et al. (2017) and subsequent QMRAs (Pecson et al., 2022a; Schoen et al., 2023) have considered indoor uses to include toilet flush water (3 times per day), clothes washing (once per day), and rare accidental cross-connections with drinking water or direct ingestion of treated non-potable water (a one-day potable water exposure affecting 10% of the user population each year).

Analyses by Lim et al. (Lim et al., 2015) suggest that the volume of water inhaled after toilet flushing is low, approximately 10^{-9} L per event. For water ingested during hand-to-mouth exposures, Schoen et al. (2017) used children's exposure data reported by de Man et al. (2014a) to estimate that one second of wet hand-to-mouth contact could result in ingested volumes of 2×10^{-5} to 3×10^{-4} L. Both estimates support the Australian Guidelines of 3×10^{-5} L/d for toilet flushing (3 flushes $\times 10^{-5}$ L per flush) and 1×10^{-5} L/d for clothes washing with recycled water as health protective, conservatively assuming 100% partitioning and/or recovery for aerosol or hand-to-mouth exposures (National Resource Management Ministerial Council et al., 2006; Schoen et al., 2017).

For estimating potential cross-connections of dual reticulation systems with drinking water mains, few empirical data exist to characterize or estimate the rates of these events. Hambly et al. (2012) reported that "despite the significant presence of dual reticulation systems across the USA, very limited research into cross-connection events and cross-connection detection has been published," and a literature review conducted by Schoen et al. (2018) for cross-connection characteristics returned zero results for onsite non-potable water system cross-connection events in the United States. Given the lack of definitive data, Schoen et al. (2017) assumed that one accidental ingestion event or cross-connection of treated water with potable water (2 L/person/day) affects 10% of the user population one day per year, an assumption that was subsequently adopted in later analyses (Pecson et al., 2022a; Schoen et al., 2023). To assess this assumption, Schoen et al. (2018) explored scenarios for cross-connection conditions (*i.e.*, different system sizes, event durations, fractions of users exposed and intrusion dilutions) that would exceed predetermined health benchmarks. Their results indicate that the assumed cross-connection exposure factor included in the 2017 indoor use LRTs (*i.e.*, one day of potable ingestion by 10% of the population) is protective for isolated, short-duration reclaimed-to-potable events (*e.g.*,

0.1% of user population affected for less than 5 days). Additionally, in examining the impact that the cross-connection exposure had on calculated LRTs, Schoen et al. (2018) determined that the calculated LRTs would decrease by one log or less if this protection factor were omitted (*i.e.*, for indoor use comprising toilet flushing and clothes washing only).

Other Non-Potable Uses

Other potential non-potable applications of recycled water include fire suppression, car washing and decorative fountains (Arden et al., 2020; Jahne et al., 2023; Pecson et al., 2022a; Schoen et al., 2017; Schoen et al., 2020b). Empirical data are lacking to inform the exposure assumptions related to ingestion volumes and exposure frequency for most of these other, less commonly practiced non-potable uses (Jahne et al., 2023). Therefore, Schoen et al. (2020a) assessed the sensitivity of indoor use LRTs to potential exposure volumes from other uses. Their results indicate that the indoor use LRTs may also be adopted for other non-potable applications with anticipated ingestion volumes of roughly 10^{-5} L or less, provided that the cross-connection factor is included (*i.e.*, potable exposure for 10% of population one day per year). For less frequent uses, this ingestion volume may be assumed to increase to less than roughly 10^{-4} L for exposures of 50 days per year or fewer. The authors estimate that these uses include reuse in decorative fountains and vehicle washing, each with an approximate routine exposure of 10^{-4} L based on water features in splash parks (de Man et al., 2014a; de Man et al., 2014b) and high-pressure vehicle washing (Sinclair et al., 2016), respectively.

In contrast, Pecson et al. (2022a) estimated specific exposure volumes for these end uses to model respective LRTs. For car washing, Pecson et al. (2022a) assumed an ingestion volume of 0.001 L at a frequency of 12 days per year, based on the assumption that ingestion during car washing would be similar to indirect ingestion during garden irrigation as estimated by the Australian Guidelines (National Resource Management Ministerial Council et al., 2006). An underlying difference in the car washing estimates by Schoen et al. (2020a) and Pecson et al. (2022a) is that the former is based on use of a spray device whereas the latter is assumed for washing by hand. For indoor decorative fountains, Pecson et al. (2022a) assumed that ingestion volumes would be similar to those for high-pressure car washing as reported by Sinclair et al. (2016), but presented two statistical distributions (normal and uniform) fitted to the same data. These were considered in separate "indoor use" combinations, in addition to the toilet flushing, clothes washing and cross-connection exposures above. Pecson et al. (2022a) also included fire suppression, for which they assumed an ingestion volume of 0.002 L at a frequency of 20 days per year based on assumptions from the Water Services Association of Australia (Deere et al., 2004).

There is still uncertainty associated with these additional end uses and a lack of consensus among different studies. However, Schoen et al. (2020a) and Pecson et al. (2022a) both concluded that indoor use LRTs are also protective for decorative fountains and vehicle washing (as well as fire suppression in Pecson et al. (2022a)). Pecson et al. (2022a) also calculated that LRTs for unrestricted irrigation were protective for fire suppression and car washing, but not for decorative fountains.

Chapter 5. Dose-Response Models for Reference Pathogens

The objective of microbial dose-response assessments is to develop a mathematical relationship between the level of microbial exposure and the likelihood of an adverse health effect (Haas et al., 1999). A dose-response model is a mathematical function that uses the estimated pathogen dose (Chapter 4) to yield the probability of a selected adverse health effect, such as the probability of infection or the probability of illness for exposed individuals.

When pathogenic organisms enter the human body, they encounter a system of barriers to infection. Enteric pathogens must successfully reach parts of the intestinal tract that are suitable for attachment, colonization and/or replication (Teunis et al., 1999). For infection to occur, at least one of the ingested pathogens must survive to start colonization or replication. This biological process forms the underlying mathematical basis for dose-response models used for QMRA (Haas et al., 1999; Teunis et al., 1999).

Detailed mathematical derivations of commonly used dose-response models for infection have been published previously (refer to Haas et al. (1999, 2014), Teunis et al. (1999) and Mitchell and Weir (2024)). However, not all infections result in symptomatic illnesses, and the likelihood of this transition is described by a conditional probability. The conditional probability of illness given infection takes two forms: dose-independent and dose-dependent (*e.g.*, increasing illness risk for increasing dose). The recent dose-dependent illness characterizations for norovirus and *Campylobacter* spp. incorporate challenge and outbreak data within a hierarchical model to develop the correspondence between dose and illness, whereas the dose-independent characterizations (*e.g.*, *Salmonella enterica* and *Giardia* spp.) assume that illness is not correlated to initial dose.

The most current waterborne QMRA dose-response models for probability of infection and conditional probability of illness given infection, along with the corresponding parameter values and citations, are summarized in Table 4 for key enteric reference pathogens (Chapter 2). With the constraint of limited human or animal challenge and outbreak data to inform dose-response relationships, the strains used to develop the models in Table 4 represent each class of reference pathogen, although they do not necessarily capture the full variability of all species and/or strains.

Table 4. Dose-response models and parameter values for infection and illness for waterborne pathogens; adapted from Schoen et al. (2023).

Pathogen	Units	Infection Model	Parameter	Value	Illness Model ^d	Parameter	Value	References
Norovirus GI/GII SE+ ^a	Genome copies	Hyper- geometric	α β	0.393 0.767	Dose-dependent function with bivariate normal parameters	Mean (w) Mean (z) Variance (w) Covariance (w,z) Variance (z)	1.74 1.82 5.55 -0.708 4.64	Teunis et al. (2020)
Adenovirus	IU	Hyper- geometric	α β	5.11 2.8	Dose-dependent function	η r	6.53 0.41	Teunis et al. (2016)
Cryptosporidium spp. ^b	Oocysts	Fractional Poisson	Ρ	0.737	Dose-independent uniform	Minimum Maximum	0.3 0.7	Messner and Berger (2016a) U.S. EPA (2006c)
Giardia spp.	Cysts	Exponential	r	0.0199	Dose-independent uniform	Minimum Maximum	0.2 0.7	Rose et al. (1991a) Eisenberg et al. (1996)
Campylobacter spp. ^c	CFU	Hyper- geometric	α β	0.44 0.51	Dose-dependent parameters function with bivariate normal parameters	Mean (w) Mean (z) Variance (w) Covariance (w,z) Variance (z)	-2.744 -0.0049 1.337 0.01 0.993	Teunis et al. (2018)
Salmonella spp.	CFU	Beta- Poisson	α β	0.3126 2884	Dose-independent uniform	Minimum Maximum	0.17 0.4	Fazil (1996) Haas et al. (1999)

^a The values shown are the median GI predicted parameter values for infection and transformed dose response parameters for illness, the latter based on shellfish outbreak data.

^b The fractional Poisson, exponential with immunity and hyper-geometric fit the available data equivalently well; refer to Messner and Berger (2016a).

^c The values shown are the median *C. jejuni* predicted parameter values for infection and transformed dose-response parameters for illness, the latter based on challenge study data.

^d The illness model is conditional probability of illness given infection.

Bacterial Reference Pathogens

Campylobacter spp.

The dose-response relationship for the reference pathogen *Campylobacter* spp. is assumed to follow that *of C. jejuni*, the species most associated with human infection (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2024b). The *C. jejuni* infection dose-response relationship (Table 4) incorporates both challenge and outbreak data from different host species (primates and humans) and different strains of *C. jejuni* (Teunis et al., 2018). All challenge studies involved high pathogen doses and a dose-response effect (increasing infection trend with dose) was observed in only one study. However, using a hierarchical framework, the additional outbreak data provided valuable information on infection in the low dose range. A high susceptibility to infection with *C. jejuni* was found in a combined analysis of challenge studies and outbreaks, four of which were associated with raw milk consumption. The generalized infection dose-response relationship for *C. jejuni* uses these multiple sets of data and captures the variation in infectivity across *C. jejuni* strains (Teunis et al., 2018). The hyper-geometric parameter values for infection are the reported median parameter estimates (Table 4).

While the outbreak and challenge data were used jointly to generate a generalized infection doseresponse relationship, there were substantial differences between the outbreak and challenge illness study results (Teunis et al., 2018). The parameter values for illness (Table 4) are based on challenge data given the high selection bias of the population for the outbreak studies (mainly young children) (Schoen et al., 2023). The illness parameter values are inputs to a dose-dependent illness function (Teunis et al., 2018). A bivariate normal function is used to capture the uncertainty in the illness parameter values by creating paired samples of the illness parameter values (*i.e.*, hyper-geometric parameters α and β in Table 4) with the bivariate normal distribution for the illness parameter values results in a significant reduction of computational complexity with minimal effect on calculated risk estimates (Schoen et al., 2023).

Previously, the most widely used dose-response relationships for *C. jejuni* were those reported by Medema et al. (1996) and Teunis et al. (2005). Medema et al. (1996) reported a beta-Poisson model fitted to experimental data of *C. jejuni* infection obtained in human feeding studies performed by Black et al. (1988). The occurrence of symptoms of intestinal illness did not follow a dose-response trend and an absence of experimental data in the low dose range resulted in relatively large confidence intervals at low doses. Subsequently, Teunis et al. (2005) evaluated an incident at a dairy farm where several children became ill as a result of drinking raw milk contaminated with *C. jejuni*. These data appeared to show a nearly exponential dose-response relationship between the amount of milk consumed and the illness attack rate, conflicting with the rather slowly rising dose-response relationship established in the previously reported feeding study. Teunis et al. (2005) reconciled this by considering illness and infection separately, which was the approach used in the dose-response model in Table 4 (Teunis et al., 2018).

Salmonella spp.

For the reference pathogen *Salmonella* spp., the dose-response relationship for infection is based on work conducted by Fazil (1996) and published by Haas et al. (1999). Dose-response data were obtained from human challenge studies conducted by McCullough and Eisele (McCullough & Eisele, 1951a, 1951b) on six nontyphoid strains. The beta-Poisson model provided a statistically significant fit to the data once several outlier data points were removed. It can, however, be noted that outbreaks of salmonellosis frequently involve strains that were not included in the original challenge studies (*i.e., S. typhimurium* and *S. enteritidis*), so there is uncertainty about the applicability of the model to these strains (Haas et al., 1999).

The dose-response parameter values for illness (Table 4) represent the data summarized by Teunis et al. (1999) for a challenge study on *Salmonella enterica* serovar *meleagridis* (Strain III) in human subjects (McCullough & Eisele, 1951a). Since limited data were available to characterize the conditional probability of illness given infection, the minimum and maximum observed fractions of ill individuals are used as bounds of a uniform distribution. Dose-response parameter values for illness are available for other serovars associated with foodborne outbreaks in various food matrices (Teunis et al., 2010).

Viral Reference Pathogens

Norovirus

For the reference pathogen norovirus, the current infection dose-response relationship incorporates both challenge and outbreak data based on norovirus genome copies (Teunis et al., 2020), which is the same methodology used for measuring reference pathogen data in the sources of water evaluated for water reuse. This study additionally considers host factors such as infectivity by secretor status (Johnson et al., 2022), and the pathogenicity of different genogroups. Data included the results from 14 challenge studies using six different norovirus isolates (G1.1 [8flla], G1.1 [8fllb], GI.1 [42399], GII.2 [SMV], GII.4 [Farmington Hills], GII.1 [Hawaii]) and data from seven oyster-related norovirus outbreaks that caused gastrointestinal illness. Five of those outbreaks had been used in a previously published outbreak-based dose-response assessment (Thebault et al., 2013). Although data from any single outbreak may add only incremental information, they can be combined to develop a dose-response relationship (Thebault et al., 2013). The outbreak dose-response assessment by Thebault et al. (2013) showed infection results consistent with previous challenge study outcomes by Teunis et al. (2008). Teunis et al. (2020) also noted that "the reports claiming low infectivity of norovirus ignore the outbreak-based estimates that were available (Thebault et al., 2013). Although many would consider outbreaks a highly uncertain source of information, the importance of outbreak data in establishing infectivity should not be underrated." The Teunis et al. (2020) meta-analysis results combining both outbreak and feeding study data confirm the high infectivity of norovirus in these settings, with an estimated mean infection risk of 28% when exposed to 1 GC of norovirus GI, and 7.6% for 1 GC of norovirus GII, both in secretor-positive subjects.

The median dose-response parameter values shown in Table 4 for infection represent the most infectious GI genogroup, as suggested for exposures to unknown strains by Teunis et al. (2020), and the serogroup positive population (Se+) dose-response characterization (*i.e.*, the most susceptible group) to account for susceptibility to the wide range of norovirus variants and norovirus-like pathogens that are potentially present in an untreated source, following Schoen et al. (2023).

In contrast to the infection dose response in which the outbreak and challenge data resulted in similar parameter values, the illness dose-response parameter values for outbreak indicated higher illness risk than the feeding study data (Teunis et al., 2020). The dose-response parameter values for illness (Table 4) are based on shellfish outbreak data and are also for the more conservative GI Se+ characterization, given the wide range of strains captured in these outbreaks, despite the uncontrolled characteristics of the exposed population which may include immune-compromised subjects (Schoen et al., 2023). The illness parameter values are inputs to a dose-dependent illness function (Teunis et al., 2018). A bivariate normal function is used to capture the uncertainty in the illness parameter values by creating paired samples of the illness parameters (Teunis et al., 2018).

The initial norovirus dose-response relationship was published by Teunis et al. (2008), yielding high estimates of infectivity for exposure to a single genome copy of the prototypical Norwalk virus (genotype GI.1). Another challenge study with the same virus followed (Atmar et al., 2014) and, given the lack of dose-response studies for other noroviruses, this dose-response relationship was used as a model for norovirus generally (Teunis et al., 2020). Since the initial Teunis et al. (2008) publication, data
from the same Norwalk virus challenge studies have been re-evaluated with alternative mathematical models that generate different outcomes (Messner et al., 2014; Schmidt, 2015), creating uncertainty within the risk assessment community regarding a single "consensus" model for recommended use in risk assessment (Chaudhry et al., 2017; Lim et al., 2017; Olivieri et al., 2014; Pecson et al., 2022a; Schoen et al., 2011; Soller et al., 2010a; Soller et al., 2010b; Viau et al., 2011; Water Research Foundation, 2021). To address this concern, Van Abel et al. (2017) recommended the use of multiple approaches, which was implemented to develop water reuse LRTs (Pecson et al., 2022a; Schoen et al., 2017). Likewise, Soller et al. (2017b) developed an approach that accounted for uncertainty within the norovirus dose-response realm by randomly weighting the different models. Teunis et al. (2020) addresses the debate about infectivity by incorporating additional challenge study and outbreak data to develop a more representative, generalized model that is less sensitive to concerns about any one dose-response data set (including the initial inoculum with unknown aggregation status) (Schoen et al., 2023). The updated norovirus dose-response is used in recent water reuse risk assessments (Jahne et al., 2024; Reynaert et al., 2024; Schoen et al., 2023) and other QMRA studies (Ahmed et al., 2024; Li et al., 2023; Skiendzielewski et al., 2024).

Adenovirus

For the reference pathogen adenovirus, the current dose-response relationships describe the distributions of infectivity and pathogenicity from data reported in five challenge studies of adenovirus subgenus E (adenovirus 4) and subgenus B (adenovirus 7 and 16) (Teunis et al., 2016). These adenovirus types (adenovirus 4/7/16) are commonly associated with respiratory infections and the challenge studies did not include data for the adenoviruses that cause gastrointestinal illness and are frequently measured in wastewater (adenovirus 40/41) (Couch et al., 1966; Couch et al., 1963; Couch et al., 1969; Hitchcock et al., 1960; Kasel et al., 1963). The Teunis et al. (2016) study developed dose-response models using a hierarchical framework for four different modes of inoculation used in the dose-response studies: oral ingestion, inhalation, intranasal and intraocular droplet inoculation. The hierarchical framework assumes that all virus types and inoculation routes share a common dose-response shape that shifts for each route. However, the oral ingestion data provided minimal information for the doseresponse relationship in comparison to the inhalation route, resulting in an oral dose-response model that has substantial uncertainty (wide 95% predictive interval) and very similar parameter estimates to the inhalation route that comprises the majority of available data (Teunis et al., 2016). Conclusions regarding oral exposure were further complicated by the observation that all exposed subjects became infected without producing clinical symptoms.

The previously used dose-response relationship, often attributed to Crabtree et al. (1997), likewise relied on inhalation data of adenovirus 4. This lack of data specific to oral ingestion yields substantial uncertainty in the interpretation of adenovirus risk for water reuse applications where enteric pathogen (fecal-oral adenovirus 40/41) exposure via waterborne transmission is the primary concern. Because of this, adenovirus dose-response relationships are considered inadequate for deriving widely applicable and health protective LRTs for water reuse exposures to enteric pathogens (Jahne et al., 2024), and are not included in Chapter 7 of this report. The dose-response relationship for enteric adenovirus is an outstanding research need.

Parasitic Protozoan Reference Pathogens

Cryptosporidium spp.

For the reference pathogen *Cryptosporidium* spp., the most updated infection dose-response relationship is based on work published by Messner and Berger (Messner & Berger, 2016a). Messner and Berger (2016a) used human dose-response data from seven *Cryptosporidium* isolates (species *C. parvum, C. hominis* and *C. muris*) to investigate six models of varying complexity that estimate infection probability as a function of dose. Previous models (summarized below) attempted to explicitly account for virulence differences among *C. parvum* isolates. Three models—the fractional Poisson, exponential with immunity, and hyper-geometric (referred to in the Messner and Berger manuscript as the beta-Poisson)—fit the data significantly better than the more complex isolate-focused models (Messner & Berger, 2016a). In terms of statistical fit, these three models were equivalent. The one-parameter fractional Poisson model is the simplest but assumes that all *Cryptosporidium* oocysts used in the studies were capable of initiating infection. The exponential with immunity model does not require that assumption and includes the fractional Poisson as an upper-bound special case. The beta-Poisson model does not include a component for an immune human subpopulation. Importantly, all three models predict substantially higher risk at low doses than do prior models and any of the three could be justified equally from a technical perspective.

Schmidt and Chappell (2016) commented on the Messner and Berger (2016a) manuscript with concerns regarding 1) the unacknowledged assumption that all Cryptosporidium isolates share a single doseresponse relationship and are therefore equally infectious, 2) the inconsistencies between model assumptions and published clinical experiences (*i.e.*, feeding studies) and 3) statistical evidence contradicting appropriateness of the newly recommended model forms. Messner and Berger (2016b) responded that the great differences in dosing level between isolate studies led to multilevel models that were no better than the simpler model in terms of their statistical likelihood. They also indicated that there are insufficient low-dose data to settle the critical technical matters, and that until low-dose data are obtained, no single model can resolve the underlying uncertainty in low-dose risk of infection estimates. As a result, recent water reuse risk assessments (Pecson et al., 2022a; Schoen et al., 2023) have included the fractional Poisson model, which yields upper-bound risk results in the low dose range of interest (less than 10 oocysts). Given this combination of characteristics, the dose-response parameter values for infection shown in Table 4 refer to the fractional Poisson model because it is one of the models that fit the available data equally well, the model is consistent with recent peer-reviewed QMRA studies for water-related exposures, and the model has the characteristic of being health protective in the low dose range.

Prior to Messner and Berger (2016a), several other infection dose-response relationships for *Cryptosporidium* were used in QMRA studies, including those from Teunis et al. (2002a, 2002b), U.S. EPA (2006c), U.S. EPA (2005), DuPont et al. (1995), Haas et al. (1996; 1999), Englehardt and Swartout (2004; 2006), and Bloetscher et al. (2020a). The Messner and Berger (2016a) work suggests a greater risk of infection at low doses than previously predicted.

For the dose-response illness parameter, the values reported in Table 4 are based on work conducted by the EPA to develop the Long Term 2 Enhanced Surface Water Treatment Rule (LT2 ESWTR) (U.S. EPA,

2003). In that analysis, the reviewed studies showed a wide range of illness rates for the relativity high doses used in feeding studies. For example, DuPont et al. (1995) and Haas et al. (1996) found that 39% of those infected had clinical cryptosporidiosis across administered doses, and Okhuysen et al. (1998) found that 58% of their subjects who received doses of *Cryptosporidium parvum* developed diarrhea. However, the subjects in these three studies were administered doses higher than those that are commonly present in water. Chappell et al. (1996) observed that the rate of diarrheal illness was higher for the TAMU or UCP isolates of *C. parvum* than for the IOWA isolate first studied by DuPont et al. (1995) and Haas et al. (1996). Given these results, the EPA's review in the LT2 ESWTR suggests a lower bound of 30% and an upper bound of 70% (Table 4), which have been used to calculated illness rates in QMRAs for water-related exposures.

Giardia spp.

For the reference pathogen *Giardia* spp., the current infection dose-response relationship is based on work published by Rose et al. (1991a), who reported a quantitative description of the dose-response relationship for *Giardia lamblia* infectivity using experimental data by Rendtorff et al. (Rendtorff & Holt, 1954; Rendtorff, 1954). In these experiments, the exponential model was statistically consistent with the experimental data on infection. The dose-response parameter values for illness (Table 4) are based on a review of the literature reported by Eisenberg et al. (1996) indicating that the proportion of symptomatic *Giardia* infections varies considerably. For example, Lopez et al. (1980) reported a communitywide survey of residents revealing that 76% of *G. lamblia* infections occurring during an epidemic period were asymptomatic (*i.e.*, 24% symptomatic illness). On the other hand, Hill and Miller (2011) estimated that 5%–15% of infected persons become asymptomatic cyst passers (indicating 85% symptomatic illness).

Chapter 6. Risk Characterization for Water Reuse

The NRC conceptual risk assessment framework consisting of hazard identification, exposure assessment, dose-response assessment and risk characterization (National Research Council, 1983) has been used by many researchers as a basis for waterborne enteric pathogen QMRA (Asano et al., 1992; Gerba et al., 1996; Haas, 1983; Medema et al., 2003; Regli et al., 1991; Rose et al., 1991a; Teunis et al., 1997) as well as foodborne pathogen risk assessments (Buchanan et al., 1998; Buchanan et al., 2000; Farber et al., 1996). This chapter addresses the risk characterization component of waterborne QMRA for water reuse applications.

Risk Characterization Approaches

For water reuse risk characterization, assessments typically use the conceptual analytical approach that was first published in the 1970s (Dudley et al., 1976; Fuhs, 1975) and assume that the number of individuals who are susceptible to infection does not vary with time (*i.e.*, remains static) at the population level (Eisenberg et al., 2002). These static models have been widely used in water reuse QMRAs (Chaudhry et al., 2017; Lim et al., 2017; Soller et al., 2017a) and by the EPA in developing drinking water regulations (U.S. EPA, 2002, 2006b). Static models may be implemented numerically in several fundamental ways, the major difference among them being the way in which model parameters are characterized. The simplest approach is to use a single value (point estimate) for each of the model parameters (*e.g.*, ingestion volume, density of reference pathogens, dose-response parameters). The output from this static, point estimate modeling approach is a single-valued risk estimate. For example, the state of California used this approach to derive required reductions of reference pathogens across wastewater treatment for its initial IPR regulations (State of California, 2018).

Another implementation method for a static QMRA model is to use statistical distributions for each (or some) of the parameters to account for their variability and/or uncertainty (*i.e.*, stochastic modeling). This stochastic implementation method requires the use of a mathematical technique called Monte Carlo simulation (Fishman, 1995; U.S. EPA, 1997) to numerically sample the input distributions and calculate associated risk estimates. The output from this modeling approach is an estimate of risk in the form of a statistical distribution, from which a threshold value or values (*e.g.*, 95th percentile) is (are) reported and/or evaluated. Such methods have the advantage of accounting for uncertainty among source data and providing a variety of endpoint estimates for downstream risk management (U.S. EPA, 1992). Numerous examples of this static stochastic approach have been published in the literature (Boehm et al., 2019; Chaudhry et al., 2017; Gerrity et al., 2023; Jahne et al., 2023; Nappier et al., 2018; Schoen et al., 2023; Soller et al., 2018b).

Another implementation approach for a stochastic model is to rely on Bayes' theorem and Markov Chain Monte Carlo methods (Gilks et al., 1996; Hastings, 1970; Metropolis et al., 1953). Unlike the Monte Carlo sampling methods described above, which draw independent samples from the specified statistical distribution(s) in each model iteration, Markov Chain Monte Carlo methods draw samples such that each subsequent sample is dependent on the existing sample (Geyer, 1992). This "history" may be used to conduct detailed sensitivity analyses by directly assessing the model simulation conditions leading to high (or low) risk, and the resulting chains can be used for predicting future parameter states. Additionally, this approach allows for expert judgement-based information to be used to inform starting conditions (termed prior distributions) and parameter uncertainty assessments. These techniques have been used in waterborne QMRAs (Bloetscher et al., 2020b; Englehardt & Swartout, 2006), including those conducted by the EPA in evaluating the dose-response relationship for *Cryptosporidium* for establishing drinking water regulations (U.S. EPA, 2006c), yet are more computationally complex than conventional Monte Carlo approaches and may be strongly influenced by the assumed prior distributions, when input data are sparse.

In addition to static microbial risk assessment (MRA) models, other models have been developed to include the innate properties of infectious disease processes such as person-to-person transmission of infection and immunity (Eisenberg et al., 1998; Eisenberg et al., 1996; Soller, 2006). Addressing these population-level processes requires mathematical modeling approaches that allow the number of individuals who are susceptible to infection to vary with time (*i.e.*, dynamic QMRA models) (Anderson & May, 1991; Hethcote, 1976; Hethcote, 2000). Dynamic methods have been used for numerous waterborne QMRA studies in the United States (Eisenberg et al., 1998; Eisenberg et al., 1996; Koopman et al., 2002; Soller et al., 2003; Soller et al., 2006) and to support drinking water regulatory decisions by the EPA (U.S. EPA, 2006a). From a modeling perspective, there are trade-offs between biological "realism" and analytical complexity. The increase in the complexity of the model structure increases output variability and computational demands (U.S. EPA, 2004a). On the other hand, a simpler model involves implicit or explicit assumptions that may or may not be realistic or appropriate for a particular situation. Soller and Eisenberg (2008) evaluated representative static and dynamic QMRA models to consider the question of model parsimony and identify conditions under which the more complex dynamic models may provide sufficient additional insight that the added complexity is warranted. The results indicated that (stochastic) static risk characterization models are generally acceptable for water reuse exposures and thus are the preferred approach for these applications.

Forward QMRA Approach

Risk characterization methods may be used quantitatively in several equally valid ways. One common approach is to use the model inputs described above to estimate risk(s) associated with a particular exposure scenario ("forward QMRA"). For example, a forward QMRA may estimate the risk of infection associated with potable reuse of recycled water produced by a particular advanced water treatment facility. In this case, pathogen densities in raw wastewater coupled with estimated or measured reductions across unit treatment processes would be used to estimate a pathogen concentration in the product water, which is used in conjunction with an ingestion estimate to generate an estimate of exposure (*i.e.*, dose). This estimate is then input to the dose-response relationship which generates an estimate of risk of infection during the exposure. For example, Lim et al. (2017) quantified the health risk associated with exposure to *Cryptosporidium* and norovirus through drinking water contaminated with wastewater effluents in the Trinity River, and Soller et al. (2017a) evaluated the potential microbial risks associated with various DPR treatment train combinations for recycled water.

Reverse QMRA Approach to Determine Log₁₀ Reduction Targets

Using the same inputs, it is also possible to determine the amount of treatment that would be needed to achieve a predetermined level of risk (*i.e.*, calculate an LRT) (Jahne et al., 2024; Schoen et al., 2017; Soller et al., 2018b). In this "reverse QMRA" approach, the same set of equations is used as in forward

QMRA. However, the level of risk is pre-specified and the required reduction in pathogen concentration to achieve that risk is computed instead. For an infection risk metric (discussed below), the annual probability of infection (Pinf_{annual}) is set equal to a specific target level of infection risk, and Eq. 1, adopted from Schoen et al. (2017), is solved for the pathogen LRT:

Pinf_{annual} = $S * (1 - \prod_{n_i} [1 - DR(V_i * 10^{log_{10}(C) - LRT})])$ Eq. 1

where

S is the fraction of people in the exposed population susceptible to each reference pathogen (typically assumed = 1)

DR(...) is a dose-response function for the reference pathogen

 V_i is the volume of water ingested per day for the activity set *i*

 n_i is the number of days of exposure over a year for activity set i

C is the pathogen concentration in the source water

This LRT-generating approach is common when developing fit-for-purpose water reuse treatment targets for state regulations (State Water Resources Control Board, 2018; U.S. EPA, 2023) since the results articulate the level of treatment needed for a particular source of water and end-use application combination.

Risk Characterization Duration

In characterizing the health risk associated with human exposure to microbially contaminated water, an important issue is the duration over which the characterization occurs. For example, drinking water regulations focus on protecting individuals against multiple exposures (*i.e.*, up to 365 daily exposures per year) to water with microbial contamination (Regli et al., 1991). For water reuse applications, exposures throughout the day are typically aggregated to give a total daily dose to which the immune system must respond; however, health risk benchmarks are generally based on annualized risks (*e.g.*, 10^{-4} infections or 10^{-6} DALY ppy). These health benchmarks thus require additional assumptions about the number of exposures that are likely to occur over that time period (Gerrity et al., 2023; Jahne et al., 2023; Schoen & Garland, 2017; Signor & Ashbolt, 2009).

While such annualized risk benchmarks are foundational to overall water reuse system design and assessment needs, the actual risks for individuals are driven by conditions that occur through daily exposures, or even short-duration events (*e.g.*, over the course of hours) (Soller et al., 2018a). Short-duration events may be better evaluated and managed when event-relevant risk targets (*e.g.*, daily) are considered (Signor & Ashbolt, 2009; Soller et al., 2018a). Examples of short-duration, hazardous events in water systems include water distribution intrusions, cross-connections and backflows, inadequate management of reservoirs, improper main and pipe repairs and low-frequency failures in unit processes (*i.e.*, pathogen control barriers), such as loss of membrane integrity or disinfection efficacy (Amoueyan et al., 2019; Antony et al., 2016; Jahne et al., 2023; Pype et al., 2016). To address this issue, California has adjusted its DPR regulations from an annual target risk level (*i.e.*, 10^{-4} infections ppy) to a corresponding daily infection risk target (*i.e.*, $10^{-4}/365 = 2.7 \times 10^{-7}$ infections per person per day [ppd]).

This approach ensures that the annual risk target is also met (State Water Resources Control Board, 2018), but functionally results in a more stringent annual risk level as it is highly unlikely that each of the 365 days would exactly reach the daily risk limit.

Source Water Input for Potable Water Reuse QMRA

A key aspect of QMRA risk characterization is the source of water that is used as input to the assessment (Nappier et al., 2018; Schoen & Garland, 2017). For potable reuse QMRAs where municipal wastewater is the source of water, there are two approaches that have been used for risk characterization: use of untreated municipal wastewater and use of secondary treated effluent.

The secondary treated effluent starting point approach (Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment, 2023; Texas Water Development Board, 2015b) results in lower LRTs than the untreated municipal wastewater approach, as some of the required treatment occurs during conventional wastewater treatment upstream of the reuse assessment (Texas Water Development Board, 2015a). However, it requires a site-specific pathogen monitoring campaign to characterize the variable upstream treatment performance and temporal variance for every project (Gerrity et al., 2023). The potential benefits of this approach include the evaluation of a higher-quality matrix (secondary effluent versus raw wastewater) that may be less prone to background interference, and reduced influence of transient conditions and diurnal variability (Gerrity et al., 2022; Tchobanoglous et al., 2021). Potential disadvantages of the treated effluent approach include uncertainty in defining the required characteristics of the monitoring campaign (e.g., duration and number of samples) for robust characterization and the need to process greater sample volumes to increase method sensitivity (Gerrity et al., 2023). Additionally, uncertainty in the ratio of GC to infectious units following wastewater treatment reduces the interpretability of molecular pathogen detections in treated waters (Gerrity et al., 2023; Jahne et al., 2017), limiting the use of norovirus as a reference pathogen under the secondary treated effluent approach.

The use of untreated municipal wastewater for potable reuse QMRA has been well documented in the literature (Nappier et al., 2018). Pathogen viability is highly variable after treatment and untreated wastewater offers the benefits of a more generalizable input source with sufficient pathogen loading for reliable reference pathogen density characterization. One important consideration with this approach is that densities of pathogens, particularly viral pathogens, are often measured via molecular methods, and the molecular targets (qPCR genome copies) more likely correspond to infectious pathogens in raw wastewater than in treated effluent (Gerba & Betancourt, 2019; Teunis et al., 2020; Thebault et al., 2013). Thus, it is preferred that broadly applicable LRTs are based on reported pathogen densities in untreated municipal wastewater, rather than those in variably treated effluents.

Health Metrics and Benchmarks for Water Reuse

Another important consideration from a risk characterization perspective is the health metric to be addressed. Water reuse QMRAs can use several valid health metrics to evaluate risk.

Infection Health Metric

For drinking water in the United States, microbial risk management has traditionally considered an infection-based health metric (U.S. EPA, 1989, 2006c). A probability of infection risk level (benchmark) of

 10^{-4} infections ppy was suggested for drinking water treatment requirements early in the development of the Surface Water Treatment Rule (SWTR) (Macler & Regli, 1993; Regli et al., 1991). In the SWTR, the EPA indicated that public water supplies should provide a greater level of protection than is necessary to avoid outbreaks (citing estimated infection rates of 50 in 10,000 people or greater reported for Giardia outbreaks in the United States), and stated that "providing treatment to ensure less than one case of microbiologically caused illness per year per 10,000 people is a reasonable goal." Regli et al. (1991) indicated that the 1-in-10,000 (10^{-4}) annual risk target is also "comparable to other acceptable microbiological risk levels" and cited as support the transcript of an expert panel discussion at the 1987 Calgary Giardia Conference (1988). The risk estimates in that discussion ranged over several orders of magnitude, and the expert panel did not attempt to develop a consensus position on a suitable target for drinking water regulations (Sinclair et al., 2015). Although the 10^{-4} infection ppy health benchmark was never formally adopted into U.S. drinking water regulations, it has been adopted by several states in their potable reuse regulation development (Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment, 2023; State of California, 2018; U.S. EPA, 2023). This same metric has also been adopted, or is being considered, for non-potable purposes by numerous states (National Blue Ribbon Commission for Onsite Non-Potable Water Systems, 2023; Sharvelle et al., 2017).

Annual probability of infection has also been used to develop risk-based treatment targets for onsite non-potable reuse (Pecson et al., 2022a; Schoen et al., 2017; Schoen et al., 2023). For these applications, a range of health benchmarks has been evaluated from 10^{-4} – 10^{-2} infections ppy, representing potential involuntary or voluntary exposures based on related metrics for drinking water and recreational water, respectively (Schoen et al., 2017; Sharvelle et al., 2017).

The infection health metric is conservative in that not all infections will progress to illness or negatively affect those exposed. However, this health metric cannot account for differences in disease severity among pathogens (*e.g.*, enteric versus respiratory, self-resolving gastrointestinal illness versus complicated sequelae, antibiotic-susceptible versus resistant), nor be directly compared against other types of risk (*e.g.*, chemical exposures or societal conditions (Murray & Lopez, 1997). Those types of comparisons require a health burden-based health metric as described below (Zou, 2001).

Disability-Adjusted Life Year Health Metric

The DALY metric is a measure of the health burden of illness calculated as the sum of years of life lost (YLL) due to premature death and years of life lived with disability (YLD) from illness (DALY = YLL + YLD) (Murray & Acharya, 1997). The 10^{-6} DALY ppy benchmark has been used by the World Health Organization in setting water reuse and drinking water treatment guidelines, as well as in Australia's risk-based reuse guidelines (National Resource Management Ministerial Council et al., 2006, 2008; World Health Organization, 2006, 2017a, 2017b).

When using a DALY health metric, a QMRA model must include the likelihood of illness expressed as the conditional probability of illness given infection (P(ill|inf)) and the associated health burden of disease expressed as the DALY per case of illness for each reference hazard (Schoen et al., 2023). For norovirus and *C. jejuni*, the P(ill|inf) and infection dose-response relationships were recently re-evaluated using an analytical approach that incorporated both challenge and outbreak data (Teunis et al., 2018; Teunis et al., 2020). In this recent work, the P(ill|inf) was shown to be dose-dependent (*i.e.*, P(ill|inf) increases as

the dose increases). In contrast, the current probability of illness characterization for other enteric reference pathogens (*Cryptosporidium* spp., *Giardia lamblia* and *Salmonella* spp.) is considered to be dose-independent (Boehm et al., 2018; Soller et al., 2015; Soller et al., 2018b; World Health Organization, 2006).

The DALY per case of illness has been estimated for foodborne diseases that include water reuse reference pathogens by subregion of the world (Havelaar et al., 2015). The DALY per case of illness accounts for the severity of a health outcome by using a disability weight in the YLD calculation (*e.g.*, 0.061 for mild diarrhea, 0.445 for Guillain–Barré Syndrome, 1 for death) (Havelaar et al., 2015). The values shown in Table 5 were computed and reported by Schoen et al. (2023) based on the North American estimates presented in Havelaar et al. (2015). For *Giardia lamblia*, they adopted the conservative point estimate of Lagerweij et al. (2020). Adenovirus was not included in the Havelaar et al. (2015) analysis and other data were not readily available to estimate the DALY per case of illness for enteric adenovirus infections.

Reference Pathogen	Units	DALY per Illness ^{a,b}	Reference			
Norovirus	genome copies	PERT(0.001, 0.002,0.003)	Havelaar et al. (2015)			
Cryptosporidium spp.	oocysts	PERT(0.001, 0.002,0.003)	Havelaar et al. (2015)			
Giardia spp.	cysts	0.003	Lagerweij et al. (2020)			
Campylobacter spp.	CFU	PERT(0.02, 0.03, 0.05)	Havelaar et al. (2015)			
Salmonella enterica	CFU	PERT(0.02, 0.03,0.05)	Havelaar et al. (2015)			

Table 5. DALY per illness for water reuse reference pathogens.

^a PERT distribution (minimum, mode, maximum) (Johnson et al., 1995).

^b As reported in Schoen et al. (2023) based on data from Havelaar et al. (2015).

Chapter 7. Water Reuse LRTs

The previous chapters of this document summarized the state of the science for water reuse microbial risk assessment inputs, including key reference pathogens for waterborne QMRA; densities of those reference pathogens in municipal wastewater, graywater, stormwater, combined wastewater, and roof runoff (rainwater); reference pathogen dose-response models and parameter values for probability of infection, conditional probability of illness given infection, and DALY per illness; estimates of ingestion volume for potable reuse, unrestricted irrigation, and non-potable indoor use; and parsimonious risk characterization approaches. The values corresponding to those inputs are provided (Tables 1–5). This chapter presents resulting LRTs using the inputs and the risk characterization approach described previously.

State of the Science Peer-Reviewed LRT Estimates for Water Reuse Applications

The resultant LRTs for onsite non-potable reuse and potable reuse are presented in Table 6 (Jahne et al., 2024; Schoen et al., 2017; Schoen et al., 2023; Soller et al., 2018b). The inputs yielding those LRTs reflect an updated set of enteric water reuse QMRA reference pathogens for untreated municipal wastewater and alternative sources of water, where sufficient data were available, along with their corresponding source densities and current dose-response models (Table 1–Table 5). Additionally, the inputs include a potable ingestion estimate that is consistent with current EPA recommendations (U.S. EPA, 2011, 2019, 2024). Evaluation of both infection and DALY-based health metrics provides a variety of treatment targets aligning with previously used risk management perspectives for water reuse. This allows for consistency with previous risk assessments in the United States (*i.e.*, infection health metric) while also providing an alternative metric for those interested in incorporating the impacts of different diseases (*i.e.*, DALY metric), as is common internationally (World Health Organization, 2006). The resultant LRTs in Table 6 represent the estimated level of treatment required (in log₁₀ reduction units) to yield the corresponding benchmark risk of infection or DALY value, or less, in 95% of the corresponding simulated values.

End Use	Source of Water	Norovirus		Adenovirus		Cryptosporidium spp.		Giardia spp.		Campylobacter spp.		Salmonella spp.	
			LRT _{DALY}		LRT _{DALY}								
Potable use ^{a,b}	Untreated municipal wastewater	14.5	12.5	NSD	NSD	10.5	10.0	9.5	8.5	11.0	7.5	9.5	9.5
	Untreated onsite wastewater	14.5	12.5	NSD	NSD	11.5	11.0	10.0	9.0	12.0	9.5	8.0	8.0
	Graywater	13.0	11.0	NSD	NSD	9.0	8.5	8.0	7.0	9.5	7.5	5.5	5.5
	Stormwater (10% wastewater)	13.5	11.5	NSD	NSD	9.5	9.0	8.5	7.5	10.0	6.5	8.5	8.5
	Roof runoff ^c	n/a	n/a	NSD	NSD	NSD	NSD	5.5	4.5	9.0	6.5	8.0	8.0
Unrestricted access landscape irrigation*	Untreated municipal wastewater	10.0	8.5	NSD	NSD	6.5	6.0	5.5	4.5	6.5	4.0	5.5	5.5
	Untreated onsite wastewater	10.5	8.5	NSD	NSD	7.0	6.5	6.0	5.0	7.5	5.5	3.5	3.5
	Graywater	8.5	6.5	NSD	NSD	4.5	4.0	3.5	2.5	5.5	3.0	1.5	1.5
	Stormwater (10% wastewater)	9.0	7.5	NSD	NSD	5.5	5.0	4.5	3.5	5.5	3.0	4.5	4.5
	Roof runoff ^c	n/a	n/a	NSD	NSD	NSD	NSD	1.5	0.5	5.0	2.5	3.5	3.5
Indoor non-potable use*	Untreated municipal wastewater	10.5	9.0	NSD	NSD	7.5	7.0	6.5	5.5	7.5	5.5	6.5	6.5
	Untreated onsite wastewater	11.5	10.0	NSD	NSD	7.0	6.5	6.5	5.5	7.5	5.5	4.0	4.0
	Graywater	9.0	7.5	NSD	NSD	4.5	4.0	4.0	3.0	5.5	3.5	2.0	1.5
	Stormwater (10% wastewater)	9.5	8.0	NSD	NSD	6.5	6.0	5.5	4.5	6.5	5.0	5.5	5.5
	Roof runoff ^c	n/a	n/a	NSD	NSD	NSD	NSD	2.0	1.0	5.0	3.0	3.5	3.5

Table 6. Summary of state-of-the-science peer-reviewed LRTs for onsite non-potable reuse and potable reuse (adapted from Jahne et al. (2024)).

NSD = not sufficient data to compute LRT; n/a = Not applicable, pathogen not known to be present in source.

* Adapted from Schoen et al. (2017; 2023).

^a Values shown are for DPR; IPR would require the same total reductions but processes other than the advanced treatment facility could be credited.

^b Some potable reuse strategies (*e.g.*, managed aquifer recharge) are addressed by the Safe Drinking Water Act and these LRTs may not apply.

^c Roof runoff LRTs are subject to greater uncertainty than others; refer to Schoen et al. (2017; 2023) for discussion.

There are several notable aspects that underpin the results presented above. First, norovirus is highlighted as the key viral reference pathogen, as it causes more illness than all other known enteric pathogens combined in the United States (Collier et al., 2021; Mead et al., 1999; Scallan et al., 2011). For all sources of water and end uses presented in Table 6, norovirus LRTs are the highest across evaluated pathogens. Thus, including updated dose-response relationships for norovirus infection and illness is an important attribute for water reuse QMRAs and the development of microbial treatment targets. This finding is consistent with prior epidemiological studies (Arnold et al., 2017) and risk evaluations for diverse water sources affected by human contamination (Soller et al., 2010a; Soller et al., 2017b).

The comprehensive inclusion of LRT_{DALY} values using updated morbidity and DALY characterizations (Schoen et al., 2023) is a new development in the United States for water reuse applications that derive from untreated municipal wastewater (Jahne et al., 2024). When comparing LRT_{INF} and LRT_{DALY} , it is noteworthy that the differences between treatment requirements were greater for norovirus and *Campylobacter* spp. compared to other reference pathogens (*i.e.*, the LRT_{DALY} for norovirus and *Campylobacter* spp. are smaller than the LRT_{INF}) due to the dose-dependent illness dose-response models (Schoen et al., 2023). Risk metric selection can thus impact resulting microbial treatment decisions.

Peer-Reviewed Water Reuse LRTs Published Previously

Numerous prior publications have also computed LRTs for water reuse applications. A summary of those publications follows, highlighting which QMRA components or inputs in previous LRT studies differ from those identified in this document. In some cases, those QMRA framework components (*e.g.*, dose-response relationships) were not yet available at the time of publication; in other cases, the authors made alternative choices to those identified here.

Peer-Reviewed Potable Water Reuse LRTs

The current LRT estimates for planned potable reuse applications stem from a series of previously peerreviewed methods and results (Nappier et al., 2018; Soller et al., 2018a; Soller et al., 2019; Soller et al., 2017a). The reference pathogens evaluated in that series of publications include norovirus, adenovirus, *Cryptosporidium* spp., *Giardia* spp., *Campylobacter* spp. and *Salmonella enterica*. A stochastic, static QMRA methodology was used to estimate infection from reference pathogens through ingestion of DPR product water. Mechanistically, the risk characterization methodology used a Monte Carlo simulation approach to generate a distribution of cumulative annual risks of infection due to all of the evaluated pathogens by 1) calculating reference pathogen-specific daily risk estimates; 2) combining pathogenspecific daily risks to generate cumulative daily risk estimates; 3) combining cumulative daily risks to generate a cumulative annual risk estimate; and 4) repeating the process to generate distributions of cumulative annual risk (Soller et al., 2018b). That work suggested that the 10⁻⁴ infection ppy benchmark level of health protection is only consistently achieved (95% of the time or greater) at viral log₁₀ reductions equal to or greater than approximately 14 for viruses (Soller et al., 2018b).

There have also been other LRTs published and used by states for potable reuse, including California's IPR regulations (California Division of Drinking Water, 2014), California's DPR regulations (California Division of Drinking Water, 2021), and a series of LRT calculations related to DPR as summarized by Gerrity and colleagues (Gerrity et al., 2023). California's IPR LRTs were based on point estimate values

(maximum reported values) for culturable enteric viruses, *Cryptosporidium* and *Giardia*. The viral LRTs were computed by coupling the culturable enteric virus concentrations with a dose-response model for rotavirus (California Division of Drinking Water, 2014). These calculations resulted in LRTs of 12/10/10 (virus/*Giardia/Cryptosporidium*) for IPR in California.

California's DPR LRTs were based on point estimate pathogen calculations for norovirus, Cryptosporidium and Giardia. The norovirus concentration was based on a rounded maximum reported value from the literature (Eftim et al., 2017), and the Cryptosporidium and Giardia were the same values used in the IPR LRT calculations. The dose-response model for Giardia was the same as used in the IPR LRT calculations, norovirus was based on the upper bound values reported by Teunis et al. (2008), and Cryptosporidium was based on the work of Messner and Berger (2016a). The corresponding LRTs were 16/10/11, which were then increased by 4 logs to account for treatment unit process failures, yielding final LRTs of 20/14/15. Pecson et al. (2023) reported an alternative set of LRTs (13/10/10 plus 4 log redundancy) that modify the California DPR approach by including probabilistic pathogen distributions, additional dose-response models, and an adjustment factor for virus density data that accounts for culture method limitations. Colorado adopted the California IPR baseline LRTs (12/10/10) for DPR, but also provided flexibility for interested agencies to pursue a treated wastewater effluent alternative with minimum LRTs of 8/6/5.5 (virus/Giardia/Cryptosporidium) (Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment, 2023). These are minimum LRTs; the actual values can be higher based on the results of the site-specific assessment, but they cannot be lower. This treated effluent approach was developed in Texas for the consideration of DPR on a site-specific basis, where the source of water used to determine reference pathogen densities is treated wastewater effluent (Texas Commission on Environmental Quality, 2022; Texas Water Development Board, 2015a).

Finally, a series of LRT calculations for DPR were conducted and reported by Gerrity and colleagues (Gerrity et al., 2023). This work has many similarities to the LRT calculations described above, including the consideration of viral, protozoan and bacterial reference pathogens and overall QMRA-based model structure. However, it diverges in several ways, the most significant of which is the treatment of viral reference pathogens. For example, 1) the reference pathogen densities in Gerrity et al. (2023) are based on a monitoring program conducted in California during the COVID-19 pandemic (Pecson et al., 2022b), which likely underestimates norovirus densities compared to non-pandemic conditions (Wigginton et al., 2021); and 2) norovirus LRT values include hypothetical adjustments of genome copies to infectious virus units (GC:IU) based on the ratios observed for other viruses in the study for which culture methods are more readily available (enterovirus and adenovirus). Although data indicate a potentially wide GC:IU ratio range for the other viruses in raw wastewater (Pecson et al., 2022b), this approach to norovirus characterization is inconsistent with findings of the recent dose-response study based on unadjusted molecular measurements from outbreak and feeding studies (i.e., demonstrating a probability of infection given exposure to a single genome copy of 8-28%, depending on the norovirus genogroup) (Teunis et al., 2020). Dose-response models in Gerrity et al. (2023) were consistent with the selections previously made for California's IPR and DPR LRTs, with additional inclusion of the Teunis et al. (2016) model for adenovirus. Overall, the LRTs presented by Gerrity et al. (2023) (LRTs used the 97.4th percentile of the pathogen concentration values, or roughly two standard deviations above the mean)

are similar to the LRTs presented in Table 6 for *Giardia* spp. (10 logs) and *Cryptosporidium* spp. (10 logs) but are slightly lower for norovirus (13.1 logs).

Peer-Reviewed Onsite Non-Potable Water Reuse LRTs

The Australian government first established risk-based LRTs of enteric pathogens for domestic and municipal uses for stormwater, graywater and blackwater (National Resource Management Ministerial Council et al., 2006, 2009). This work introduced important inputs required for onsite LRT development such as estimates of exposure volumes; however, a simple, deterministic approach was applied that did not account for variability in pathogen density. Additionally, the reference pathogens did not include norovirus, as the dose-response was not available at the time of LRT development. In a review of non-potable LRTs by Schoen and Garland (2017), additional gaps were identified, such as lack of consideration of collection scale, sporadic pathogen occurrence, and exposures resulting from misuse or failure events.

These limitations were rectified by the pathogen reduction targets for onsite water reuse developed by Schoen et al. (2017). In this work, a probabilistic approach was introduced to calculate LRTs for the use of untreated onsite wastewater, graywater, stormwater and roof runoff as sources of water for non-potable reuse applications (Jahne et al., 2023). This effort introduced models to capture the pathogen dynamics of onsite collection scales (Jahne et al., 2017) and was updated by Schoen et al. (2023) to include recent dose response models and report LRTs that account for the severity of illness using DALYs. The onsite LRTs in Table 6 derive from Schoen et al. (2023), with minor modifications to align with the practices herein (Jahne et al., 2024).

Other LRT values have also been published for onsite non-potable reuse applications. Reynaert et al. (2024) extended the Schoen et al. (2017) work and evaluated graywater LRTs using the infection benchmark for small- to medium-scale onsite systems across a wider range of reuse applications with different exposure and pathogen density assumptions. The LRTs for irrigation and indoor use following the 10⁻⁴ infections ppy benchmark are similar to those in Table 6 across pathogens (*e.g.*, 6.8 and 8.7 for norovirus, 4.7 and 6.7 for *Campylobacter* spp., and 3.9 and 5.9 for *Cryptosporidium* spp.).

Additionally, LRTs for infection (10⁻⁴ infections ppy) for the same set of onsite sources of water were evaluated using alternative source water pathogen characterizations (National Water Research Institute, 2021; Pecson et al., 2022a). In Pecson et al. (2022a), dilutions of municipal wastewater pathogen densities from Pecson et al. (2022b) were used to calculate onsite wastewater, graywater and stormwater LRTs, assuming equivalency between onsite and municipal wastewater collections given limited empirical data (Jahne et al., 2023). To determine onsite non-potable LRTs for viruses, Pecson et al. (2022a) used a combination of inputs, including the consideration of culturable adenovirus and a "synthetic virus" which combined properties of several pathogenic waterborne viruses of the enterovirus group (*e.g.*, culturable strains of poliovirus, echovirus, coxsackievirus) for occurrence and rotavirus for the dose-response function. This work indicated that cultivable adenovirus yielded LRT results essentially equivalent to those of the cultivable enterovirus/rotavirus approach in nearly all cases. Given these observations, the authors selected culturable adenovirus as the reference viral pathogen for LRTs. A comprehensive comparison of the Pecson et al. (2022a) and Schoen et al. (2017; 2020a; 2018) work is provided by Jahne et al. (2023).

Chapter 8. Risk Framework Policy Considerations

Key Policy Considerations

The previous chapters of this document summarized the state of the science regarding inputs and numerical approaches that can establish microbial LRTs for a range of water reuse applications. This document strives to present objective scientific information and data to support informed decision-making in the context of water reuse. However, translating risk-based management into practical implementation requires additional considerations for decision-makers, particularly related to health metrics and associated benchmarks.

Health Metrics

Decision-makers need to determine which of the available health metrics suit their needs for circumstances within their specific jurisdictions. Current health metrics for this fit-for-purpose framework include infection and health burden (DALY), with the infection health metric used as the traditional health-based metric in the United States for state-level water reuse applications. The 10⁻⁴ infections ppy was first suggested as a potential health goal for drinking water during development of the SWTR (Macler & Regli, 1993; Regli et al., 1991). Although that health goal was never formally adopted into U.S. drinking water regulations, it has been adopted by several states in their development of potable reuse regulations (Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment, 2023; State of California, 2018; U.S. EPA, 2023). This same metric has also been adopted or is being considered for non-potable purposes by numerous states (National Blue Ribbon Commission for Onsite Non-Potable Water Systems, 2023; Sharvelle et al., 2017). The infection metric can be appealing in its simplicity and historical use, but only accounts for rate of infection and not the amount or severity of disease.

The DALY health metric, accounting for disease severity, is used by the World Health Organization and several countries for water reuse applications (National Resource Management Ministerial Council et al., 2006; World Health Organization, 2017b). It is also currently under consideration by states and codes organizations in the United States for onsite non-potable reuse (National Blue Ribbon Commission for Onsite Non-Potable Water Systems, 2023). This approach has the appealing attribute of accounting for severity of disease and allowing risk comparisons against other public health concerns (*e.g.*, chemical risks, societal impacts). It does, however, require additional data to characterize probability of illness and DALY per illness values, and thus encompasses additional uncertainties. DALYs are also conceptually more complicated than infection metrics and may be more difficult to explain to the public. However, DALYs may be useful in cases when highly infectious organisms that result in generally mild (or self-limiting) illness need to be considered alongside infectious organisms with a lower probability of illness but higher consequences (*e.g., E. coli* O157:H7), or if other risk-based comparisons are needed (*e.g.*, versus the chemical risks of disinfection).

A third health metric, the probability of illness, is used for recreational water criteria in the United States based on epidemiology studies (U.S. EPA, 1986, 2012c). However, illness has not been previously used as a metric for water reuse, nor has a health benchmark for this metric been established for these settings.

Health Benchmark Levels

As with the health metric, determining the most suitable health benchmark levels (*i.e.*, 10^{-2} or 10^{-4} infections ppy) and exposure durations (annual or daily) for a given reuse application is a policy decision.

As indicated previously, a benchmark level of 10^{-4} infections ppy has been adopted by several states for potable reuse. Although drinking water is not regulated strictly on a health benchmark basis, it has been inferred that the potable reuse 10^{-4} infection ppy benchmark is more protective than the guidelines for surface waters used as drinking water sources (Messner & Berger, 2016a; U.S. EPA, 2006c). For potable wastewater reuse, risk managers may choose to apply the benchmark based on the risk of individual pathogens (as reported here) or the cumulative risk from pathogens combined (Soller et al., 2018b); corresponding results for the latter are available in Jahne et al. (2024).

For non-potable uses Schoen et al. (2017; 2023) and others (Jahne et al., 2023; Pecson et al., 2022a; Sharvelle et al., 2017) have published LRTs that correspond to the same 10⁻⁴ infection ppy health benchmark as used for potable reuse. However, LRTs for other benchmark levels (*e.g.*, 10⁻² infection ppy) also have been proposed with a range of justifications (*e.g.*, voluntary versus involuntary exposures) (Sharvelle et al., 2017). Given the framework and data put forward in this review, alternative LRTs can also be computed for other benchmark levels; Jahne et al. (2024) include 10⁻² infection ppy LRTs for non-potable use that utilize the same inputs reported herein.

A related policy issue is whether the annual risk benchmark (10^{-4} infections ppy) should be expressed as its equivalent average daily risk level (*i.e.*, $10^{-4}/365$ days = 2.7×10^{-7} infections ppd). This approach has had limited adoption, with the notable exception of the state of California adopting it in its DPR regulations (California Water Boards, 2024; State of California, 2024). The implications of these annual versus equivalent daily risks are discussed in detail by Gerrity et al. (2023). It is noteworthy that adoption of an equivalent average daily risk level results in a more stringent annual risk, since it is unlikely that each day will exactly reach the daily benchmark.

Another related policy issue is the comparison point in the LRT distribution to the health benchmark level. For example, Table 6 presents the estimated level of treatment required to yield the corresponding benchmark risk of infection or DALY value, or less, in 95% of the corresponding simulated values. The 95th percentile has been used as a comparison point for various other related purposes such as drinking water and prior onsite and potable reuse LRTs. However, other percentiles could also be used to derive LRTs.

Site-Specific Data for a Local Utility or State

The data and information summarized in this review are primarily based on peer-reviewed literature. For source water characterization, another option is for local utilities or states to collect pathogen monitoring data that are specific to their jurisdictions or facilities and to use that data to derive water reuse LRTs. A combination of the data presented in this state of the science review (*e.g.,* exposure and dose-response models) and jurisdiction-specific data may then be considered in a QMRA to develop appropriate LRTs. For example, prior to the publication of this review, the state of California developed and supported a wastewater monitoring campaign to facilitate the development of DPR regulations (California Water Boards, 2024). Decision-makers will need to weigh the value and costs associated with such an effort and determine the representative monitoring scheme (Jahne et al., 2024; U.S. EPA, 2019, 2024).

Additional LRTs for Redundancy or Equivalent Safeguards Against Off-Spec Conditions The presented LRTs (Table 6) represent calculated minimum pathogen removals and are scientifically derived starting points for developing risk-based treatment decisions. However, these LRTs are largely based on nominal performance and do not explicitly account for off-specification conditions. These offspecification conditions are known to occur, typically are of short duration (*i.e.*, minutes to hours), and can have important impacts on net annual risks (Salveson et al., 2018). Non-potable LRTs for indoor use account for a rare cross-connection event that also protects against other failure types; Schoen et al. (2018) summarize the modeled failure durations, magnitudes and exposure durations at which risk benchmarks may be exceeded. For DPR, where the time between water treatment and exposure is short, the inclusion of redundancy in treatment has been suggested as an approach to ensure health protection during periods of sub-nominal performance (e.g., 4-logs added to LRTs to ensure redundancy against undetected failures) (California Water Boards, 2024; Pecson et al., 2023; Soller et al., 2018a; State of California, 2024). Similar redundancy considerations are acutely notable for onsite potable reuse systems, where their decentralized nature presents additional challenges for operations management, monitoring and oversight (Sharvelle et al., 2017). Decision-makers must consider whether additional LRTs or other safeguards (e.g., an engineered storage buffer with diversion capability) are needed in their jurisdictions for water reuse applications.

Inclusion of Enteric Bacteria LRTs

As noted in Chapter 2, pathogenic enteric bacteria are an important class of reference pathogens to consider during risk-based water reuse management. However, enteric bacteria may be easier to remove than viruses and protozoa due to their relative size and biological composition (Jahne et al., 2023; National Research Council, 2012). Additionally, disinfection processes generally require the same or lower doses for enteric bacteria relative to viral pathogens (Hijnen et al., 2006; WaterSecure, 2017a, p. 17; 2017b, p. 33). Accordingly, the SWTR and California's water reuse regulations assume that treatment for the other pathogen classes also effectively manages the risks of enteric bacteria (California Water Boards, 2023; Macler & Regli, 1992; Pecson et al., 2022a; Regli et al., 1991; State Water Resources Control Board, 2018). Other guidances have included bacteria explicitly, particularly considering alternative sources of water where robust virus treatment or a residual disinfectant may not be required (*e.g.*, roof runoff) (Jahne et al., 2023; Sharvelle et al., 2017). However, enteric bacteria are generally not included in existing pathogen reduction crediting frameworks, presenting practical challenges to LRT implementation (Jahne et al., 2023).

Chapter 9. Water Reuse QMRA Research Needs

Review and consideration of the previously presented material provides a robust and flexible fit-forpurpose QMRA framework that is supported by peer-reviewed literature. A key advantage of the described QMRA framework is that it is adaptable to evolving information regarding model inputs. Hence, the current LRT estimates can be periodically revisited and revised as salient new data are collected. The summary of information provided in this review suggests several notable research needs with respect to deriving LRTs for water reuse applications.

Dose-Dependent P(ill | inf) for Other Reference Pathogens

As indicated in the dose-response chapter (Chapter 5), recent publications have shown P(ill|inf) is dose dependent for both norovirus and *C. jejuni* (Teunis et al., 2018; Teunis et al., 2020). This phenomenon had been previously suggested (Teunis et al., 1996), but most waterborne QMRA studies have adopted a dose-independent approach (Haas et al., 1999) given a lack of definitive evidence on the topic. For example, early *C. jejuni* analyses revealed a non-monotonic dose dependence (Teunis et al., 2005). Nevertheless, the recent analyses raise the question as to whether P(ill|inf) might be dose dependent for the other waterborne QMRA reference pathogens, and whether QMRAs that address illness (*e.g.*, DALY-based) could be updated in this regard (Schoen et al., 2023). Additionally, continued improvement in the understanding of the health burden associated with illness (DALY per illness) for all reference pathogens is needed to ensure that future estimates fully account for impacts on susceptible subpopulations.

Additional Data Collection on Pathogen Densities in Sources of Water

As described in Chapter 3, empirical pathogen data for onsite-collected waters remain extremely limited, necessitating various assumptions and modeling approaches to generate QMRA inputs. Additional measurements of onsite wastewater, graywater, stormwater and roof runoff across multiple sites and conditions (or site-specific assessments) would serve to validate, update or ultimately replace existing models. However, improved method detection limits may be necessary to fully characterize pathogen density distributions (Jahne et al., 2020). Alternatively, data inputs to existing modeling approaches could themselves be updated. For example, additional data on zoonotic pathogens in animal feces could improve the roof runoff contamination model (Schoen et al., 2017) and new approaches to stormwater contamination assessment (*e.g.*, use of human-specific microbial source tracking markers) could improve its pathogen characterization relative to sewage (Alja'fari et al., 2022). While robust studies of municipal wastewater have been conducted (*e.g.*, State of California (WateReuse Research Foundation, 2021)), they remain limited to certain geographic areas and timepoints that may not be broadly representative of nominal conditions in the United States. New data collections also offer methodological benefits, since many of the data points used in current models do not reflect contemporary advances in sample processing and microbiological analysis methods.

Viral Characterization and Dose-Response

There is a current effort in the scientific community to develop a readily culturable quantification method for norovirus in water (Ettayebi et al., 2016; Ettayebi et al., 2021; Jones et al., 2015; Wales et al., 2024). The ability to characterize culturable noroviruses in water would be a significant enhancement from the current science, as it could help resolve questions about viability and infectivity of norovirus in water matrices. In particular, outstanding questions about norovirus viability after water treatment processes could be addressed using a readily culturable method. However, norovirus infection and illness dose-response relationships are based on molecular pathogen characterizations (Teunis et al., 2020), presenting critical challenges for the direct use of culturable norovirus measurements to evaluate risks of infection and illness with existing dose-response data.

Additionally, there is a need to improve understanding of the dose-response relationship for enteric adenoviruses. As noted previously, adenovirus LRTs were not included here due to limitations in the

dose-response relationships; most critically, there is a lack of available data for the types causing gastrointestinal illness via an ingestion pathway (Teunis et al., 2016). New dose-response studies for enteric adenoviruses could revise this approach, particularly considering the biological and treatability characteristics that make them an attractive reference pathogen (Jahne et al., 2024).

Allocating Log Reduction Credits (LRCs) and Monitoring to Meet Log₁₀ Reduction Targets

The LRTs described above identify the amount of treatment (in units of log₁₀ reduction) needed for each combination of source of water and end use application. However, LRTs are the first of two important components that are required to implement a risk-based framework. The second component includes allocating reduction "credits" to each unit process within a treatment facility. This log reduction crediting process facilitates the design of treatment trains for producing water that can be used for the intended application. Before log reduction credit (LRC) allocations for individual unit processes are adjusted or alternative unit treatment processes are substituted, it is important to ensure confidence and accuracy in the minimum reductions consistently provided by a treatment process (Nappier et al., 2018). It is notable that LRTs and LRCs are both typically based on the high-risk end of their respective probability distributions (*e.g.*, 95th percentile risk estimate and 5th percentile performance), providing a conservative level of protection (Sharvelle et al., 2017; Water Research Foundation, 2023).

Determining LRCs creates important research opportunities, as it is critical to ensure that LRTs are achieved for broad classes of pathogens of concern. For example, this may be achieved by using culturable, treatment-resistant viruses when assessing viral LRCs (Jahne et al., 2024), and may include non-pathogenic microbial surrogates (Nappier et al., 2018; WateReuse Research Foundation, 2013). Log reduction value crediting frameworks for enteric bacteria are generally unavailable and remain an outstanding need for practical implementation of bacterial LRTs in jurisdictions that choose to include them (Jahne et al., 2023).

Additionally, it is important to differentiate between the actual level of pathogen removal and that which may be rapidly and continuously demonstrated through monitoring (Pecson et al., 2017). In lieu of direct pathogen measurements (*e.g.*, enumeration of pathogenic viruses after advanced treatment) which are prohibitively challenging with current technology, surrogates may be used at critical control points to provide continuous evaluation of system performance. In this context, surrogates and associated removal crediting frameworks for water reuse unit treatment processes are needed to LRV.

Citations

- Abubakar, I., Aliyu, S. H., Arumugam, C., Usman, N. K., & Hunter, P. R. (2007). Treatment of cryptosporidiosis in immunocompromised individuals: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, *63*(4), 387–393. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2125.2007.02873.x</u>
- Ahmed, W., Schoen, M. E., Soller, J., Harrison, J. C., Hamilton, K. A., Gebrwold, M., Simpson, S. L., Payyappat, S., Cassidy, M., Harrison, N., & Besley, C. (2024). Site-specific risk-based threshold (RBT) concentrations for sewage-associated markers in estuarine swimming waters. *Science of the Total Environment*, 929, 172448. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2024.172448</u>
- Alja'fari, J., Sharvelle, S., Brinkman, N. E., Jahne, M., Keely, S., Wheaton, E. A., Garland, J., Welty, C., Sukop, M. C., & Meixner, T. (2022). Characterization of roof runoff microbial quality in four U.S. cities with varying climate and land use characteristics. *Water Research*, 225, 119123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2022.119123</u>
- Amoueyan, E., Ahmad, S., Eisenberg, J. N. S., & Gerrity, D. (2019). Equivalency of indirect and direct potable reuse paradigms based on a quantitative microbial risk assessment framework.
 Microbial Risk Analysis, 12, 60–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mran.2019.06.003</u>
- Amoueyan, E., Ahmad, S., Eisenberg, J. N. S., Pecson, B., & Gerrity, D. (2017). Quantifying pathogen risks associated with potable reuse: A risk assessment case study for *Cryptosporidium*. *Water Research*, 119, 252–266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.04.048</u>
- Anderson, R. M., & May, R. (1991). *Infectious diseases of humans: Dynamics and control*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Antony, A., Branch, A., Leslie, G., & Le-Clech, P. (2016). Impact of membrane ageing on reverse osmosis performance—Implications on validation protocol. *Journal of Membrane Science*, *520*, 37–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2016.07.036</u>
- Appelbee, A. J., Thompson, R. C., & Olson, M. E. (2005). *Giardia* and *Cryptosporidium* in mammalian wildlife—current status and future needs. *Trends in Parasitology*, *21*(8), 370–376. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pt.2005.06.004</u>
- Arden, S., Morelli, B., Schoen, M., Cashman, S., Jahne, M., Ma, X. C., & Garland, J. (2020). Human health, economic and environmental assessment of onsite non-potable water reuse systems for a large, mixed-use urban building. *Sustainability*, 12(13), 5459. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su12135459</u>
- Armstrong, T. W., & Haas, C. N. (2008). Legionnaires' disease: Evaluation of a quantitative microbial risk assessment model. *Journal of Water and Health*, *6*(2), 149–166. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2008.026
- Arnold, B. F., Schiff, K. C., Ercumen, A., Benjamin-Chung, J., Steele, J. A., Griffith, J. F., Steinberg, S. J., Smith, P., McGee, C. D., Wilson, R., Nelsen, C., Weisberg, S. B., & Colford, J. M., Jr. (2017). Acute illness among surfers after exposure to seawater in dry- and wet-weather conditions. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 186(7), 866–875. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwx019</u>
- Asano, T., Leong, L. Y. C., Rigby, M. G., & Sakaji, R. (1992). Evaluation of the California wastewater reclamation criteria using enteric virus monitoring data. *Water Science and Technology*, *26*, 1513–1524.
- Atmar, R. L., Opekun, A. R., Gilger, M. A., Estes, M. K., Crawford, S. E., Neill, F. H., Ramani, S., Hill, H., Ferreira, J., & Graham, D. Y. (2014). Determination of the 50% human infectious dose for Norwalk virus. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 209(7), 1016–1022. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jit620</u>
- Aw, T. G., & Gin, K. Y. (2010). Environmental surveillance and molecular characterization of human enteric viruses in tropical urban wastewaters. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *109*(2), 716–730. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2010.04701.x</u>

- Barker, S. F., Packer, M., Scales, P. J., Gray, S., Snape, I., & Hamilton, A. J. (2013). Pathogen reduction requirements for direct potable reuse in Antarctica: Evaluating human health risks in small communities. *Science of the Total Environment*, 461–462, 723–733. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.05.059
- Benton, W. H., & Hurst, C. J. (1986). Evaluation of mixed cell types and 5-iodo-2'-deoxyuridine treatment upon plaque assay titers of human enteric viruses. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 51(5), 1036–1040. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.51.5.1036-1040.1986</u>
- Bitton, G. (2005). Wastewater microbiology (3rd ed.). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Black, R. E., Levine, M. M., Clements, M. L., Hughes, T. P., & Blaser, M. J. (1988). Experimental *Campylobacter jejuni* infection in humans. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *157*(3), 472–479. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list</u> <u>uids=3343522</u>
- Blatchley, E. R., 3rd, Gong, W. L., Alleman, J. E., Rose, J. B., Huffman, D. E., Otaki, M., & Lisle, J. T. (2007). Effects of wastewater disinfection on waterborne bacteria and viruses. *Water Environment Research*, 79(1), 81–92. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17290975</u>
- Bloetscher, F., Meeroff, D., Long, S. C., & Dudle, J. D. (2020a). Demonstrating the benefits of predictive Bayesian dose-response relationships using six exposure studies of *Cryptosporidium parvum*. *Risk Analysis*, 40(11), 2442–2461. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.13552</u>
- Bloetscher, F., Meeroff, D., Long, S. C., & Dudle, J. D. (2020b). Demonstrating the benefits of predictive Bayesian dose–response relationships using six exposure studies of *Cryptosporidium parvum*. *Risk Analysis*, 40(11), 2442–2461. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.13552</u>
- Boehm, A. B., Graham, K. E., & Jennings, W. C. (2018). Can we swim yet? Systematic review, metaanalysis, and risk assessment of aging sewage in surface waters. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 52(17), 9634–9645. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b01948</u>
- Boehm, A. B., Silverman, A. I., Schriewer, A., & Goodwin, K. (2019). Systematic review and meta-analysis of decay rates of waterborne mammalian viruses and coliphages in surface waters. *Water Research*, 164, 114898. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.114898</u>
- Bonadonna, L., Briancesco, R., Cataldo, C., Divizia, M., Donia, D., & Pana, A. (2002). Fate of bacterial indicators, viruses and protozoan parasites in a wastewater multi-component treatment system. *New Microbiologica*, *25*(4), 413.
- Bosch, A. (1998). Human enteric viruses in the water environment: A minireview. *International Microbiology*, 1(3), 191–196.
- Brown, K. I., Graham, K. E., & Boehm, A. B. (2017). Risk-based threshold of gull-associated fecal marker concentrations for recreational water. *Environmental Science & Technology Letters*, 4(2), 44–48. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.6b00473
- Buchanan, R. L., Lammerding, A. M., Clarke, I. R., van Schothorst, M., & Roberts, T. A. (1998). Potential application of risk assessment techniques to microbiological issues related to international trade in food and food products. *Journal of Food Protection*, *61*(8), 1075–1086.
- Buchanan, R. L., Smith, J. L., & Long, W. (2000). Microbial risk assessment: Dose-response relations and risk characterization. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, *58*(3), 159–172.
- California Division of Drinking Water. (2014). *Groundwater replenishment reuse regulations*. California State Water Resources Control Board.
- California Division of Drinking Water. (2021). DPR framework 2nd edition addendum—Early draft of anticipated criteria for direct potable reuse. <u>https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking_water/certlic/drinkingwater/docs/2021/aug2021add</u> endum_ep.pdf
- California Water Boards. (2023). Initial Statement of Reasons: Direct Potable Reuse Regulations Title 22, California Code of Regulations.

https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking_water/certlic/drinkingwater/docs/rulemaking/dpr_d raft_isor.pdf

- California Water Boards. (2024). DPH-14-003E Groundwater replenishment using recycled water. <u>https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking_water/certlic/drinkingwater/DPH-14-</u> <u>003EGroundwaterReplenishmentUsingRecycledWater.html</u>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2008). Surveillance for waterborne-disease and outbreaks associated with recreational water use and other aquatic facilities—United States, 2005–2006. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, *57*(SS-9), 1–72.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2024a). *About parasites*. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/parasites/about/index.html</u>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2024b). *Campylobacteriosis: CDC yellow book 2024*. <u>https://wwwnc.cdc.gov/travel/yellowbook/2024/infections-diseases/campylobacteriosis</u>
- Chappell, C. L., Okhuysen, P. C., Sterling, C. R., & DuPont, H. L. (1996). *Cryptosporidium parvum*: Intensity of infection and oocyst excretion patterns in healthy volunteers. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, *173*(1), 232–236.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list _uids=8537664

- Chaudhry, R. M., Hamilton, K. A., Haas, C. N., & Nelson, K. L. (2017). Drivers of microbial risk for direct potable reuse and de facto reuse treatment schemes: The impacts of source water quality and blending. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *14*, 635. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14060635
- Chauret, C., Armstrong, N., Fisher, J., Sharma, R., Springthorpe, S., & Sattar, S. (1995). Correlating *Cryptosporidium* and *Giardia* with microbial indicators. *Journal of the American Water Works Association*, 87(11), 76–84.
- Collier, S. A., Deng, L., Adam, E. A., Benedict, K. M., Beshearse, E. M., Blackstock, A. J., Bruce, B. B., Derado, G., Edens, C., Fullerton, K. E., Gargano, J. W., Geissler, A. L., Hall, A. J., Havelaar, A. H., Hill, V. R., Hoekstra, R. M., Reddy, S. C., Scallan, E., Stokes, E. K.,...Beach, M. J. (2021). Estimate of burden and direct healthcare cost of infectious waterborne disease in the United States. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 27(1), 140–149. <u>https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2701.190676</u>
- Collins, J. P., Shah, H. J., Weller, D. L., Ray, L. C., Smith, K., McGuire, S., Trevejo, R. T., Jervis, R. H., Vugia, D. J., Rissman, T., Garman, K. N., Lathrop, S., LaClair, B., Boyle, M. M., Harris, S., Kufel, J. Z., Tauxe, R. V., Bruce, B. B., Rose, E. B.,...Payne, D. C. (2022). Preliminary incidence and trends of infections caused by pathogens transmitted commonly through food—foodborne diseases active surveillance network, 10 U.S. sites, 2016–2021. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 71(40), 1260–1264. <u>https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7140a2</u>

Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment. (2023). 5 CCR 1002-11: Regulation No. 11— Colorado Primary Drinking Water Regulations. https://www.coloradosos.gov/CCR/DisplayRule.do?action=ruleinfo&ruleId=3179&deptID=16&a gencyID=132&deptName=Department%20of%20Public%20Health%20and%20Environment&age ncyName=Water%20Quality%20Control%20Commission%20(1002%20Series)&seriesNum=5%20 CCR%201002-11

Cooper, R. C. (1991). Public health concerns in wastewater reuse. *Water Science and Technology*, 24(9), 55–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.1991.0235</u>

Couch, R. B., Cate, T. R., Douglas, R. G., Jr., Gerone, P. J., & Knight, V. (1966). Effect of route of inoculation on experimental respiratory viral disease in volunteers and evidence for airborne transmission. *Bacteriological Reviews*, *30*(3), 517–529.
 <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list</u>uids=5920335

- Couch, R. B., Chanock, R. M., Cate, T. R., Lang, D. J., Knight, V., & Huebner, R. J. (1963). Immunization with types 4 and 7 adenovirus by selective infection of the intestinal tract. *American Review of Respiratory Disease*, *88*, SUPPL 394–403. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14064954</u>
- Couch, R. B., Knight, V., Douglas, R. G. J., Black, S. H., & Hamory, B. H. (1969). The minimal infectious dose of adenovirus type 4; The case for natural transmission by viral aerosol. *Transactions of the American Clinical and Climatological Association*, *80*, 205–211.
- Crabtree, K. D., Gerba, C. P., Rose, J. B., & Haas, C. N. (1997). Waterborne adenovirus: A risk assessment. Water Science and Technology 35(11–12), 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0273-1223(97)00225-4</u>
- Crabtree, K. D., Ruskin, R. H., Shaw, S. B., & Rose, J. B. (1996). The detection of Cryptosporidium oocysts and Giardia cysts in cistern water in the U.S. Virgin Islands. *Water Research*, 30(1), 208-216. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(95)00100-Y</u>
- Crockett, C. S. (2007). The role of wastewater treatment in protecting water supplies against emerging pathogens. *Water Environment Research*, *79*(3), 221–232. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17469654
- Darby, E., Olivieri, A., Haas, C., Di Giovanni, G., Jakubowski, W., Leddy, M., Nelson, K. L., Rock, C., Slifko, T., & Pecson, B. M. (2023). Identifying and aggregating high-quality pathogen data: A new approach for potable reuse regulatory development. *Environmental Science: Water Research & Technology*, 9(6), 1646–1653. https://doi.org/10.1039/D3EW00131H
- de Man, H., Bouwknegt, M., van Heijnsbergen, E., Leenen, E. J., van Knapen, F., & de Roda Husman, A.
 M. (2014a). Health risk assessment for splash parks that use rainwater as source water. Water Research, 54, 254–261. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.02.010</u>
- de Man, H., Heederik, D. D., Leenen, E. J., de Roda Husman, A. M., Spithoven, J. J., & van Knapen, F. (2014b). Human exposure to endotoxins and fecal indicators originating from water features. *Water Research*, *51*, 198–205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.10.057</u>
- de Man, H., van den Berg, H. H., Leenen, E. J., Schijven, J. F., Schets, F. M., van der Vliet, J. C., van Knapen, F., & de Roda Husman, A. M. (2014c). Quantitative assessment of infection risk from exposure to waterborne pathogens in urban floodwater. *Water Research, 48*, 90–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.09.022
- Deere, D. A., Davison, A., Teunis, P., Cunliffe, D., & Donlon, P. (2004). *Health risk assessment of fire fighting from recycled water mains, water services of Australia*.
- Dudley, R. H., Hekimian, K. K., & Mechalas, B. J. (1976). A scientific basis for determining recreational water quality criteria. *Journal (Water Pollution Control Federation)*, 48(12), 2661–2677. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=1003672</u>
- DuPont, H. L., Chappell, C. L., Sterling, C. R., Okhuysen, P. C., Rose, J. B., & Jakubowski, W. (1995). The infectivity of *Cryptosporidium parvum* in healthy volunteers. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *332*(13), 855–859.
- Eftim, S. E., Hong, T., Soller, J., Boehm, A., Warren, I., Ichida, A., & Nappier, S. P. (2017). Occurrence of norovirus in raw sewage—A systematic literature review and meta-analysis. *Water Research*, *111*, 366–374. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.01.017</u>
- Eischeid, A. C., Meyer, J. N., & Linden, K. G. (2009). UV disinfection of adenoviruses: Molecular indications of DNA damage efficiency. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 75(1), 23–28. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02199-08
- Eisenberg, J. N., Brookhart, M. A., Rice, G., Brown, M., & Colford, J. M., Jr. (2002). Disease transmission models for public health decision making: Analysis of epidemic and endemic conditions caused by waterborne pathogens. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *110*(8), 783.

- Eisenberg, J. N. S., Seto, E. Y. W., Colford, J. M., Olivieri, A. W., & Spear, R. C. (1998). An analysis of the Milwaukee cryptosporidiosis outbreak based on a dynamic model of the infection process. *Epidemiology*, 9(3), 255–263.
- Eisenberg, J. N. S., Seto, E. Y. W., Olivieri, A. W., & Spear, R. C. (1996). Quantifying water pathogen risk in an epidemiological framework. *Risk Analysis*, *16*(4), 549–563.
- Englehardt, J. D., & Swartout, J. (2004). Predictive population dose-response assessment for *Cryptosporidium parvum*: Infection endpoint. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A, 67*(8–10), 651–666. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15287390490428080</u>
- Englehardt, J. D., & Swartout, J. (2006). Predictive Bayesian microbial dose-response assessment based on suggested self-organization in primary illness response: *Cryptosporidium parvum*. *Risk Analysis*, *26*(2), 543–554.
- Enriquez, V., Rose, J. B., Enriquez, C. E., & Gerba, C. P. (1995). Occurrence of *Cryptosporidium* and *Giardia* in secondary and tertiary wastewater effluents. In W. Betts, B. Casemore, C. R. Fricker, H. Smith, & J. Watkins (Eds.), *Protozoan Parasites and Water* (pp. 84–86). The Royal Society of Chemistry, Thomas Graham House, Science Park.
- Ettayebi, K., Crawford, S. E., Murakami, K., Broughman, J. R., Karandikar, U., Tenge, V. R., Neill, F. H.,
 Blutt, S. E., Zeng, X. L., Qu, L., Kou, B., Opekun, A. R., Burrin, D., Graham, D. Y., Ramani, S., Atmar,
 R. L., & Estes, M. K. (2016). Replication of human noroviruses in stem cell-derived human
 enteroids. *Science*, *353*(6306), 1387–1393. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf5211</u>
- Ettayebi, K., Tenge, V. R., Cortes-Penfield, N. W., Crawford, S. E., Neill, F. H., Zeng, X. L., Yu, X., Ayyar, B.
 V., Burrin, D., Ramani, S., Atmar, R. L., & Estes, M. K. (2021). New insights and enhanced human norovirus cultivation in human intestinal enteroids. *mSphere*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.1128/mSphere.01136-20
- Farber, J. M., Ross, W. H., & Harwig, J. (1996). Health risk assessment of *Listeria monocytogenes* in Canada. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, *30*(1–2), 145–156.
- Fazil, A. (1996). *A quantitative risk assessment model for Salmonella* [PhD dissertation, Drexel University]. Philadelphia, PA.
- Fishman, G. S. (1995). *Monte Carlo: Concepts, algorithms, and applications*. Springer.
- Formiga-Cruz, M., Hundesa, A., Clemente-Casares, P., Albinana-Gimenez, N., Allard, A., & Girones, R. (2005). Nested multiplex PCR assay for detection of human enteric viruses in shellfish and sewage. *Journal of Virological Methods*, 125(2), 111–118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2005.01.009</u>
- Frerichs, R. R. (1984). Epidemiologic monitoring of possible health reactions of wastewater reuse. *Science of the Total Environment*, *32*(3), 353–363. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6710131</u>
- Fuhs, O. W. (1975). A probabilistic model of bathing beach safety. *Science of the Total Environment*, 4(2), 165–175.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list _uids=1179204

- García-Aljaro, C., Bonjoch, X., & Blanch, A. R. (2005). Combined use of an immunomagnetic separation method and immunoblotting for the enumeration and isolation of *Escherichia coli* O157 in wastewaters. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, *98*(3), 589–597. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2004.02497.x</u>
- Geldreich, E. E. (1978). Bacterial populations and indicator concepts in feces, sewage, stormwater and solid wastes. In G. Berg (Ed.), *Indicators of Viruses in Water and Food*. Ann Arbor Science.
- Gerba, C. P., & Betancourt, W. Q. (2019). Assessing the occurrence of waterborne viruses in reuse systems: Analytical limits and needs. *Pathogens*, *8*(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens8030107

- Gerba, C. P., & Betancourt, W. Q. (2023). Advancing safety and reliability to protect public health: Identifying quantitative reductions of viral pathogens and surrogates for water reuse applications. Arizona Water Reuse 2023 Symposium, Flagstaff, Arizona. <u>https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fo/zs3jde3jos0ffgoss2vxx/h?dl=0&e=1&preview=Session+3A+-</u> <u>+Reuse+Research+Panel_CharlesGerba.pdf&rlkey=tpnpaxygdcscdsqg7oe55ipxh</u>
- Gerba, C. P., Betancourt, W. Q., & Kitajima, M. (2017). How much reduction of virus is needed for recycled water: A continuous changing need for assessment? *Water Research*, 108, 25–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.11.020</u>
- Gerba, C. P., Betancourt, W. Q., Kitajima, M., & Rock, C. M. (2018). Reducing uncertainty in estimating virus reduction by advanced water treatment processes. *Water Research*, 133, 282–288. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.01.044</u>
- Gerba, C. P., Castro-Del Campo, N., Brooks, J. P., & Pepper, I. L. (2008). Exposure and risk assessment of Salmonella in recycled residuals. Water Science and Technology, 57(7), 1061–1065. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list</u> <u>uids=18441433</u>
- Gerba, C. P., Rose, J. B., Haas, C. N., & Crabtree, K. D. (1996). Waterborne rotavirus: A risk assessment. *Water Research*, *30*(12), 2929–2940.
- Gerdes, M. E., Miko, S., Kunz, J. M., Hannapel, E. J., Hlavsa, M. C., Hughes, M. J., Stuckey, M. J., Francois Watkins, L. K., Cope, J. R., Yoder, J. S., Hill, V. R., & Collier, S. A. (2023). Estimating waterborne infectious disease burden by exposure route, United States, 2014. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 29(7), 1357–1366. <u>https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2907.230231</u>
- Gerrity, D., Crank, K., Steinle-Darling, E., & Pecson, B. M. (2023). Establishing pathogen log reduction value targets for direct potable reuse in the United States. *American Water Works Association Water Science*, *5*(5), e1353. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/aws2.1353</u>
- Gerrity, D., Papp, K., & Pecson, B. M. (2022). Pathogen peak "averaging" in potable reuse systems: Lessons learned from wastewater surveillance of SARS-CoV-2. ACS ES&T Water, 2(11), 1863– 1870. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acsestwater.1c00378</u>
- Geyer, C. J. (1992). Practical Markov chain Monte Carlo. *Statistical Science*, 7(4), 473–483. https://doi.org/10.1214/ss/1177011137
- Gilks, W. R., Richardson, S., & Spiegelhalter, D. J. (1996). *Markov chain Monte Carlo in practice*. Chapman and Hall.
- Grimason, A. M., Wiandt, S., Baleux, B., Thitai, W. N., Bontoux, J., & Smith, H. V. (1996). Occurrence and removal of *Giardia* sp. cysts by Kenyan and French waste stabilization pond systems. *Water Science and Technology*, *33*(7), 83–89.
- Haas, C. N. (1983). Estimation of risk due to low doses of microorganisms: A comparison of alternative methodologies. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *55*, 573–582.
- Haas, C. N., Crockett, C. S., Rose, J. B., Gerba, C. P., & Fazil, A. M. (1996). Assessing the risks posed by oocysts in drinking water. *Journal of the American Water Works Association*, *88*(9), 131.
- Haas, C. N., Rose, J. B., & Gerba, C. P. (1999). *Quantitative microbial risk assessment*. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Haas, C. N., Rose, J. B., & Gerba, C. P. (2014). *Quantitative microbial risk assessment* (2nd ed.). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Hall, A. J., Lopman, B. A., Payne, D. C., Patel, M. M., Gastanaduy, P. A., Vinje, J., & Parashar, U. D. (2013). Norovirus disease in the United States. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 19(8), 1198–1205. <u>https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1908.130465</u>
- Hambly, A. C., Henderson, R. K., Baker, A., Stuetz, R. M., & Khan, S. J. (2012). Cross-connection detection in Australian dual reticulation systems by monitoring inherent fluorescent organic matter.

Environmental Technology Reviews, 1(1), 67–80. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2012.696724

- Hamilton, K. A., Ciol Harrison, J., Mitchell, J., Weir, M., Verhougstraete, M., Haas, C. N., Nejadhashemi, A. P., Libarkin, J., Gim Aw, T., Bibby, K., Bivins, A., Brown, J., Dean, K., Dunbar, G., Eisenberg, J. N. S., Emelko, M., Gerrity, D., Gurian, P. L., Hartnett, E.,...Rose, J. B. (2024). Research gaps and priorities for quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA). *Risk Analysis*, 44(11), 2521–2536. https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.14318
- Hamilton, K. A., Parrish, K., Ahmed, W., & Haas, C. N. (2018). Assessment of water quality in roofharvested rainwater barrels in Greater Philadelphia. *Water*, 10(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/w10020092</u>
- Harwood, V. J., Levine, A. D., Scott, T. M., Chivukula, V., Lukasik, J., Farrah, S. R., & Rose, J. B. (2005). Validity of the indicator organism paradigm for pathogen reduction in reclaimed water and public health protection. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *71*(6), 3163–3170. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list</u> <u>uids=15933017</u>
- Hastings, W. K. (1970). Monte Carlo sampling methods using Markov chains and their applications. *Biometrika*, 57(1), 97–109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/biomet/57.1.97</u>
- Havelaar, A. H., Kirk, M. D., Torgerson, P. R., Gibb, H. J., Hald, T., Lake, R. J., Praet, N., Bellinger, D. C., de Silva, N. R., Gargouri, N., Speybroeck, N., Cawthorne, A., Mathers, C., Stein, C., Angulo, F. J., & Devleesschauwer, B. (2015). World Health Organization global estimates and regional comparisons of the burden of foodborne disease in 2010. *PLoS Medicine*, *12*(12), e1001923. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001923
- Hethcote, H. (1976). Qualitative analyses of communicable disease models. *Mathematical Biosciences*, 28, 335–356.
- Hethcote, H. W. (2000). The mathematics of infectious diseases. *Siam Review 42*(4), 599–653.
- Hewitt, J., Leonard, M., Greening, G. E., & Lewis, G. D. (2011). Influence of wastewater treatment process and the population size on human virus profiles in wastewater. *Water Research*, 45(18), 6267–6276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2011.09.029</u>
- Hijnen, W. A., Beerendonk, E. F., & Medema, G. J. (2006). Inactivation credit of UV radiation for viruses, bacteria and protozoan (oo)cysts in water: A review. *Water Research*, 40(1), 3–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2005.10.030</u>
- Hill, T. P., & Miller, J. (2011). How to combine independent data sets for the same quantity. *Chaos: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Nonlinear Science*, *21*(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3593373</u>
- Hitchcock, G., Tyrrell, D. A., & Bynoe, M. L. (1960). Vaccination of man with attenuated live adenovirus. Journal of Hygiene, 58(3), 277–282. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0022172400038389</u>
- Hlavsa, M. C., Roberts, V. A., Kahler, A. M., Hilborn, E. D., Mecher, T. R., Beach, M. J., Wade, T. J., & Yoder, J. S. (2015). Outbreaks of illness associated with recreational water—United States, 2011–2012. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, *64*(24), 668–672. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26110837
- Hlavsa, M. C., Roberts, V. A., Kahler, A. M., Hilborn, E. D., Wade, T. J., Backer, L. C., & Yoder, J. S. (2014). Recreational water-associated disease outbreaks—United States, 2009–2010. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 63(1), 6–10. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24402466</u>
- Hurst, C. J., McClellan, K. A., & Benton, W. H. (1988). Comparison of cytopathogenicity, immunofluorescence and in situ DNA hybridization as methods for the detection of adenoviruses. *Water Research*, *22*(12), 1547–1552.
- Irving, L. G., & Smith, F. A. (1981). One-year survey of enteroviruses, adenoviruses, and reoviruses isolated from effluent at an activated-sludge purification plant. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 51–59.

- Jahne, M. A., Brinkman, N. E., Keely, S. P., Zimmerman, B. D., Wheaton, E. A., & Garland, J. L. (2020). Droplet digital PCR quantification of norovirus and adenovirus in decentralized wastewater and graywater collections: Implications for onsite reuse. *Water Research*, 169, 115213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.115213</u>
- Jahne, M. A., Schoen, M. E., Garland, J. L., & Ashbolt, N. J. (2017). Simulation of enteric pathogen concentrations in locally-collected greywater and wastewater for microbial risk assessments. *Microbial Risk Analysis*, *5*, 44–52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mran.2016.11.001</u>
- Jahne, M. A., Schoen, M. E., Garland, J. L., Nappier, S. P., & Soller, J. A. (2024). Microbial treatment targets for potable and non-potable water reuse—A comprehensive update and harmonization. *Environmental Science & Technology Letters*, 11(11), 1136–1259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.4c00512</u>
- Jahne, M. A., Schoen, M. E., Kaufmann, A., Pecson, B. M., Olivieri, A., Sharvelle, S., Anderson, A., Ashbolt, N. J., & Garland, J. L. (2023). Enteric pathogen reduction targets for onsite non-potable water systems: A critical evaluation. *Water Research*, 233, 119742. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2023.119742
- James, L. (2023). Adenovirus outbreaks. https://www.cdc.gov/adenovirus/outbreaks.html
- Jiang, S. C. (2006). Human adenoviruses in water: Occurrence and health implications: A critical review. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 40(23), 7132–7140. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list</u> _uids=17180959
- Jiang, S. C., Bischel, H. N., Goel, R., Rosso, D., Sherchan, S. P., Whiteson, K. L., Yan, T., & Solo-Gabriele, H. M. (2022). Integrating virus monitoring strategies for safe non-potable water reuse. *Water*, 14(8), 1187. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2073-4441/14/8/1187</u>
- Jimenez-Cisneros, B. E., Maya-Rendon, C., & Salgado-Velazquez, G. (2001). The elimination of helminth ova, faecal coliforms, *Salmonella* and protozoan cysts by various physicochemical processes in wastewater and sludge. *Water Science and Technology*, *43*(12), 179–182. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=11464750
- Johnson, J. A., Read, T. D., Petit, R. A., 3rd, Marconi, V. C., Meagley, K. L., Rodriguez-Barradas, M. C., Beenhouwer, D. O., Brown, S. T., Holodniy, M., Lucero-Obusan, C. A., Schirmer, P., Ingersoll, J. M., Kraft, C. S., Neill, F. H., Atmar, R. L., Kambhampati, A. K., Cates, J. E., Mirza, S. A., Hall, A. J.,...Lopman, B. A. (2022). Association of secretor status and recent norovirus infection with gut microbiome diversity metrics in a Veterans Affairs population. *Open Forum Infectious Diseases*, 9(5), ofac125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofac125</u>
- Johnson, N. L., Kotz, S., & Balakrishnan, N. (1995). *Continuous univariate distributions* (2nd ed.). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Jones, M. K., Grau, K. R., Costantini, V., Kolawole, A. O., de Graaf, M., Freiden, P., Graves, C. L., Koopmans, M., Wallet, S. M., Tibbetts, S. A., Schultz-Cherry, S., Wobus, C. E., Vinjé, J., & Karst, S. M. (2015). Human norovirus culture in B cells. *Nature Protocols*, *10*, 1939–1947. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2015.121</u>
- Kantor, M., Abrantes, A., Estevez, A., Schiller, A., Torrent, J., Gascon, J., Hernandez, R., & Ochner, C. (2018). Entamoeba histolytica: Updates in clinical manifestation, pathogenesis, and vaccine development. *Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2018*, 4601420. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/4601420
- Kasel, J. A., Loda, F., & Knight, V. (1963). Infection of volunteers with adenovirus type 16. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine, 114, 621–623. <u>https://doi.org/10.3181/00379727-114-28750</u>

- Katayama, H., Haramoto, E., Oguma, K., Yamashita, H., Tajima, A., Nakajima, H., & Ohgaki, S. (2008).
 One-year monthly quantitative survey of noroviruses, enteroviruses, and adenoviruses in wastewater collected from six plants in Japan. *Water Research*, 42(6–7), 1441–1448.
- Katayama, H., Okuma, K., Furumai, H., & Ohgaki, S. (2004). Series of surveys for enteric viruses and indicator organisms in Tokyo Bay after an event of combined sewer overflow. *Water Science and Technology*, *50*(259), 262.
- Khan, S., & Roser, D. (2007). *Risk assessment and health effects studies of indirect potable reuse schemes*. University of New South Wales, Centre for Water and Waste Technology.
- Kitajima, M., Haramoto, E., Iker, B. C., & Gerba, C. P. (2014). Occurrence of *Cryptosporidium, Giardia,* and *Cyclospora* in influent and effluent water at wastewater treatment plants in Arizona. *Science* of the Total Environment, 484, 129–136. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.03.036</u>
- Koo, H. L., Ajami, N., Atmar, R. L., & DuPont, H. L. (2010). Noroviruses: The leading cause of gastroenteritis worldwide. *Discovery Medicine*, *10*(50), 61–70.
- Koopman, J. S., Chick, S. E., Simon, C. P., Riolo, C. S., & Jacquez, G. (2002). Stochastic effects on endemic infection levels of disseminating versus local contacts. *Mathematical Biosciences*, 180(1–2), 49– 71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-5564(02)00124-4</u>
- Kusumawardhana, A., Zlatanovic, L., Bosch, A., & van der Hoek, J. P. (2021). Microbiological health risk assessment of water conservation strategies: A case study in Amsterdam. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18052595</u>
- Lagerweij, G. R., Pijnacker, R., Friesema, I. H. M., Mughini Gras, L., & Franz, E. (2020). *Disease burden of food-related pathogens in the Netherlands*, 2019. <u>https://doi.org/10.21945/RIVM-2020-0117</u>
- Le Guyader, F. S., Bon, F., DeMedici, D., Parnaudeau, S., Bertone, A., Crudeli, S., Doyle, A., Zidane, M., Suffredini, E., Kohli, E., Maddalo, F., Monini, M., Gallay, A., Pommepuy, M., Pothier, P., & Ruggeri, F. M. (2006). Detection of multiple noroviruses associated with an international gastroenteritis outbreak linked to oyster consumption. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 44(11), 3878–3882. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/jcm.01327-06</u>
- Le Guyader, F. S., Le Saux, J. C., Ambert-Balay, K., Krol, J., Serais, O., Parnaudeau, S., Giraudon, H., Delmas, G., Pommepuy, M., Pothier, P., & Atmar, R. L. (2008). Aichi virus, norovirus, astrovirus, enterovirus, and rotavirus involved in clinical cases from a French oyster-related gastroenteritis outbreak. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *46*(12), 4011–4017. https://doi.org/10.1128/jcm.01044-08
- LeChevallier, M. W., Norton, W. D., & Lee, R. G. (1991). Occurrence of *Giardia* and *Cryptosporidium* spp. in surface water supplies. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *57*(9), 2610–2616. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.57.9.2610-2616.1991</u>
- Lemarchand, K., & Lebaron, P. (2003). Occurrence of *Salmonella* spp. and *Cryptosporidium* spp. in a French coastal watershed: Relationship with fecal indicators. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, *218*(1), 203–209.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list _uids=12583919

- Leoni, F., Amar, C., Nichols, G., Pedraza-Díaz, S., & McLauchlin, J. (2006). Genetic analysis of *Cryptosporidium* from 2414 humans with diarrhoea in England between 1985 and 2000. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, *55*(Pt 6), 703–707. <u>https://doi.org/10.1099/jmm.0.46251-0</u>
- Li, C., Sylvestre, E., Fernandez-Cassi, X., Julian, T. R., & Kohn, T. (2023). Waterborne virus transport and the associated risks in a large lake. *Water Research, 229*, 119437. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2022.119437</u>
- Lim, K.-Y., Wu, Y., & Jiang, S. C. (2017). Assessment of *Cryptosporidium* and norovirus risk associated with de facto wastewater reuse in Trinity River, Texas. *Microbial Risk Analysis*, 5(Supplement C), 15–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mran.2016.11.002</u>

- Lim, K. Y., Hamilton, A. J., & Jiang, S. C. (2015). Assessment of public health risk associated with viral contamination in harvested urban stormwater for domestic applications. *Science of the Total Environment*, 523, 95–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.03.077</u>
- Lodder, W. J., & de Roda Husman, A. M. (2005). Presence of noroviruses and other enteric viruses in sewage and surface waters in The Netherlands. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71(3), 1453–1461.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list _uids=15746348

- Lopez, C. E., Dykes, A. C., Juranek, D. D., Sinclair, S. P., Conn, J. M., Christie, R. W., Lippy, E. C., Schultz, M. G., & Mires, M. H. (1980). Waterborne giardiasis: A communitywide outbreak of disease and a high rate of asymptomatic infection. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *112*(4).
- Macler, B. A., & Regli, S. (1992). Use of microbial risk assessment in setting U.S. drinking water standards (EPA 814/S-92-001). U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPURL.cgi?Dockey=20001W58.TXT
- Macler, B. A., & Regli, S. (1993). Use of microbial risk assessment in setting United States drinking-water standards. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 18(4), 245–256.
- Madore, M. S., Rose, J. B., Gerba, C. P., Arrowood, M. J., & Sterling, C. R. (1987). Occurrence of *Cryptosporidium* oocysts in sewage effluents and selected surface waters. *Journal of Parasitology*, *73*(4), 702–705. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3625424</u>
- McBride, G. B., Stott, R., Miller, W., Bambic, D., & Wuertz, S. (2013). Discharge-based QMRA for estimation of public health risks from exposure to stormwater-borne pathogens in recreational waters in the United States. *Water Research*, *47*(14), 5282–5297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.06.001
- McCullough, N., & Eisele, C. (1951a). Experimental human salmonellosis. I. Pathogenicity of strains of Salmonella meleagridis and Salmonella anatum obtained from spray-dried whole egg. Journal of Infectious Diseases, 88(3), 278–289.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list _uids=14850755

McCullough, N., & Eisele, C. (1951b). Experimental human salmonellosis. III. Pathogenicity of strains of Salmonella newport, Salmonella derby, and Salmonella bareilly obtained from spray-dried whole egg. Journal of Infectious Diseases, 89(3), 209–213.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list __uids=14888944

- Mead, P. S., Slutsker, L., Dietz, V., McCaig, L. F., Bresee, J. S., Shapiro, C., Griffin, P. M., & Tauxe, R. V. (1999). Food-related illness and death in the United States. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 5(5), 607–625. PM:10511517;
- Medema, G. J., Hoogenboezem, W., van der Veer, A. J., Ketelaars, H. A., Hijnen, W. A., & Nobel, P. J. (2003). Quantitative risk assessment of *Cryptosporidium* in surface water treatment. *Water Science and Technology*, 47(3), 241–247. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12639036/</u>
- Medema, G. J., Teunis, P. F., Havelaar, A. H., & Haas, C. N. (1996). Assessment of the dose-response relationship of *Campylobacter jejuni*. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, *30*(1-2), 101–111.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list _uids=8856377

Messner, M. J., & Berger, P. (2016a). *Cryptosporidium* infection risk: Results of new dose-response modeling. *Risk Analysis*, *36*(10), 1969–1982. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.12541</u>

- Messner, M. J., & Berger, P. (2016b). Response to: Comment on "*Cryptosporidium* infection risk: Results of new dose-response modeling"—Discussion of underlying assumption and their implications. *Risk Analysis*, *36*(12), 2193–2194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.12755</u>
- Messner, M. J., Berger, P., & Nappier, S. P. (2014). Fractional Poisson—a simple dose-response model for human norovirus. *Risk Analysis*, *34*(10), 1820–1829. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.12207</u>
- Metropolis, N., Rosenbluth, A. W., Rosenbluth, M. N., Teller, A. H., & Teller, E. (1953). Equation of state calculations by fast computing machines. *The Journal of Chemical Physics*, *21*(6), 1087–1092. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1699114
- Mitchell, J., & Weir, M. (2024). QMRA wiki. https://qmrawiki.org/
- Murray, C. J., & Acharya, A. K. (1997). Understanding DALYs (disability-adjusted life years). *Journal of Health Economics*, 16(6), 703–730. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0167-6296(97)00004-0</u>
- Murray, C. J., & Lopez, A. D. (1997). The utility of DALYs for public health policy and research: A reply. Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 75(4), 377–381. https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/264255
- Nappier, S. P., Soller, J. A., & Eftim, S. (2018). Potable water reuse: What are the microbiological risks? *Current Environmental Health Reports*, 5(2), 283–292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40572-018-0195-y</u>
- Nasser, A. M. (2016). Removal of *Cryptosporidium* by wastewater treatment processes: A review. *Journal* of Water and Health, 14(1), 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2015.131</u>
- National Academy of Sciences. (2016). *Using graywater and stormwater to enhance local water supplies: An assessment of risks, costs, and benefits*. The National Academy Press.
- National Blue Ribbon Commission for Onsite Non-Potable Water Systems. (2023). *Health risk-based* benchmarks for onsite treatment of water. <u>https://watereuse.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/2023/11/WWE NBRCONWS 2023-09-13.pdf
- National Institutes of Health National Human Genome Research Institute. (2023). Virus. https://www.genome.gov/genetics-glossary/Virus
- National Research Council. (1983). *Risk assessment in the federal government: Managing the process*. <u>https://nap.nationalacademies.org/catalog/366/risk-assessment-in-the-federal-government-managing-the-process</u>
- National Research Council. (1994). *Science and judgment in risk assessment*. <u>https://nap.nationalacademies.org/catalog/2125/science-and-judgment-in-risk-assessment</u>
- National Research Council. (1998). Methods for assessing health risks of reclaimed water. In *Issues in potable reuse: The viability of augmenting drinking water supplies with reclaimed water*. National Academies Press.
- National Research Council. (2009). *Science and decisions: Advancing risk assessment*. <u>https://nap.nationalacademies.org/catalog/12209/science-and-decisions-advancing-risk-assessment</u>
- National Research Council. (2012). *Water reuse: Potential for expanding the nation's water supply through reuse of municipal wastewater*. National Academies Press.
- National Resource Management Ministerial Council, Environment Protection and Heritage Council, & National Health and Medical Research Council. (2006). *Australian guidelines for water recycling: Managing helath and environmental risks (phase 1).* <u>https://www.waterquality.gov.au/guidelines/recycled-water#managing-health-and-</u> environmental-risks-phase-1
- National Resource Management Ministerial Council, Environment Protection and Heritage Council, & National Health and Medical Research Council. (2008). *Australian guidelines for water recycling: Managing health and environmental risks (phase 2), augmentation of drinking water supplies.*

https://www.waterquality.gov.au/guidelines/recycled-water#augmentation-of-drinking-watersupplies-phase-2

- National Resource Management Ministerial Council, Environment Protection and Heritage Council, & National Health and Medical Research Council. (2009). *Australian guidelines for water recycling: Managing health and environmental risks (phase 2), stormwater harvesting and reuse.* <u>https://www.waterquality.gov.au/guidelines/recycled-water#stormwater-harvesting-and-reuse-phase-2</u>
- National Water Research Institute. (2021). *On-site treatment and reuse of nonpotable water: Technical guidance*. National Water Research Institute.
- Nellor, M., Baird, R., & Smyth, J. (1985). Health effects study of indirect potable reuse. *Journal of the American Water Works Association*, 77(7), 88–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1551-</u> <u>8833.1985.tb05573.x</u>

NSF International. (2015). NSF/ANSI standard 350 for water reuse treatment systems.

- Ogorzaly, L., Bertrand, I., Paris, M., Maul, A., & Gantzer, C. (2010). Occurrence, survival, and persistence of human adenoviruses and F-specific RNA phages in raw groundwater. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *76*(24), 8019–8025. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00917-10</u>
- Okhuysen, P. C., Chappell, C. L., Sterling, C. R., Jakubowski, W., & DuPont, H. L. (1998). Susceptibility and serologic response of healthy adults to reinfection with *Cryptosporidium parvum*. *Infection and Immunity*, *66*(2), 441–443.
- Olivieri, A. W., Seto, E., Cooper, R. C., Cahn, M. D., Colford, J., Crook, J., Debroux, J.-F., Mandrell, R., Suslow, T., & Tchobanoglous, G. (2014). Risk-based review of California's water-recycling criteria for agricultural irrigation. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, *140*(6), 04014015.
- Owens, C. E. L., Angles, M. L., Cox, P. T., Byleveld, P. M., Osborne, N. J., & Rahman, M. B. (2020). Implementation of quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA) for public drinking water supplies: Systematic review. Water Research, 174, 115614. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.115614
- Papafragkou, E., Hewitt, J., Park, G. W., Greening, G., & Vinje, J. (2014). Challenges of culturing human norovirus in three-dimensional organoid intestinal cell culture models. *PLoS One*, 8(6), e63485. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0063485</u>
- Patel, M. M., Hall, A. J., Vinje, J., & Parashar, U. D. (2009). Noroviruses: A comprehensive review. *Journal* of Clinical Virology, 44(1), 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcv.2008.10.009</u>
- Pecson, B., Kaufmann, A., Sharvelle, S., Post, B., Leverenz, H., Ashbolt, N., & Olivieri, A. (2022a). Riskbased treatment targets for onsite non-potable water systems using new pathogen data. *Journal* of Water and Health, 20(10), 1558–1575. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2022.135</u>
- Pecson, B. M., Darby, E., Danielson, R., Dearborn, Y., Giovanni, G. D., Jakubowski, W., Leddy, M., Lukasik, G., Mull, B., Nelson, K. L., Olivieri, A., Rock, C., & Slifko, T. (2022b). Distributions of waterborne pathogens in raw wastewater based on a 14-month, multi-site monitoring campaign. *Water Research*, 213, 118170. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2022.118170</u>
- Pecson, B. M., Kaufmann, A., Gerrity, D., Haas, C. N., Seto, E., Ashbolt, N. J., Slifko, T., Darby, E., & Olivieri, A. (2023). Science-based pathogen treatment requirements for direct potable reuse. *Environmental Science: Water Research & Technology*, 9(12), 3377–3390. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/D3EW00362K</u>
- Pecson, B. M., Triolo, S. C., Olivieri, S., Chen, E. C., Pisarenko, A. N., Yang, C. C., Olivieri, A., Haas, C. N., Trussell, R. S., & Trussell, R. R. (2017). Reliability of pathogen control in direct potable reuse: Performance evaluation and QMRA of a full-scale 1 MGD advanced treatment train. *Water Research*, 122, 258–268. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.06.014</u>
- Pina, S., Puig, M., Lucena, F., Jofre, J., & Girones, R. (1998). Viral pollution in the environment and in shellfish: human adenovirus detection by PCR as an index of human viruses. *Applied and*

Environmental Microbiology, *64*(9), 3376–3382. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.64.9.3376-3382.1998</u>

- Pouillot, R., Van Doren, J. M., Woods, J., Plante, D., Smith, M., Goblick, G., Roberts, C., Locas, A., Hajen, W., Stobo, J., White, J., Holtzman, J., Buenaventura, E., Burkhardt, W., 3rd, Catford, A., Edwards, R., DePaola, A., & Calci, K. R. (2015). Meta-Analysis of the reduction of norovirus and male-specific coliphage concentrations in wastewater treatment plants. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *81*(14), 4669–4681. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00509-15</u>
- Puig, M., Jofre, J., Lucena, F., Allard, A., Wadell, G., & Girones, R. (1994). Detection of adenoviruses and enteroviruses in polluted waters by nested PCR amplification. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 60(8), 2963–2970. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.60.8.2963-2970.1994</u>
- Pujol, J. M., Eisenberg, J. E., Haas, C. N., & Koopman, J. S. (2009). The effect of ongoing exposure dynamics in dose response relationships. *PLOS Computational Biology*, 5(6), e1000399. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1000399</u>
- Pype, M. L., Lawrence, M. G., Keller, J., & Gernjak, W. (2016). Reverse osmosis integrity monitoring in water reuse: The challenge to verify virus removal—A review. *Water Research*, *98*, 384–395. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.04.040</u>
- Rames, E., Roiko, A., Stratton, H., & Macdonald, J. (2016). Technical aspects of using human adenovirus as a viral water quality indicator. *Water Research*, *96*, 308–326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.03.042</u>
- Regli, S., Amirtharajah, A., Borup, B., Hibler, C. P., Hoff, J., & Tobin, R. S. (1988). Panel discussion on the implications of regulatory changes for water treatment in the United States. In P. M. Wallis & B. R. Hammond (Eds.), Advances in Giardia research. University of Calgary.
- Regli, S., Rose, J. B., Haas, C. N., & Gerba, C. P. (1991). Modeling the risk from *Giardia* and viruses in drinking-water. *Journal of the American Water Works Association*, 83(11), 76–84.
- Rendtorff, R., & Holt, C. (1954). The experimental transmission of human intestinal protozoan parasites. IV. Attempts to transmit *Endamoeba coli* and *Giardia lamblia* cysts by water. *American Journal* of Epidemiology, 60(3), 327.
- Rendtorff, R. C. (1954). The experimental transmission of human intestinal protozoan parasites. II. *Giardia lamblia* cysts given in capsules. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *59*(2), 209–220. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list</u> <u>uids=13138586</u>
- Reynaert, E., Sylvestre, É., Morgenroth, E., & Julian, T. R. (2024). Greywater recycling for diverse collection scales and appliances: Enteric pathogen log-removal targets and treatment trains. *Water Research, 264*, 122216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2024.122216</u>
- Rigotto, C., Hanley, K., Rochelle, P. A., De Leon, R., Barardi, C. R., & Yates, M. V. (2011). Survival of adenovirus types 2 and 41 in surface and ground waters measured by a plaque assay. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 45(9), 4145–4150. https://doi.org/10.1021/es103922r
- Roach, P. D., Olson, M. E., Whitley, G., & Wallis, P. M. (1993). Waterborne *Giardia* cysts and *Cryptosporidium* oocysts in the Yukon, Canada. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 59(1), 67–73.
- Robertson, L. J., Björkman, C., Axén, C., & Fayer, R. (2013). Cryptosporidiosis in farmed animals. *Cryptosporidium: Parasite and Disease*, 149–235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-7091-1562-6_4</u>
- Robertson, L. J., Hermansen, L., & Gjerde, B. K. (2006). Occurrence of *Cryptosporidium* oocysts and *Giardia* cysts in sewage in Norway. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 72(8), 5297–5303.
- Rose, J., Dickson, L., Farrah, S., & Carnahan, R. (1996). Removal of pathogenic and indicator microorganisms by a full-scale water reclamation facility. *Water Research*, *30*(11), 2785–2797.

- Rose, J. B., & Gerba, C. P. (1991a). Assessing potential health risks from viruses and parasites in reclaimed water in Arizona and Florida, USA. *Water Science and Technology*, 23(10/2), 2091– 2098.
- Rose, J. B., & Gerba, C. P. (1991b). Use of risk assessment for development of microbial standards. *Water Science and Technology*, 24(2), 29–34.
- Rose, J. B., Haas, C. N., & Regli, S. (1991a). Risk assessment and control of waterborne giardiasis. *American Journal of Public Health*, *81*(6), 709–713.
- Rose, J. B., Nowlin, H., Farrah, S. R., Harwood, V., Levine, A., Lukasik, J., Menendez, P., & Scott, T. M. (2004). *Reduction of pathogens, indicator bacteria, and alternative indicators by wastewater treatment and reclamation processes*. Water Environment Research Foundation Report 00-PUM-2T, IWA Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/9781780404370</u>
- Rose, J. B., Sun, G.-S., Gerba, C. P., & Sinclair, N. A. (1991b). Microbial quality and persistence of enteric pathogens in graywater from various household sources. *Water Research*, *25*(1), 37-42. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(91)90096-9
- Roser, D., & Ashbolt, N. (2007). Source water quality assessment and the management of pathogens in surface catchments and aquifers.
- Ryan, U., Fayer, R., & Xiao, L. (2014). *Cryptosporidium* species in humans and animals: Current understanding and research needs. *Parasitology*, *141*(13), 1667–1685. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0031182014001085</u>
- Ryu, H., Addor, Y., Brinkman, N. E., Ware, M. W., Boczek, L., Hoelle, J., Mistry, J. H., Keely, S. P., & Villegas, E. N. (2021). Understanding microbial loads in wastewater treatment works as source water for water reuse. *Water (Basel)*, 13(11). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/w13111452</u>
- Salveson, A., Dickenson, E., Soller, J., Angelotti, R., & Parker, A. (2018). *Pathogen risk evaluation of treatment and monitoring system performance for potable reuse* (Project 14-16). Water Research Foundation.
- Salveson, A., & Soller, J. (2019). Widespread potable reuse requires thorough understanding of water quality and public health challenges. *Journal of the American Water Works Association*, 111(7), 78–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/awwa.1328</u>
- Scallan, E., Hoekstra, R. M., Angulo, F. J., Tauxe, R. V., Widdowson, M. A., Roy, S. L., Jones, J. L., & Griffin, P. M. (2011). Foodborne illness acquired in the United States—Major pathogens. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 17(1), 7–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1701.091101p1</u>
- Schmidt, P. J. (2015). Norovirus dose-response: Are currently available data informative enough to determine how susceptible humans are to infection from a single virus? *Risk Analysis*, 35(7), 1364–1383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.12323</u>
- Schmidt, P. J., & Chappell, C. L. (2016). Comment on "Cryptosporidium infection risk: Results of new dose-response modeling"—Discussion of underlying assumptions and their implications. Risk Analysis, 36(12), 2189–2192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.12731</u>
- Schmitz, B. W., Polanco, J. A., Chen, H., Manaktala, A., Gu, X., Goh, S. G., & Gin, K. Y.-H. (2024). Virus surrogates throughout a full-scale advanced water reuse system. *Water Research*, 256, 121556. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2024.121556</u>
- Schoen, M. E., & Ashbolt, N. J. (2010). Assessing pathogen risk to swimmers at non-sewage impacted recreational beaches. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44(7), 2286–2291.
- Schoen, M. E., Ashbolt, N. J., Jahne, M. A., & Garland, J. (2017). Risk-based enteric pathogen reduction targets for non-potable and direct potable use of roof runoff, stormwater, and greywater. *Microbial Risk Analysis*, 5(Supplement C), 32–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mran.2017.01.002</u>
- Schoen, M. E., & Garland, J. (2017). Review of pathogen treatment reductions for onsite non-potable reuse of alternative source waters. *Microbial Risk Analysis*, 5(Supplement C), 25–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mran.2015.10.001</u>

- Schoen, M. E., Garland, J., Soller, J. A., Thimons, S. X., & Jahne, M. A. (2023). Onsite nonpotable water systems pathogen treatment targets: A comparison of infection and Disability-Adjusted Life Years (DALYs) risk benchmark approaches. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 57(26), 9559– 9566. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.3c01152</u>
- Schoen, M. E., Jahne, M. A., & Garland, J. (2020a). Enteric pathogen treatment requirements for nonpotable water reuse despite limited exposure data. *Environmental Science & Technology Letters*, 7(12), 943–947. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.0c00752</u>
- Schoen, M. E., Jahne, M. A., & Garland, J. (2020b). A risk-based evaluation of onsite, non-potable reuse systems developed in compliance with conventional water quality measures. *Journal of Water* and Health, 18(3), 331–344. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2020.221</u>
- Schoen, M. E., Jahne, M. A., & Garland, J. L. (2018). Human health impact of cross-connections in nonpotable reuse systems. *Water (Basel)*, *10*(10). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/w10101352</u>
- Schoen, M. E., Soller, J. A., & Ashbolt, N. J. (2011). Evaluating the importance of faecal sources in humanimpacted waters. *Water Research*, 45(8), 2670–2680. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2011.02.025
- Sedmak, G., Bina, D., MacDonald, J., & Couillard, L. (2005). Nine-year study of the occurrence of culturable viruses in source water for two drinking water treatment plants and the influent and effluent of a wastewater treatment plant in Milwaukee, Wisconsin (August 1994 through July 2003). Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 71(2), 1042–1050.
- Sharaby, Y., Rodríguez-Martínez, S., Höfle, M. G., Brettar, I., & Halpern, M. (2019). Quantitative microbial risk assessment of Legionella pneumophila in a drinking water supply system in Israel. *Science of the Total Environment*, *671*, 404–410. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.03.287</u>
- Sharvelle, S., Alja'fari, J., Branch, A., & Rasmus, J. (2023). *Guidance for treatment of microbial contaminants for stormwater capture and use*.
- Sharvelle, S., Ashbolt, N., Clerico, E., Hultquist, R., Leverenz, H., & Olivieri, A. (2017). *Risk-based framework for the development of public health guicance for decentralized non-potable water systems*.
- Signor, R. S., & Ashbolt, N. J. (2009). Comparing probabilistic microbial risk assessments for drinking water against daily rather than annualised infection probability targets. *Journal of Water and Health*, 7(4), 535–543. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2009.101</u>
- Simmons, F. J., & Xagoraraki, I. (2011). Release of infectious human enteric viruses by full-scale wastewater utilities. Water Research, 45(12), 3590–3598. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2011.04.001
- Sinclair, M., O'Toole, J., Forbes, A., Carr, D., & Leder, K. (2010). Health status of residents of an urban dual reticulation system. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *39*(6), 1667–1675. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyq152</u>
- Sinclair, M., O'Toole, J., Gibney, K., & Leder, K. (2015). Evolution of regulatory targets for drinking water quality. *Journal of Water and Health*, *13*(2), 413–426. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2014.242</u>
- Sinclair, M., Roddick, F., Nguyen, T., O'Toole, J., & Leder, K. (2016). Measuring water ingestion from spray exposures. *Water Research*, *99*, 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.04.034</u>
- Skiendzielewski, K., Burch, T., Stokdyk, J., McGinnis, S., McLoughlin, S., Firnstahl, A., Spencer, S.,
 Borchardt, M., & Murphy, H. M. (2024). Two risk assessments: Evaluating the use of indicator
 HF183 *Bacteroides* versus pathogen measurements for modelling recreational illness risks in an urban watershed. *Water Research*, 259, 121852. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2024.121852
- Sloss, E., Geschwind, S., McCaffrey, D., & Rtiz, B. (1996). *Groundwater recharge with reclaimed water: An epidemiologic assessment in Los Angeles County, 1987–1991.*

- Soller, J., Parker, A., & Salveson, A. (2018a). Public health implications of short duration, off-specification conditions at potable reuse water treatment facilities. *Environmental Science & Technology Letters*, 5(11), 675–680. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.8b00470</u>
- Soller, J. A. (2006). Use of microbial risk assessment to inform the national estimate of acute gastrointestinal illness attributable to microbes in drinking water. *Journal of Water and Health*, 4(S2), 165–186. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2006.022</u>
- Soller, J. A., Bartrand, T., Ashbolt, N. J., Ravenscroft, J., & Wade, T. J. (2010a). Estimating the primary etiologic agents in recreational freshwaters impacted by human sources of faecal contamination. *Water Research*, 44(16), 4736–4747. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.07.064
- Soller, J. A., Bartrand, T., Molina, M., Whelan, G., Schoen, M., & Ashbolt, A. (2015). Estimated human health risks from recreational exposures to stormwater containing animal faecal material. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, *72*, 21–32.
- Soller, J. A., Eftim, S. E., & Nappier, S. P. (2018b). Direct potable reuse microbial risk assessment methodology: Sensitivity analysis and application to State log credit allocations. *Water Research*, 128, 286–292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.10.034</u>
- Soller, J. A., Eftim, S. E., & Nappier, S. P. (2019). Comparison of predicted microbiological human health risks associated with de facto, indirect, and direct potable water reuse. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *53*(22), 13382–13389. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b02002</u>
- Soller, J. A., Eftim, S. E., Warren, I., & Nappier, S. P. (2017a). Evaluation of microbiological risks associated with direct potable reuse. *Microbial Risk Analysis*, *5*, 3–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mran.2016.08.003</u>
- Soller, J. A., & Eisenberg, J. N. S. (2008). An evaluation of parsimony for microbial risk assessment models. *Environmetrics*, *19*(1), 61–78. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/env.856</u>
- Soller, J. A., Olivieri, A., Crook, J., Parkin, R., Spear, R., Tchobanoglous, G., & Eisenberg, J. N. S. (2003).
 Risk-based approach to evaluate the public health benefit of additional wastewater treatment.
 Environmental Science & Technology, 37(9), 1882–1891.
- Soller, J. A., Olivieri, A. W., Eisenberg, J. N., DeGeorge, J. F., Cooper, R. C., & Tchobanoglous, G. (2006). A public health evaluation of recreational water impairment. *Journal of Water and Health*, 4(1), 1–19.
- Soller, J. A., Schoen, M., Steele, J. A., Griffith, J. F., & Schiff, K. C. (2017b). Incidence of gastrointestinal illness following wet weather recreational exposures: Harmonization of quantitative microbial risk assessment with an epidemiologic investigation of surfers. *Water Research*, *121*, 280–289. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.05.017
- Soller, J. A., Schoen, M. E., Bartrand, T., Ravenscroft, J., & Ashbolt, N. J. (2010b). Estimated human health risks from exposure to recreational waters impacted by human and non-human sources of faecal contamination. *Water Research*, *44*(16), 4674–4691.
- Stampi, S., Varoli, O., Zanetti, F., & De Luca, G. (1993). Arcobacter cryaerophilus and thermophilic campylobacters in a sewage treatment plant in Italy: Two secondary treatments compared. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 110(3), 633–639. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list</u> uids=8519328
- California Code of Regulations, Regulations for Surface Water Augmentation Using Recycled Water, Title 22, Division 4, Chapter 3, §60320.308(3), §64668.30(b) and §64668.30(c). (2018).
- State of California. (2024). Regulating DPR in California.

https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking_water/certlic/drinkingwater/direct_potable_reuse.h tml

- State Water Resources Control Board. (2018). *Regulations related to recycled water*. <u>https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/drinking_water/certlic/drinkingwater/documents/lawbook/rwregulations.pdf</u>
- States, S., Stadterman, K., Ammon, L., Vogel, P., Baldizar, J., Wright, D., Conley, L., & Sykora, J. L. (1997). Protozoa in river water: Sources, occurrence, and treatment. *Journal of the American Water Works Association*, 89(9), 74–83.
- Sykora, J. L., Sorber, C. A., Jakubowski, W., Casson, L. W., Gavaghan, P. D., Shapiro, M. A., & Schott, M. J. (1991). Distribution of *Giardia* cysts in wastewater. *Water Science and Technology*, 24(2), 187– 192.
- Sylvestre, É., Jahne, M. A., Reynaert, E., Morgenroth, E., & Julian, T. R. (2024). A critical evaluation of parametric models for predicting faecal indicator bacteria concentrations in greywater. *Microbial Risk Analysis*, 26, 100297. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mran.2024.100297</u>
- Tanaka, H., Asano, T., Schroeder, E. D., & Tchobanoglous, G. (1998). Estimating the safety of wastewater reclamation and reuse using enteric virus monitoring data. Water Environment Research, 70(1), 39–51.
- Tchobanoglous, G., Kenny, J., & Leverenz, H. (2021). Rationale for constant flow to optimize wastewater treatment and advanced water treatment performance for potable reuse applications. *Water Environment Research*, *93*(8), 1231–1242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wer.1531</u>
- Teunis, P., Schijven, J., & Rutjes, S. (2016). A generalized dose-response relationship for adenovirus infection and illness by exposure pathway. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 144(16), 3461–3473. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268816001862
- Teunis, P., Van den Brandhof, W., Nauta, M., Wagenaar, J., Van den Kerkhof, H., & Van Pelt, W. (2005). A reconsideration of the *Campylobacter* dose-response relation. *Epidemiology and Infection*, *133*, 583–592.
- Teunis, P. F., Chappell, C. L., & Okhuysen, P. C. (2002a). *Cryptosporidium* dose-response studies: Variation between hosts. *Risk Analysis 22*(3), 475–485.
- Teunis, P. F., Chappell, C. L., & Okhuysen, P. C. (2002b). *Cryptosporidium* dose response studies: Variation between isolates. *Risk Analysis*, 22(1), 175–183.
- Teunis, P. F., Kasuga, F., Fazil, A., Ogden, I. D., Rotariu, O., & Strachan, N. J. (2010). Dose-response modeling of *Salmonella* using outbreak data. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 144(2), 243–249. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2010.09.026</u>
- Teunis, P. F., Medema, G. J., Kruidenier, L., & Havelaar, A. H. (1997). Assessment of the risk of infection by *Cryptosporidium* or *Giardia* in drinking water from a surface water source. *Water Research*, 31(6), 1333–1346.
- Teunis, P. F., Moe, C. L., Liu, P., S, E. M., Lindesmith, L., Baric, R. S., Le Pendu, J., & Calderon, R. L. (2008). Norwalk virus: How infectious is it? *Journal of Medical Virology*, *80*(8), 1468–1476. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list_uids=18551613</u>
- Teunis, P. F., Nagelkerke, N. J., & Haas, C. N. (1999). Dose response models for infectious gastroenteritis. *Risk Analysis*, 19(6), 1251–1260. <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list</u> uids=10765461
- Teunis, P. F., van der Heijden, O. G., van der Giessen, J. W. B., & Havelaar, A. H. (1996). *The dose*response relation in human volunteers for gastro-intestinal pathgens.
- Teunis, P. F. M., Bonacic Marinovic, A., Tribble, D. R., Porter, C. K., & Swart, A. (2018). Acute illness from *Campylobacter jejuni* may require high doses while infection occurs at low doses. *Epidemics*, 24, 1–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.epidem.2018.02.001</u>
- Teunis, P. F. M., Le Guyader, F. S., Liu, P., Ollivier, J., & Moe, C. L. (2020). Noroviruses are highly infectious but there is strong variation in host susceptibility and virus pathogenicity. *Epidemics*, *32*, 100401. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.epidem.2020.100401
- Texas Commission on Environmental Quality. (2022). *Direct potable reuse for public water systems*. <u>https://www.tceq.texas.gov/downloads/drinking-water/rg-634.pdf</u>
- Texas Water Development Board. (2015a). *Direct potable reuse resource document*.
- Texas Water Development Board. (2015b). Final report direct potable reuse resource document.
- Thebault, A., Teunis, P. F., Le Pendu, J., Le Guyader, F. S., & Denis, J. B. (2013). Infectivity of GI and GII noroviruses established from oyster related outbreaks. *Epidemics*, *5*(2), 98–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.epidem.2012.12.004
- U.S. EPA. (1984). *Risk assessment and management: Framework for decision making*. <u>https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPURL.cgi?Dockey=20008KTF.TXT</u>
- U.S. EPA. (1986). Ambient water quality criteria for bacteria.
- U.S. EPA. (1989). Drinking water: National primary drinking water regulations; Surface Water Treatment Rule. Final rule.
- U.S. EPA. (1992). Guidance on risk characterization for risk managers and risk assessors. Memorandum to Assistant Administrators, and Regional Administrators, from F. Henry Habicht, Deputy Administrator, Office of the Administrator, Washington, DC. February 26, 1992 [online]. https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2015-11/documents/habicht.pdf
- U.S. EPA. (1997). *Guiding principles for Monte Carlo analysis* (EPA/630/R-97/001).
- U.S. EPA. (1999). *Giardia: Drinking water health advisory* (EPA-822-R-99-008). <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2015-10/documents/giardia-report.pdf</u>
- U.S. EPA. (2002). National primary drinking water regulations: Long term 1 enhanced surface water treatment rule. 40 CFR Parts 9, 141 and 142. *Federal Register 67*(9), 1811–1844.
- U.S. EPA. (2003). Economic analysis for the Long Term 2 Enhanced Surface Water Treatment Rule proposal.
- U.S. EPA. (2004a). Developing dynamic infection transmission models for microbial risk assessment applications (EPA-NCEA-C-1463).
- U.S. EPA. (2004b). Estimated per capita water ingestion and body weight in the United States—an update based on data collected by the United States Department of Agriculture's 1994–1996 and 1998 Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals.
- U.S. EPA. (2005). Appendices to the economic analysis for the Final Long Term 2 Enhanced Surface Water Treatment Rule (EPA 815-R-06-001).
- U.S. EPA. (2006a). Economic analysis for the Final Ground Water Rule.
- U.S. EPA. (2006b). National primary drinking water regulations: Ground water rule; final rule. 40 CFR Parts 9, 141 and 142. *Federal Register 71*(216).
- U.S. EPA. (2006c). National primary drinking water regulations: Long term 2 enhanced surface water treatment rule (LT2ESWTR); final rule. 40 CFR Parts 9, 141 and 142. *Federal Register*, 71(654).
- U.S. EPA. (2011). *Exposure factors handbook: 2011 edition* (EPA/600/R-090/052F). <u>https://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/risk/recordisplay.cfm?deid=236252</u>
- U.S. EPA. (2012a). *Guidelines for water reuse* (EPA/600/R-12/618).
- U.S. EPA. (2012b). Human health risk assessment framework.
- U.S. EPA. (2012c). Recreational water quality criteria (EPA 820-F-12-058).
- U.S. EPA. (2014). *Microbiological risk assessment (MRA) tools, methods, and approaches for water media* (EPA-820-R-14-009).
- U.S. EPA. (2015). *Review of coliphages as possible indicators of fecal contamination for ambient water quality* (EPA-820-R-15-098).
- U.S. EPA. (2017). 2017 potable reuse compendium (EPA 810-R-17-002).

- U.S. EPA. (2018). 2018 edition of the drinking water standards and health advisories (EPA 822-F-18-001).
- U.S. EPA. (2019). Exposure factors handbook chapter 3. In *Exposure factors handbook*. https://www.epa.gov/expobox/exposure-factors-handbook-chapter-3
- U.S. EPA. (2023). *REUSExplorer*. <u>https://www.epa.gov/waterreuse/regulations-and-end-use-specifications-explorer-reusexplorer</u>
- U.S. EPA. (2024). PFAS National Primary Drinking Water Regulation, 89 FR 32532, 40 CFR Parts 141 and 142, RIN 2040-AG18.
- Van Abel, N., Schoen, M. E., Kissel, J. C., & Meschke, J. S. (2017). Comparison of risk predicted by multiple norovirus dose–response models and implications for quantitative microbial risk assessment. *Risk Analysis*, 37, 245–264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/risa.12616</u>
- van den Berg, H., Lodder, W., van der Poel, W., Vennema, H., & de Roda Husman, A. M. (2005). Genetic diversity of noroviruses in raw and treated sewage water. *Research in Microbiology*, *156*(4), 532–540.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation&list _uids=15862452

- Viau, E. J., Lee, D., & Boehm, A. B. (2011). Swimmer risk of gastrointestinal illness from exposure to tropical coastal waters impacted by terrestrial dry-weather runoff. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 45(17), 7158–7165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/es200984b</u>
- Villabruna, N., Koopmans, M. P. G., & de Graaf, M. (2019). Animals as reservoir for human norovirus. *Viruses*, *11*(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/v11050478</u>
- Wales, S. Q., Pandiscia, A., Kulka, M., Sanchez, G., & Randazzo, W. (2024). Challenges for estimating human norovirus infectivity by viability RT-qPCR as compared to replication in human intestinal enteroids. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 411, 110507. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2023.110507</u>
- Wallis, P. M., Erlandsen, S. L., Isaac-Renton, J. L., Olson, M. E., Robertson, W. J., & van Keulen, H. (1996). Prevalence of *Giardia* cysts and *Cryptosporidium* oocysts and characterization of *Giardia* spp. isolated from drinking water in Canada. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *62*(8), 2789. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.62.8.2789-2797.1996</u>
- Water Research Foundation. (2021). Tools to evaluate quantitative microbial risk and plant performance/reliability, project 4951.
- Water Research Foundation. (2023). *Pathogen removal credits for wastewater treatment: Guidance for study plans and reporting* (Project No. 5047). <u>https://www.waterrf.org/serve-</u> <u>file/resource/DRPT-5047.pdf</u>
- WateReuse Research Foundation. (2004). *Best practices for developing indirect potable reuse projects: Phase 1 report* (product no. 01-004-01).
- WateReuse Research Foundation. (2013). *Potable reuse: State of the science report and equivalency criteria for treatment trains, project 11-02.*
- WateReuse Research Foundation. (2021). *Pathogen monitoring in untreated wastewater, project 4989*. WaterSecure. (2017a). *Chlorine disinfection, WaterVal validation protocol*.
- WaterSecure. (2017b). Ozone disinfection, WaterVal validation protocol.
- Wigginton, K., Lahr, R., Bardha, A., & Rockey, N. (2021). *Feasibility of collecting pathogens in wastewater during outbreaks*.
- World Health Organization. (2003). *Guidelines for safe recreational-water environments, coastal and fresh-waters* (Vol. 1).

World Health Organization. (2004). Guidelines for drinking-water quality (3rd ed., Vol. 1).

World Health Organization. (2006). *Guidelines for the safe use of wastewater, excreta, and greywater— Volume 2: Water use in agriculture.*

- World Health Organization. (2017a). *Guidelines for drinking-water quality, 4th edition, incorporating the 1st addendum*. <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241549950</u>
- World Health Organization. (2017b). *Potable reuse: Guidance for producing safe drinking-water*. <u>https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/258715</u>
- Yang, J., Schneider, O. D., Jjemba, P. K., & Lechevallier, M. (2015). Microbial risk modeling for main breaks. *Journal of the American Water Works Association*, *107*(2), E97–E108.
- Zhang, Q., Gallard, J., Wu, B., Harwood, V. J., Sadowsky, M. J., Hamilton, K. A., & Ahmed, W. (2019). Synergy between quantitative microbial source tracking (qMST) and quantitative microbial risk assessment (QMRA): A review and prospectus. *Environment International*, 130, 104703. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.03.051</u>
- Zou, S. (2001). Applying DALYs to the burden of infectious diseases. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, *79*(3), 267–269. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11285678/</u>



United States Environmental Protection Agency

EPA/600/X-25/009 I January 2025 I www.epa.gov/research

Office of Research and Development (8101R) Washington, DC 20460

Official Business Penalty for Private Use \$300